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Board of Directors’ Review

Market Review
The economies in Tikkurila’s operating area experienced some re-
covery during 2010. Tikkurila’s largest markets are Russia, Sweden, 
Finland and Poland. The Russian GDP grew by 3.7 percent in Janu-
ary-September 2010 and the unemployment rate decreased. The 
ruble strengthened compared to the euro during the year, mainly 
due to higher crude oil prices. Russian consumer price inflation was 
8.8 percent in 2010 (2009: 8.8%). (Source: BOFIT) Housing construc-
tion experienced an upturn during the second half of 2010. Accord-
ing to Tikkurila’s own estimates the volume of the Russian paint 
market grew by less than 10.0 percent in 2010.

The Swedish GDP is estimated to have grown by approximately 
5.0 percent in 2010 and housing construction picked up clearly. The 
employment situation improved faster than expected and inflation 
remained low mainly due to moderate wage settlements. The kro-
na strengthened clearly against the euro during the year. According 
to Tikkurila’s estimates the value of the Swedish paint market grew 
by approximately 1.5 percent in 2010.

The Finnish GDP is estimated to have grown by approximately 3.5 
percent in 2010. Housing construction clearly picked up but commer-
cial construction still decreased somewhat. Employment figures expe-
rienced an upturn in Finland during the year, but the unemployment 
rate still grew slightly to 8.4 percent (2009: 8.2%) (Source: Statistics 
Finland). The real purchasing power of households is slowly increas-
ing. The average inflation in 2010 was 1.2 percent. According to prelimi-
nary estimates, the Finnish paint market started to grow moderately 
towards the year-end 2010. The demand for professional construction 
paints and industrial coatings grew the most.  

The Polish GDP is estimated to have grown by approximately 
3.4 percent in 2010. Restocking and increased household spending 
boosted demand, but the uncertainty related to the recovery of the 
global economy and low capacity utilization rates had a negative ef-
fect on private investment levels. (Source: European Commission) 
According to Tikkurila’s estimates the Polish paint market decreased 
somewhat in 2010 with regard to consumers, and remained stable or 
grew slightly with regard to professional and industrial customers.

Financial Performance in 2010
The revenue and profitability by reporting segments for the full financial year are presented below. 

Revenue

Operating result 
(EBIT)

excluding non-
recurring items

January–December 
(EUR million) 1–12/2010 1–12/2009 1–12/2010 1–12/2009

SBU East 194.5 167.1 22.7 17.7

SBU Scandinavia 181.8 157.8 21.3 16.1

SBU Finland 107.2 106.8 13.6 14.2

SBU Central Eastern Europe 105.2 98.5 4.8 5.0

Group common and eliminations 0.0 0.0 -2.7 -2.8

Consolidated Group 588.6 530.2 59.7 50.2

The Tikkurila Group’s revenue for 2010 totaled EUR 588.6 (530.2) 
million, up by 11.0 percent (EUR 58.5 million) from previous year. Of 
the total growth, EUR 37.5 million was based on the exchange rate 

fluctuations. Higher sales volumes accounted for EUR 22.6 million. 
Improved sales volumes followed from the general recovery of the 
economies, the acceleration of new construction activity and the 
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SBU East’s revenue in 2010 grew by 16.4 percent compared to 
the year before and amounted to EUR 194.5 million. Exchange 
rate changes increased revenue by EUR 14.0 million as the rouble 
strengthened against the euro. Higher sales volumes increased 
revenue by EUR 8.9 million and changes in the product mix and 
prices by EUR 4.5 million. Sales improved thanks to a recovery in the 
economy in Russia and its neighboring areas as well as improved 
purchasing power among consumers. The positive development in 
the product mix is based on shift in demand towards higher-quality 
and more expensive products. 

The 2010 operating profit excluding non-recurring items grew 
by 27.7 percent from previous year and was EUR 22.7 (17.7) million. 
Operating profit was boosted by changes in the product mix and 
prices and higher sales volumes.  The effect of exchange rates was 
EUR 1.0 million positive.

housing trade, and improved consumer purchasing power. Decora-
tive paints accounted for 83.8 (83.8) percent, and industrial coatings 
for 16.2 (16.2) percent, of the total revenue for 2010.

Operating profit excluding non-recurring items for 2010 was EUR 
59.7 (50.2) million, which equals 10.1 (9.5) percent of revenue. The 
non-recurring items arose in the second and fourth quarter of 2010. 
In the second quarter of 2010 they were related to an insurance 
compensation payment received in Russia (with a positive effect of 
EUR 1.5 million on the operating profit), and a fine from the Polish 
competition authorities (with a negative effect of EUR 0.8 million 
on the operating profit). The non-recurring items recognized in the 
last quarter of 2010 concerned a fine from the Polish competition 
authorities in October 2009, which decreased in August 2010, but 
which came legally into effect in the last quarter of 2010, having a 

EUR 0.4 million positive effect on the operating profit. A non-recur-
ring expense of EUR 2.4 million was caused in the second quarter of 
2009 by personnel reductions in the Group’s Finnish and Swedish 
operations.

Operating profit for 2010 was EUR 60.8 (47.7) million. Higher 
sales volumes and a lower level of variable costs, in comparison to 
the previous year, contributed to the improvement. Exchange rate 
changes had a EUR 3.1 million positive impact on the operating 
profit.

Net financial expenses for 2010 totaled EUR 8.7 (12.0) million. 
Profit before tax was EUR 52.0 (35.7) million. Taxes totaled EUR 15.5 
(8.0) million, representing an effective tax rate of 29.8 (22.2) percent. 
Earnings per share were EUR 0.83 (0.63).

Financial Performance by Reporting Segments

SBU East, Income Statement

(EUR million) 1–12/2010 1–12/2009 Change, %

Revenue 194.5 167.1 16.4%

Operating result (EBIT), excluding non-recurring items 22.7 17.7 27.7%

Operating result (EBIT) margin, excluding non-recurring items, % 11.6% 10.6%

Operating result (EBIT) 24.1 17.7 36.0%

Operating result (EBIT) margin, % 12.4% 10.6%

Capital expenditure excluding acquisitions 4.5 7.2 -37.1%

SBU Scandinavia, Income Statement

(EUR million) 1–12/2010 1–12/2009 Change, %

Revenue 181.8 157.8 15.2%

Operating result (EBIT), excluding non-recurring items 21.3 16.1 32.5%

Operating result (EBIT) margin, excluding non-recurring items, % 11.7% 10.2%

Operating result (EBIT 21.3 15.7 35.5%

Operating result (EBIT) margin, % 11.7% 10.0%

Capital expenditure excluding acquisitions 2.3 2.1 8.2%

SBU East

SBU Scandinavia

The non-recurring items recognized in 2010 were related to a 
Russian insurance compensation, which had a positive effect of 
EUR 1.5 million on SBU East’s EBIT.

Tikkurila divested its industrial powder coatings business by sell-
ing all the shares in OOO Tikkurila Powder Coatings, a Russian sub-
sidiary, to Teknos Group Oy in December 2010. OOO Tikkurila Pow-
der Coatings’ revenue was EUR 2.4 million in 2010, and the company 
employed some 50 people. The divested subsidiary was consolidat-
ed into Group until the end of November, and the sold assets and 
liabilities were classified as held for sale items on the balance sheet 
date. The transaction was completed at the end of January 2011.

Significant events in 2010 include, among others, the launch of 
the new and more environmentally friendly Avatint tinting system, 
representing the newest technology, in Russia. There are approxi-
mately 1,000 Tikkurila tinting system units in use in Russia.
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SBU Scandinavia’s revenue in 2010 grew by 15.2 percent compared 
to the year before and amounted to EUR 181.8 (157.8) million. Ex-
change rate fluctuations increased revenue by EUR 17.8 million as 
the Swedish krona strengthened against the euro. Higher sales 
volumes increased revenue by EUR 9.0 million and changes in the 
product mix lowered it by EUR 2.8 million. The economy in SBU 
Scandinavia’s largest market area Sweden grew clearly during the 
year and construction picked up. Tikkurila estimates that it has 
strengthened its market position in decorative paints and in partic-
ular in the professional customers segment in Sweden, where the 
general paint market growth is expected to have been slower than 
general economic growth. 

SBU Finland, Income Statement

(EUR million) 1–12/2010 1–12/2009 Change, %

Revenue 107.2 106.8 0.3%

Operating result (EBIT), excluding non-recurring items 13.6 14.2 -3.8%

Operating result (EBIT) margin, excluding non-recurring items, % 12.7% 13.3%

Operating result (EBIT) 13.6 12.2 11.8%

Operating result (EBIT) margin, % 12.7% 11.4%

Capital expenditure excluding acquisitions 2.2 2.1 3.5%

SBU CEE, Income Statement

(EUR million) 1–12/2010 1–12/2009 Change, %

Revenue 105.2 98.5 6.8%

Operating result (EBIT), excluding non-recurring items 4.8 5.0 -4.6%

Operating result (EBIT) margin, excluding non-recurring items, % 4.6% 5.1%

Operating result (EBIT) 4.4 5.0 -13.0%

Operating result (EBIT) margin, % 4.2% 5.1%

Capital expenditure excluding acquisitions 2.2 2.1 1.7%

SBU Finland

SBU Central Eastern Europe (CEE)

SBU Scandinavia’s 2010 operating profit excluding non-recurring 
items increased by 32.5 percent compared to the year before and 
amounted to EUR 21.3 (16.1) million. Operating profit was boosted 
by a lower level of variable costs and higher sales volumes com-
pared to previous year. The improvement in operating profit is 
also based on better efficiency at the production plant located in 
Nykvarn in Sweden. The exchange rate changes had a EUR 1.7 mil-
lion positive effect on operating profit.

The development of water-borne paints has been especially ac-
tive in Scandinavia, where 98 percent of the decorative paints sold by 
Tikkurila in 2010 were water-borne. Year’s significant launches include, 
among others, the Alcro brand’s color collection ad.10, which was de-
signed in cooperation with the Dutch trend expert, Li Edelkoort. 

SBU Finland’s 2010 revenue was at previous year’s level at EUR 107.2 
(106.8) million. SBU Finland’s sales started out well at the beginning 
of the year but the unusually long heat wave in the summer clearly 
decreased the peak time sales. Higher sales volumes increased rev-
enue by EUR 2.5 million and changes in the product mix lowered 
it by EUR 2.2 million. SBU Finland’s 2010 operating profit excluding 
non-recurring items decreased from previous year and was EUR 13.6 
(14.2) million. The higher level of variable costs compared to previ-
ous year and changes in the product mix decreased the full year 

operating profit excluding non-recurring items. The operating profit 
of the comparison period was improved by the cost saving mea-
sures conducted during 2009. 

Some successful examples of new product launches were Tik-
kurila’s Supi Sauna products, Yki Aitokivi, a coating for outer surfaces 
containing genuine stone, as well as Tikkurila ProHouse concept 
aimed at construction and saw mill industries. More environmental-
ly sound Avatint tinting system was launched in all stores utilizing 
Tikkurila’s tinting system. 
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The 2010 revenue of SBU Central Eastern Europe increased by 6.8 
percent compared to the year before and amounted to EUR 105.2 
(98.5) million. Revenue was improved by exchange rate fluctuations 
that had a EUR 5.6 million effect. The positive effect of sales vol-
ume growth was EUR 2.2 million and the negative effect of product 
mix changes was EUR 1.1 million. SBU Central Eastern Europe’s 2010 
operating profit excluding non-recurring items decreased slightly 
from previous year and was EUR 4.8  (5.0) million. The effect of ex-
change rate changes was EUR 0.4 million positive. 

SBU Central Eastern Europe’s non-recurring items in 2010 were relat-
ed to fines set by the Polish competition authority for Tikkurila, having 
a EUR 0.4 million negative effect on the Group’s operating profit.

SBU Central Eastern Europe’s profitability was clearly weaker than in 
other business units, which was due apart from the tight competition 
in the area, also to the higher share of industrial paints than in other 
business units. In addition, there are several start-ups in the area. Tik-
kurila aims at improving its position in Central Eastern Europe by im-
proving the cost-efficiency of its operations, as well as through organic 
growth and selected acquisitions.  

Group Functions
Group functions support the SBUs in their operations as well as 
take care of the responsibilities of the listed parent company. No 
major changes took place in the Group functions during 2010. 

Cash Flow, Financing Activities  
and Financial Risk Management
Tikkurila’s financial position and liquidity remained at a good level.

Cash flow from operations totaled EUR 63.9 (62.5) million in Janu-
ary–December. Net cash flow from investing activities totaled EUR 

-12.2 (-17.1) million, of which corporate acquisitions accounted for 
EUR 0.0 (-3.7) million. Cash flow after capital expenditure was EUR 
51.4 (45.3) million. 

The Group’s equity ratio was 41.1 (35.7) percent at the end of 
December and gearing was 41.4 (90.0) percent. The medium-term 
target is to maintain gearing under 100 percent. The Group’s net fi-
nancial expenses totaled EUR 8.7 (12.0) million, of which currency 
exchange rate changes accounted for EUR -0.5 (-0.1) million.

Net working capital totaled EUR 73.0 (76.1) million at the end of 
the review period. The Group established a centralized procure-
ment, which improved efficiency. This reduced the net working 
capital thanks to improved payment and other terms. Due to the 
challenges related to the availability of raw materials and to secur-
ing timely deliveries, the amount and average price of inventories 
increased. These factors improved inventory levels at year end. Due 
to the seasonal nature of the business, the year end situation does 
not typically reflect the average amount of the capital employed 
during the financial period. 

The Group’s interest-bearing debt on December 31, 2010 was 
EUR 148.0 (154.1) million, of which finance lease liabilities account-
ed for EUR 0.4 (0.5) million. The average interest rate of the inter-
est-bearing debt was 5.2 (6.9) percent. A total of EUR 8.7 million 
of the Tikkurila Group’s interest-bearing liabilities will mature dur-
ing 2011. Tikkurila Oyj paid off an additional EUR 20.0 million of its 
long-term loan in January 2011. The decision to do this was made 
after the reporting period. 

Cash and cash equivalents totaled EUR 69.4 (24.5) million at the 
end of December. Cash and cash equivalents are invested in bank 
deposits and marketable short-term interest-bearing securities 
from banks and corporations in order to diversify counterparty risk. 

At the end of the reporting period, a majority of the cash and cash 
equivalents were in euros. Some subsidiaries had cash denominat-
ed in other currencies, such as Russian rubles and Swedish kronas.

The Group had a net debt of EUR 78.6 (129.5) million on Decem-
ber 31, 2010. At the end of December 2010, the Group had a total of 
EUR 88.4 million in unused committed credit facilities.

In early 2010, the Group’s debt portfolio was rearranged, and the 
loans taken from the previous parent company Kemira Oyj were 
paid back in full. In addition, in order to diversify financing sources 
and cash flow management, an additional EUR 5.0 million bank 
overdraft facility was obtained. Moreover, the maximum amount of 
factoring limit, which is used to finance trade receivables, was in-
creased. 

In conjunction with its listing, Tikkurila Oyj established its own 
treasury organization and centralized external financing and finan-
cial risk management functions to the Group’s parent company. In 
order to manage exchange rate fluctuations, the Group used short-
term forward exchange agreements to partly hedge its 12-month 
estimated net currency position. At the end of the review period, 
the nominal value of Tikkurila’s forward exchange agreements was 
EUR 119.8 million, and the market value was EUR -0.7 million. Major-
ity of Tikkurila’s interest-bearing liabilities are fixed to short-term 
market rates and part of this open interest rate risk exposure is 
hedged with interest rate swaps. At year-end 2010, Tikkurila had 
interest rate swaps for a total nominal value of EUR 20.0 million 
and a market value of EUR 0.0 million.

Capital Expenditure
Gross capital expenditure in 2010, excluding acquisitions, amount-
ed to EUR 11.1 (13.5) million. The investments carried out during 2010 
were related, among others, to the introduction of the Avatint and 
Novatint tinting systems. Tikkurila estimates that the capital expen-
diture level will be higher in 2011 in comparison to 2010. In 2010, the 
capital expenditure level was exceptionally low. 

Depreciation and amortization amounted to EUR 20.7 (18.8) mil-
lion in 2010. The Group carries out impairment tests according to 
IAS 36.

Sales and Marketing 
In 2010, the Tikkurila Group’s sales and marketing expenses totaled 
EUR 88.0 (78.8) million, corresponding to 14.9 (14.9) percent of rev-
enue. Salaries are included in the figures. There are variations in the 
level of sales and marketing expenses between various brands and 
market areas.  

Research and Development 
In 2010, the Tikkurila Group’s research and development expenses 
totaled EUR 10.2 (2009: 10.1 and 2008: 11.2) million, corresponding to 
1.7 (2009: 1.9 and 2008: 1.7) percent of revenue. At year end, the unit 
had 172 (179) employees. Tikkurila has R&D units in Finland, Sweden, 
Poland and Russia.

Tikkurila’s R&D function is responsible for creating new busi-
ness opportunities, renewing the product range and studying and 
adopting alternative raw materials. R&D activities are guided by 
customer needs as well as by environmental and safety perspec-
tives. A major part of R&D operations are related to replacing sol-
vent-borne paints with water-borne or low-solvent products. The 
development of water-borne paints has been especially active in 
Scandinavia, where 98 percent of the decorative paints sold by 
Tikkurila were water-borne. 
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In 2010, Tikkurila launched more than 40 new products for con-
sumers, professionals and industry. More information on the sig-
nificant product launches for 2010 can be found in the preceding 
strategic business unit reviews.  

Corporate Responsibility and Environment 
At the core of Tikkurila’s corporate responsibility approach is not 
only to improve its own operations but also to assist customers in 
making sustainable choices. Tikkurila reports as from 2010 on corpo-
rate responsibility issues in its annual report, according to GRI (the 
Global Reporting Initiative). This report is verified by a third party. 

Tikkurila’s objective is to acquire independently audited and 
certified quality, environmental and security systems for each of its 
sites. Unit-specific certification details can be found on the Tikkurila 
website at www.tikkurilagroup.com/fi/responsibility.

Tikkurila’s business operations mainly fall within the chemical in-
dustry, the products and actions of which are regulated by numer-
ous international agreements, as well as by local and national legis-
lation. The Group reports on its environmental responsibilities and 
risks in its financial statements. Tikkurila’s operating practices (Code 
of Conduct) include stipulations concerning the environment, 
health and safety, where the minimum requirement is to comply 
with statutory demands. 

In 2010, Tikkurila invested EUR 0.2 (0.5) million into environmen-
tal protection at its sites, and operating costs totaled EUR 2.1 (1.7) 
million. Provisions for environmental recovery actions totaled EUR 
0.3 (0.5) million.  The provisions applied mainly to remediation de-

mands related to soil and groundwater pollution caused by the 
previous owner of the Polish production unit. The decrease in the 
provisions was mainly due to remediation expenses being covered 
by the provision. 

 Paint production, product safety, the handling and the market-
ing of paints and coatings are increasingly tightly regulated as a 
result of new safety and environmental legislation. One major leg-
islative change that affects the manufacturing and sale of paints 
and coatings is REACH, which obligates chemical manufacturers 
and importers to assess the risks related to product use and to pro-
vide end users with safe use instructions. Paints themselves are not 
among the substances specified in the regulation but paint manu-
facturers must ensure that all of the materials used in their paints 
meet REACH requirements. In terms of the REACH regulation, 2010 
was extremely important for raw material suppliers because the 
first stage registrations had to be completed by the beginning of 
December. Apart from some individual notifications, raw material 
suppliers had at the time of writing registered all the materials for 
the usage purposes relevant to Tikkurila’s products. 

Other important legislative initiatives related to paints involved 
the emission of organic solvents into the air, among other issues.  

Human Resources
On December 31, the Tikkurila Group employed 3,468 (3,538) people. 
The average number of employees during 2010 was 3,703 (3,757).

The number of Tikkurila Group’s employees at quarter end by 
SBUs is presented below, starting from Q1/2009. 

Q1/2009 Q2/2009 Q3/2009 Q4/2009 Q1/2010 Q2/2010 Q3/2010 Q4/2010

SBU East 1,657 1,768 1,599 1,563 1,702 1,794 1,657 1,508

SBU Scandinavia 479 512 469 466 464 485 464 465

SBU Finland 832 869 787 732 749 857 762 720

SBU CEE 781 788 771 743 746 774 757 740

Group operations 30 31 32 34 34 36 37 35

Total 3,779 3,968 3,658 3,538 3,695 3,946 3,677 3,468

 Approximately half of Tikkurila’s employees work in supply chain 
operations (production, procurement, logistics and HSEQ) and ap-
proximately one third in sales, marketing and technical support. 
During 2010 about 63 (64) percent of the personnel were men and 
37 (36) women. The average age was 38.5 (38.5) years. 

Salaries and compensation paid in 2010 totaled EUR 88.1 (79.1) 
million.

Job satisfaction surveys applying to the whole Tikkurila Group 
have been conducted since 2004. The survey carried out in 2010 
had a response rate of 86.3 percent (86.0), which is clearly higher 
than the European norm (74%). The job satisfaction index indicat-
ing the overall employee satisfaction was 68.0 (2009: 65.9 and 2008: 
64.5), when the European general norm was 64.1 in 2010. 

The number of occupational accidents increased from the previ-
ous year, totaling 4.8 accidents per one million man hours (2009: 3.8 
and 2008: 5.4). No significant personal damages occurred in 2010. 
Tikkurila aims at continually decreasing trend of occupational ac-
cidents. 

Legal Proceedings
The Group’s Russian subsidiary OOO Tikkurila has been engaged 
in a dispute against the Russian company OOO Decolor in relation 
to the "Finncolor" trademark. In June 2010, the St. Petersburg Arbi-
tration Court confirmed Tikkurila’s property right to the Finncolor 
trademark. OOO Decolor appealed against the decision, and the 
Court of Appeals reversed the lower court’s decision. The third and 
final instance, the Northern-Western Regional Arbitration Court, re-
versed the decision of the Court of Appeals on January 17, 2011 and 
confirmed Tikkurila’s property right to the trademark.

In October 2009, the Polish competition authority imposed a 
fine of approximately EUR 0.6 million on Tikkurila. According to the 
competition authority, certain distribution agreements of Tikkurila 
Polska S.A. contained an illegal clause. Tikkurila appealed against 
the decision, and the Court of appeals decreased the fine to ap-
proximately EUR 0.2 million (PLN 0.7 million) on August 5, 2010. This 
final decision was validated in the last quarter of 2010. 
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Shares and Shareholders
Trading of Tikkurila Oyj’s shares began on NASDAQ OMX Helsin-
ki Ltd on March 26, 2010. At the end of December, Tikkurila’s share 
capital was EUR 35.0 million, from a total of 44,108,252 registered 
shares. At the end of December 2010, Tikkurila held no treasury 
shares.

According to Euroclear Finland Oy’s register, Tikkurila had a total 
of 25,806 shareholders on December 31, 2010. A list of the largest 
shareholders is updated regularly on Tikkurila’s website at  
www.tikkurilagroup.com.

At the end of December, the closing price for the Tikkurila share 
was EUR 16.51. The volume-weighted average share price for the 
review period (for the trading period Mar 26–Dec 31) was EUR 15.56, 
the highest price being EUR 16.95, and the lowest EUR 14.17. At the 
end of December, the market value of Tikkurila’s shares, valued at 
the closing price, was EUR 728.2 million. During January–December 
2010 (Mar 26–Dec 31), a total of close to 23.6 million Tikkurila shares, 
which is about 53.5 percent of the registered amount of shares, 
were traded on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd, and the value of the 
traded volume was EUR 367.5 million.

Tikkurila Board members and their interest parties held altogether 
44,406 shares on December 31, 2010, which is 0.1 percent of the share 
capital and votes in Tikkurila. The Tikkurila Management Board and 
their interest parties held altogether 4,899 shares on December 31, 
2010, which is 0.01 percent of the share capital and votes. Up-to-date 
information concerning the holdings of Tikkurila’s public insiders is 
available on www.tikkurilagroup.com/fi/corporate_governance.

Tikkurila is not aware of any valid shareholders’ agreements re-
garding the ownership of Tikkurila shares and voting rights. 

Corporate Governance Statement  
Tikkurila has prepared a separate Corporate Governance Statement 
which follows the recommendations of the Finnish Corporate Gover-
nance Code for listed companies. It also covers some other central ar-
eas of corporate governance. The statement will be included in Tikku-
rila’s Annual Report, but it will be published separately from the Board 
of Directors’ Report. The statement will also be available on week 10 on 
www.tikkurilagroup.com/fi/investors. 

Financial Targets and Dividend Policy
Tikkurila’s mid-term financial targets and dividend policy were kept 
unchanged in 2010 in connection with the annual strategy round. 
According to Tikkurila’s dividend policy, Tikkurila aims to distribute 
a dividend of at least 40 percent of its annual operative net income. 
Operative net income means net profit for the period excluding 
non-recurring items and adjusted for tax effects. Any dividends 
to be paid in future years, their amount and the time of payment 
will depend on the Company’s future earnings, financial condition, 
cash flows, investments, solvency, business cycle and other factors, 
which the Company’s Board of Directors considers relevant.

Further information on financial targets and dividend policy 
is available on Tikkurila’s website on  
www.tikkurilagroup.com/fi/investors.

Decisions of the Annual and Extraordinary General Meetings  
Tikkurila Oy’s Annual General Meeting was held on February 8, 2010 
and Tikkurila Oyj’s Extraordinary General Meeting on March 4, 2010. 
The decisions of the General Meetings were disclosed in connec-
tion with Tikkurila’s Interim Report for January–March 2010, which is 
available on www.tikkurilagroup.com/fi.

Events after the Review Period 
Tikkurila Group sold all the shares in OOO Tikkurila Powder Coatings, 
a Russian subsidiary, to Teknos Group Oy in December 2010. Tikku-
rila divested its industrial powder coatings business, because it is 
not a part of Tikkurila’s core business. After the transaction, Tikkurila 
has no powder coatings related operations. The revenue of OOO 
Tikkurila Powder Coatings was EUR 2.4 million in 2010, and the com-
pany employed some 50 people. The transaction was completed 
on January 26, 2011. 

Tikkurila Oyj decided to make an additional repayment of EUR 
20.0 million of its long-term pension loan (TyEL-loan). This decision 
was made in January 2011.

Short-Term Business Risks and Uncertainties 
Tikkurila’s business involves a number of strategic, operational, fi-
nance and damage risks. Tikkurila tries to recognize, assess and re-
act to risks as proactively as possible and to restrict their possible 
adverse effects. 

The general economic developments affect demand for Tikku-
rila’s products. The economies in Tikkurila’s operating area gradually 
recovered during 2010. The development of the construction sec-
tor usually correlates with changes in the economic situation and 
housing construction picked up in certain important markets, such 
as Finland, Sweden and Russia. The sale of paints to consumers is in-
tegral to Tikkurila’s operations, and thus changes in consumers’ pur-
chasing power and consumption habits can have a considerable 
effect on demand for the Group’s products. Consumer confidence 
and employment improved in several markets in 2010. A halt or 
turnaround in the positive development of the economies in Tikku-
rila’s operating area could have a negative effect on Tikkurila’s busi-
ness, financial position and result. 

Due to the international nature of Tikkurila’s operations, the 
Group’s statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial 
position and cash flow are subject to currency risk. The main cur-
rency risks arise from the Russian ruble, the Swedish krona and the 
Polish zloty, which are the reporting currencies of Tikkurila’s larg-
est subsidiaries. The Group’s equity is subject to currency risk when 
equity denominated in foreign currencies is translated into euros. 
Tikkurila hedges against currency risk, for instance with forward ex-
change agreements.   

Tikkurila’s business is at its busiest during the outdoor painting 
season, in the spring and summer. In decorative paints, demand 
is significantly affected by weather conditions during the outdoor 
painting season. Abnormal or unseasonal weather conditions can 
have a negative effect on the demand for Tikkurila’s products. 

Tikkurila is dependent on its suppliers’ ability to deliver the raw 
materials needed for paint production. The global economic crisis 
that began in 2008 led to capacity cutbacks among some raw ma-
terial suppliers. In addition, in the past years, several acquisitions of 
a considerable size have been carried out in the chemical industry, 
which have clearly decreased the number of raw material suppli-
ers for the paint industry. The economic recovery in 2010 led to an 
imbalance between demand and supply, as a result of which the 
prices of some of the main raw materials used in paint production 
rose and availability was low towards the end of the year in particu-
lar. Tikkurila expects the prices of raw materials to increase in the 
future and the challenges related to their availability to continue in 
2011. It is possible that the Group will not fully be able to transfer the 
higher costs to its end product prices, at least not with immediate 
effect. In addition, the uncertainties related to raw materials can af-
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fect market share development, the general competitive situation 
or the product selection.

The competitive situation in the paint industry can change 
quickly, especially due to changes in market entrants and market 
structures. In addition, possible alterations of the Group’s distri-
bution channels, for instance due to changes in competition, can 
cause financial losses.

Tikkurila is subject to numerous laws and regulations in the EU 
and other countries where it conducts business. These laws and 
regulations are related to environmental protection, selling and ex-
porting of certain chemicals and hazardous materials and health 
and safety issues. For instance, retroactive effects of new laws and 
regulations or increased requirements and costs related to the pro-
duction of consumer information can have a negative effect on Tik-
kurila’s operations. 

Tikkurila has acquired a number of companies and business op-
erations, which has resulted in goodwill being booked in the con-
solidated statement of financial position. At the end of Decem-
ber 2010, goodwill amounted to EUR 68.4 million, which equals 36 
percent of Tikkurila Group’s equity. Tikkurila carries out impairment 
testing in accordance with IAS 36. As a result of the unfavorable de-
velopment of any variable included in impairment testing, Tikku-
rila may have to adjust its estimates and change the rate of interest 
used in impairment testing, which could result impairment loss on 
goodwill to be recognized.

Tikkurila’s risk management principles are available on the 
Group’s website at www.tikkurilagroup.com. A report on financial 
risks is included in the notes to the 2010 financial statements. 

The companies in the Tikkurila Group are insured against prop-
erty, business interruption and liability risk, and the insurance cover 
is considered to be sufficient for Tikkurila’s current operations. How-
ever, it will not necessarily cover all future losses in full, depending 
on deductibles and other insurance terms.

Board of Directors’ Proposal for the Distribution of Profit 
Tikkurila Oyj’s retained earnings totaled EUR 71.1 million on Decem-
ber 31, 2010. The Board proposes to the Annual General Meeting 
that a dividend of EUR 0.70 per share will be distributed for the year 
ended on December 31, 2010 and that the rest be retained in the 
unrestricted equity. The proposed dividend totals EUR 30.9 million, 
which corresponds to approximately 84 percent of the Group’s net 
profit for 2010. It is proposed that the record date for the payment 
of the dividend will be April 5, 2011 and that the dividend will be 
paid on April 12, 2011.

Annual General Meeting 2011
The Annual General Meeting of Tikkurila Oyj will be held at 1:00 
p.m. on Thursday, March 31, 2011 at the Finlandia hall (address: 
Mannerheimintie 13, 00100 Helsinki). The Board of Directors review 
and Financial Statements will be available on week 10 on  
www.tikkurilagroup.com/fi. 

Outlook for 2011 
GDP growth is expected to continue in the key market areas of the 
Tikkurila Group in 2011. Further raw material cost increases are pre-
dicted. The suppliers for the paint industry will probably not be able 
to fully match the increasing demand, due to some of the capacity 
shutdowns carried out during the recession.

In 2011, Tikkurila expects revenue growth to exceed the average 
GDP growth in Tikkurila’s main market areas. In spite of the rising 

raw material prices, Tikkurila expects EBIT margin as a percentage 
of revenue to stay at the same level as in 2010. These estimates are 
based on the assumption that foreign exchange rates will stay close 
to the end of 2010 level and that the gradual economic recovery of 
Tikkurila’s key markets will continue. The estimates are also based 
on Tikkurila’s current business structure.
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Key performance indicators

2010 2009 2008

Revenue, EUR thousand 588,647 530,166 648,146

Foreign operations, EUR thousand 481,462 423,357 532,912

Operating profit, EUR thousand 60,757 47,715 58,786

% of revenue 10.3 9.0 9.1

Share of profit or loss of associates, EUR thousand -87 75 24

Financial expenses (net), EUR thousand 8,675 12,048 15,585

% of revenue 1.5 2.3 2.4

Interest cover  7.0 5.5 5.0

Profit before tax, EUR thousand 51,995 35,742 43,225

% of revenue 8.8 6.7 6.7

Net profit for the period, EUR thousand 36,524 27,790 36,709

Return on investment (ROI), % 21.8 16.4 19.5

Return on equity (ROE), % 21.9 24.1 36.7

Return on capital employed (ROCE), % 1) 19.2 15.7 18.7

Research and development expenses, EUR thousand 10,155 10,058 11,243

% of revenue 1.7 1.9 1.7

Cash flows
Cash flow from operations, EUR thousand 63,855 62,454 55,749

Disposals of subsidiaries, PPE* and intangible assets, EUR thousand 385 418 5,426

Capital expenditure, EUR thousand 11,267 17,191 36,737

% of revenue 1.9 3.2 5.7

Cash flow after capital expenditure, EUR thousand 51,415 45,329 25,255

Cash flow return on capital invested (CFROI),  % 14.8 19.4 16.5

Statement of financial position and solvency
Non-current assets, EUR thousand 228,258 227,201 232,034

Shareholders’ equity (attributable to the owners of the parent), EUR thousand 190,038 143,863 86,593

Shareholders’ equity including non-controlling interest, EUR thousand 190,038 143,863 86,737

Liabilities, EUR thousand 272,261 259,246 341,037

Total assets, EUR thousand 462,299 403,109 427,774

Interest-bearing financial liabilities, EUR thousand 147,979 154,081 212,110

Interest-bearing net liabilities, EUR thousand 78,607 129,538 180,823

Equity ratio, % 41.1 35.7 20.3

Gearing % 41.4 90.0 208.5

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (net) / EBITDA 1.0 1.9 2.3

Statement of comprehensive income and profitability

* Property, plant and equipment
1)  Formula of return on capital employed has been changed during the year. The divisor used is a twelve months rolling average. Due to seasonality of business this will give a 

better view of capital employed involved in business over the year. Year 2009 and 2008 key ratios have been changed accordingly.
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Definitions of key figures
Operating profit (loss), %

Operating profit (loss) x 100

Revenue

Interest-bearing net liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities - cash and cash equivalents

Equity ratio, %

Total equity x 100

Total assets - advances received

Gearing,  %

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (net) x 100

Total equity

Interest cover

Operating profit + depreciation, amortization and impairment losses

Financial expenses (net)

Return on investment (ROI), %

(Profit before tax + interest and other financial expenses) x 100

(Total equity + interest-bearing liabilities)*

Return on equity (ROE), %

Net profit for the period x 100

Total equity *

Cash flow return on investment (CFROI), % 

Cash flow from operations x 100

(Total assets - non-interest-bearing liabilities)*

Return on capital employed (ROCE), %

Operating profit + share of profit or loss of associates x 100

(Net working capital + intangible assets ready for use + property, plant and 
equipment ready for use + investments in associates)**

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (net) / EBITDA

Interest-bearing financial liabilities (net)

Operating profit + depreciation, amortization and impairment losses

* Average of January 1, and end of the year
** Average during the period

Personnel
2010 2009 2008

Personnel (average) 3,703 3,757 4,027

of whom in Finland 800 839 939

Exchange rates
Key exchange rates (Dec 31)

Russian Ruble RUB 40.8200 43.1540 41.2830

Swedish Krona SEK 8.9655 10.2520 10.8700

Polish Zloty PLN 3.9750 4.1045 4.1535

Net working capital

Inventories + interest-free receivables, excluding current tax assets, accrued 
interest income and other prepaid financial items - interest-free liabilities, 
excluding current tax liabilities, accrued interest expenses and other ac-
crued financial items

Dividend yield

Dividend per share  x 100

Share price at end of the period

Price / earnings ratio (P/E)

Share price at the end of period

Earnings per share

Equity per share

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent at the end of  
the reporting period

Number of shares at the end of the reporting period

Earnings per share (EPS)

Net profit of the period attributable to the owners of the parent

Shares on average

Dividend payout ratio

Dividend per share x 100

Earnings per share
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Consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income (IFRS)
(EUR thousand) Note Jan 1–Dec 31, 2010 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2009

Revenue 588,647 530,166

Other operating income 7 3,025 1,451

Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 2,005 -7,980

Materials and services -291,185 -250,596

Personnel expenses 8 -113,108 -102,198

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 9 -20,661 -18,780

Other operating expenses 10 -107,966 -104,348

Operating profit 60,757 47,715

Financial income 12 8,536 1,098

Financial expenses 12 -17,211 -13,146

Share of profit or loss of associates 18 -87 75

Profit before tax 51,995 35,742

Income tax 13 -15,471 -7,952

Net profit for the period 36,524 27,790

Other comprehensive income

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,825 -

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations 8,333 -1,774

Income tax related to components of other comprehensive income -507 -

Total comprehensive income for the period 46,175 26,016

Net profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent 36,524 27,759

Non-controlling interest - 31

Net profit for the period 36,524 27,790

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent 46,175 26,080

Non-controlling interest - -64

Total comprehensive income for the period 46,175 26,016

Earnings per share of the net profit attributable to owners of the parent

Basic earnings per share (EUR) 14 0.83 0.63

Diluted earnings per share (EUR) 14 0.83 0.63
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Consolidated statement  
of financial position (IFRS)

(EUR thousand) Note Dec 31, 2010 Dec 31, 2009

Assets
Non-current assets

Goodwill 16, 17 68,386 68,261

Other intangible assets 16 30,544 33,713

Property, plant and equipment 15 114,736 114,857

Investments in associates 18 668 774

Available-for-sale financial assets 21 2,694 929

Non-current receivables 22 7,102 5,860

Defined benefit pension assets 31 413 439

Deferred tax assets 26 3,715 2,368

Total non-current assets 228,258 227,201

Current assets

Inventories 20 76,814 73,499

Interest-bearing current assets 23 184 288

Trade and other non-interest-bearing receivables 24 81,523 75,895

Current tax assets 3,711 1,683

Cash and cash equivalents 25 69,372 24,543

Assets classified as held for sale 6 2,437 -

Total current assets 234,041 175,908

Total assets 462,299 403,109

Equity and liabilities
Equity

Share capital 27 35,000 35,000

Other reserves 27 359 359

Fair value reserve 27 1,350 -

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 27 40,000 40,000

Translation differences 27 -12,130 -20,431

Retained earnings 125,459 88,935

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 190,038 143,863

Non-controlling interest - -

Total equity 190,038 143,863

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing non-current liabilities 28 139,282 115,085

Pension obligations 31 16,559 14,567

Provisions 32 199 411

Deferred tax liabilities 26 11,309 9,607

Total non-current liabilities 167,349 139,670
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(EUR thousand) Note Dec 31, 2010 Dec 31, 2009

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing current liabilities 29 8,697 38,996

Trade and other non-interest-bearing payables 30 88,406 76,379

Provisions 32 302 399

Current tax liabilities 6,780 3,802

Liabilities classified as held for sale 6 727 -

Total current liabilities 104,912 119,576

Total equity and liabilities 462,299 403,109

Consolidated statement  
of cash flows (IFRS)

(EUR thousand) Note Jan 1–Dec 31, 2010 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2009

Cash flow from operating activities
Net profit for the period 36,524 27,790

Adjustments for:

Non-cash transactions

   Depreciation, amortization and impairment 20,661 18,780

   Employee pension benefits 2,018 1,171

   Change in provisions -309 90

   Gain on sale of PPE* and intangible assets -129 -55

   Loss on sale of PPE* and intangible assets 141 246

   Other items 4,182 -

   Dividend income -62 -61

   Interest and other financial expenses 9,562 12,925

   Interest income and other financial income -1,332 -865

   Share of profit or loss of associates 87 -75

   Exchange rate differences of financing 508 50

   Income tax for the period 15,471 7,952

Funds from operations before change in net working capital 87,322 67,948

Change in net working capital

Change in inventories -5,607 10,024

Change in trade and other receivables -5,082 2,968

Change in trade and other payables 9,715 -1,402

Change in net working capital -974 11,590

Interest and other financial expenses paid -8,951 -14,603

Interest and other financial income received 1,332 865

Income tax paid -14,874 -3,346

Total cash flow from operations 63,855 62,454
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(EUR thousand) Note Jan 1–Dec 31, 2010 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2009

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 5 - -1,216

Acquisitions of associates -81 -

Acquisition of other shares -3 -2,502

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment -9,801 -11,903

Acquisition of intangible assets -1,382 -1,570

Disposal of associates 0 -

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets 51 -

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 124 414

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 261 4

Change in non-current loan receivables decrease (+) - 231

Change in non-current loan receivables increase (-) -1,671 -644

Dividends received 62 61

Net cash used in investing activities -12,440 -17,125

Cash flow before financing 51,415 45,329

Cash flow from financing activities
Change in non-current borrowings, increase (+) 139,678 1,098

Change in non-current borrowings, decrease (-) -115,221 -20,002

Current financing, increase (+) 4,018 1,574

Current financing, decrease (-) -34,262 -

Finance lease (-) -295 -365

Profit distribution - -33,975

Repurchase of own shares -72 -

Other -339 -1,343

Net cash used in financing activities -6,493 -53,013

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 44,922 -7,684

Cash and cash equivalents at Jan 1 25 24,201 30,851

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held -205 -1,034

Cash and cash equivalents at Dec 31 25 69,328 24,201

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 44,922 -7,684

*) Property, plant and equipment.

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents is disclosed in Note 25 Cash and cash equivalents.
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Consolidated statement  
of changes in equity

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent
Non- 

controlling  
interest

Total 
equity 

(EUR thousand) Note Share 
capital

Other 
reserves

Fair value 
reserve

Reserve 
for 

invested 
unre-

stricted 
equity

Translation 
differences

Retained 
earning Total 

Equity at Jan 1, 2009 35,000 359 - - -18,752 69,986 86,593 144 86,737

Total comprehensive income for 
the period 27 - - - - -1,679 27,759 26,080 -64 26,016

Profit distribution 1) - - - - - -9,417 -9,417 - -9,417

Reserve for invested unrestricted 
equity - - - 40,000 - - 40,000 - 40,000

Changes arising from business 
arrangements - - - - - 607 607 -80 527

Equity at Dec 31, 2009 35,000 359 - 40,000 -20,431 88,935 143,863 - 143,863

Equity at Jan 1, 2010 35,000 359 - 40,000 -20,431 88,935 143,863 - 143,863

Total comprehensive income for 
the period

27 - - 1,350 - 8,301 36,524 46,175 - 46,175

Acquisition  / Disposal of treasury 
shares

- - - 0 - - - - -

Equity at Dec 31, 2010 35,000 359 1,350 40,000 -12,130 125,459 190,038 - 190,038

1) Profit distribution in year 2009 was group contribution given by Alcro-Beckers AB to Kemira companies in Sweden.

Distributable equity of the parent (FAS)
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity *) 40,000 40,000

Retained earnings 49,967 34,501

Net profit for the period 21,112 15,466

Total 111,079 89,967

*)  Reserve for invested unrestricted equity can be distributed as capital repayment. It cannot be distributed as dividends.
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1.  Accounting policies for the  
consolidated financial statements

Basic information
Tikkurila Oyj is a Finnish public limited company domiciled in Van-
taa and the registered address is Kuninkaalantie 1, FI-01300 Vantaa, 
Finland. Tikkurila Oy became a public limited company in February 
2010 and since then the company name has been Tikkurila Oyj. Tik-
kurila Oyj is the parent company of Tikkurila Group. Tikkurila’s share 
is listed on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki since March 26, 2010 when the 
company’s parent company at the time, Kemira Oyj distributed Tik-
kurila’s shares as dividend to Kemira Oyj’s shareholders.

Tikkurila offers consumers, professionals and industry with user-
friendly and environmentally sustainable solutions for the protection 
and decoration of surfaces. Tikkurila is a strong regional company, 
whose aim is to be the leading paints company in the Nordic coun-
tries and Eastern Europe, including Russia. From the beginning of the 
financial year 2010, Tikkurila Group has organized its business opera-
tions into four strategic business units defined geographically: SBU 
East, SBU Scandinavia, SBU Finland and SBU Central Eastern Europe. 
In the 2010 financial year, Tikkurila Group’s revenue amounted to EUR 
588.6 million and the average number of personnel was 3,703. The 
Group operates in 18 countries and has production facilities in 7 coun-
tries.

The Board of Directors of Tikkurila Oyj has approved the finan-
cial statements for publication at its meeting of February 10, 2011. In 
accordance with the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act, the 
shareholders can approve or reject the financial statements or make 
a decision on altering the financial statements in the Annual General 
Meeting arranged after its publication. A copy of the financial state-
ments and annual report is available from the company’s headquar-
ters at Kuninkaalantie 1, 01300 Vantaa and at www.tikkurilagroup.com. 

Basis of preparation
Tikkurila Oyj’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and International Accounting Standards (IAS) as well as with the re-
lated SIC and IFRIC Interpretations issued by international IASB (In-
ternational Accounting Standard Board), in force as at December 31, 
2010. International Financial Reporting Standards are standards and 
their interpretations adopted in accordance with the procedure laid 
down in regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament 
and of the Council. The notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments also comply with the Finnish Accounting Act and Ordinance 
and the Finnish Limited Liability Companies’ Act. Tikkurila Oyj pre-
pared its first IFRS accordant financial statements for the financial 
year 2008.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the 
historical cost convention except for the financial liabilities and as-
sets recognized at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale 
financial assets and assets and liabilities classified as held for sale in 
accordance with IFRS 5 at the closing date.

The functional and presentation currency of the parent compa-
ny, Tikkurila Oyj, is euro, which is also the presentation currency of 
the consolidated financial statements. All financial information pre-
sented in euros has been rounded to the nearest thousand, except 
when otherwise indicated. Due to rounding differences, the figures 

in the tables do not necessarily match the total of the table when 
added up. The financial year of the parent and subsidiaries is the 
calendar year ending December, 31.

Tikkurila Group has applied following new and revised standards 
and interpretations since January 1, 2010, which affect the reported 
data or data that will be reported in the future:
•	 Revised IFRS 3 Business Combinations (effective for finan-

cial years that started on July 1, 2009 or later). Signifi-
cant amendments have been made to the standard. The 
amendments expanded the scope of IFRS 3 and impact, 
among other things, the amount of goodwill to be recog-
nized on business combinations and sales results of busi-
nesses. Contingent consideration will be measured at fair 
value and subsequently re-measured through profit or 
loss. All acquisition-related costs, such as experts’ fees, will 
be expensed instead of capitalization in the cost of the 
business combination. There is a choice on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling inter-
est in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-con-
trolling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net 
assets. No acquisitions were carried out in the financial 
year 2010 but the amended IFRS 3 standard may have con-
siderable effect on future financial statements if a business 
combinations took place and in particular if these transac-
tions involved contingent considerations.

•	Amended IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (effective for financial years that started on 
July 1, 2009 or later). The amendments affect the ac-
counting treatment of acquisitions and sales achieved 
in stages. If the parent company retains control, impacts 
from changes in ownership in a subsidiary are recognized 
directly in Group’s equity. Such transactions carried out 
with non-controlling interest no longer result in goodwill 
or gains and losses to be recorded profit or loss. When 
control is lost, any remaining interest is measured at fair 
value through profit or loss. A similar accounting treat-
ment is also applied to investments in associates and in-
terests in joint ventures. In future losses of a subsidiary 
may be allocated to non-controlling interest also when 
they exceed the value of the investment of non-control-
ling interest. 

•	Amendments to IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recogni-
tion and measurement - Eligible Hedged items (effective for 
financial years that started on July 1, 2009 or later). The 
amendments relate to hedge accounting. They deal with 
designation of a one-sided risk in a hedged item and des-
ignation of inflation in a financial hedged item. 

•	 IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners (effective 
for financial years that started on July 1, 2009 or later). The 
interpretation provides guidance how an entity should ac-
count for non-cash dividend distributed to owners. The 
interpretation would affect future financial statements if 
the Group would distribute dividend in some other form 
than cash. 
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•	 IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers (effective for fi-
nancial years that started on July 1, 2009 or later). The in-
terpretation clarifies the accounting treatment for agree-
ments in which an entity receives from a customer an item 
of property, plant and equipment that the entity must then 
use either to connect the customer to a network or to pro-
vide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods 
or services  or to do both. The interpretation has no effect 
on the consolidated financial statements.

•	 Improvements to IFRSs (April 2009) (mainly effective for fi-
nancial years that started on January 1, 2010 or later). The 
amendments cover in total 12 standards and their effects 
vary by standard. These have not had any significant effect 
on the consolidated financial statements. 

•	Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based payment – Share-
based operations in a Group paid as cash (effective for fi-
nancial years that started on January 1, 2010 or later). 
These amendments provide additional guidance to the 
accounting treatment of share-based payment transac-
tions among group entities. 

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS standards requires the Group management to use esti-
mates and assumptions. These affect the amount of assets and li-
abilities at the time the consolidated statement of financial position 
is prepared, the amount of revenues and expenses for the report-
ing period and the amount of contingent assets and liabilities. It is 
possible that the actual figures differ from the estimates used in the 
financial statements. 

In addition, the Group management uses its judgement in ap-
plying the accounting principles for the consolidated financial 
statements and in choosing the applicable accounting policies, if 
IFRS allow alternative methods.

The critical accounting estimates and judgements are described 
in more detail in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidation principles
The consolidated financial statements include the parent compa-
ny, Tikkurila Oyj and all subsidiaries in which the parent company 
holds directly or indirectly over 50% of the votes or otherwise ex-
ercises control. The goodwill of business combinations that have 
taken place prior to 2003 corresponds with the book value of the 
accounting standards previously adopted by the Group. On the 
closing date, December 31, 2010, the Group consisted of 28 compa-
nies including the parent company and the Group had investment 
in one associate.

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the parent company 
and its subsidiaries. In these companies, the parent company holds, 
on the basis of its shareholdings, more than half of the voting rights 
directly or through its subsidiaries, or otherwise exercises control. 
Control refers to the right to decide on the company’s financial and 
business principles in order to benefit from its operations. Compa-
nies acquired or established during the accounting period are fully 
consolidated from when the Group has gained control in the com-
pany until the date that such control ceases.

All intra-group transactions, receivables, liabilities and unrealized 
gains and intra-group profit distribution between Group compa-
nies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are not eliminated when the 
loss is due to impairment. 

The purchase method is used to eliminate intra-Group share-
holdings. The consideration transferred in business combination 
and the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired company 
are valued at fair value at the time of the acquisition. All acquisition 
related costs are immediately recognized as expense. If the costs 
related to the acquisition include costs from issuing debt instru-
ments or equity securities these are treated in accordance with the 
requirements of IAS 32 and IAS 39. Any possible additional purchase 
price (contingent consideration) is valued at fair value at the time of 
acquisition and is classified either as liability or equity. Contingent 
consideration classified as liability is valued at fair value at the end 
of each reporting period and the loss or profit generated from it, is 
recognized through profit or loss.

Non-controlling interests in business combination are valued ei-
ther at fair value or at the amount that corresponds with the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the identifiable net as-
sets of the acquired business. The choice of valuation principle to 
be adopted is made separately for each acquisition. 

In business combinations carried out in stages, the previously 
held equity interest is valued at fair value and the resulting gain or 
loss is recognized through profit or loss. 

The profit or loss and the total comprehensive income for that 
period attributable to the owners of the parent company and non-
controlling interest are presented in the statement of comprehen-
sive income. The portion of equity attributable to non-controlling 
interest is stated as an individual item under equity in the state-
ment of financial position. Total comprehensive income is attribut-
able to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interest 
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a negative 
balance.

Changes in the holding of Group subsidiaries that do not result 
in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. If the 
Group loses control in the subsidiary, the remaining investment is 
valued at fair value on the day the control is lost and the difference 
is recognized through profit or loss.

Acquisitions made prior to January 1, 2010 have been treated ac-
cording to regulations valid at the time. During the 2010 financial 
period, Tikkurila Group had no acquisitions accordant with IFRS 3 
Business Combinations.

Associates
Associates are companies over which the Group exercises signifi-
cant influence but not control (generally accompanying a share-
holding of 20–50 percent of the voting rights). Investments in as-
sociates are accounted for using the equity method. The goodwill 
generated from the acquisition of associates is included in the car-
rying amount of the investments. No goodwill is included in Tikku-
rila Group’s investments in associates in 2010.

The Group’s share of its associates’ profits or losses is recognized 
in proportion to the Group’s holdings and presented in the state-
ment of comprehensive income as a separate line item after operat-
ing profit and financial items. The Group’s share of associates’ other 
comprehensive income is recognized as a line item in Group’s other 
comprehensive income. Tikkurila’s associates did not have these 
during the financial years 2010 and 2009. When the Group’s share of 
losses in an associate exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group 
does not recognize further losses, unless it has committed to settle 
the obligations on behalf of the associate.
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Joint ventures
A joint venture is an entity where the Group together with other 
parties has joint control based on a contractual arrangement. Joint 
ventures are accounted for using proportionate consolidation. The 
Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses as well as 
cash flows of joint ventures is combined with the equivalent items in 
the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

Translation of foreign currency items
Items included in the financial statements of the Group’s subsid-
iaries are measured in the currency of the financial environment in 
which each subsidiary primarily operates (functional currency). The 
Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, 
which is the parent company’s functional currency. 
 
Foreign currency transactions
In their day-to-day accounting, Group companies translate for-
eign currency transactions into their functional currency at the ex-
change rates quoted on the transaction date. In preparation of fi-
nancial statements monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the 
exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction.

Certain intra-group loan agreements are treated as part of the 
net investments because remittance has not been planned to carry 
out and it is not likely in the foreseeable future to receive remit-
tance on them. Exchange rate differences related to such agree-
ments are recognized in other comprehensive income and accu-
mulated exchange rate differences are presented under equity in 
translation difference, net of tax, until the foreign subsidiary is dis-
posed in full or part. 

Exchange differences resulting from transactions denominated 
in foreign currencies and from the translation of monetary items are 
recognized in profit or loss. Exchange differences arising from op-
eration-related items are accounted for as adjustments to sales and 
purchases. Exchange rate differences associated with the hedging 
of financing transactions and the Group’s overall foreign currency 
position are stated in foreign exchange gains or losses under finan-
cial income and expenses. The Group does not apply hedge ac-
counting to manage risks related to financing transactions.

Translation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries
In preparation of the consolidated financial statements the income 
and expenses as well as cash flow items of the foreign entities are 
translated to euro using average exchange rate for the period. Their 
statements of financial position are translated using the exchange 
rates at the end of the reporting period (closing rate). Resulting ex-
change differences are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

The exchange differences accumulated in equity are transferred 
to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment as part of the gain or 
loss on disposal when the foreign entity is disposed of, totally or in 
part.

Since January 1, 2003, the fair value allocations made to the carry-
ing amounts of the assets and liabilities of the acquired foreign enti-
ties and goodwill arising on these acquisitions is treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entities and is translated to euros at the clos-
ing rate.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized in profit or loss when 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and 
control have been transferred to the buyer. In general, revenue is 
recognized at the time of delivery of the goods in compliance with 
the contract terms. Revenue from the services rendered is recog-
nized in the period when the service has been performed. There 
are no such long-term projects in the Group for which the revenue 
would be recognized using the percentage-of-completion (POC) 
method.

Tikkurila’s revenue mainly consists of selling different types of 
paints to retailers, industry and professional use. Revenue is also in a 
small extent generated from selling paint related services and equip-
ment. 

Revenue includes the total invoicing value of products sold and 
services rendered less, as adjusting items, sales tax, discounts, rebates 
and foreign exchange differences arising from trade receivables.

Tikkurila’s paint production and marketing are based on extensive 
utilization of tinting. Tikkurila delivers the tinting machines needed for 
this to the retailers. Retailers often either lease or buy the machines 
from Tikkurila. The income from the sold tinting machines is recog-
nized in revenue. The rent income from leased tinting machines is in-
cluded in other operating income. 

Rent income is recognized in profit or loss in a straight-line meth-
od for the leasing period.

Dividends are recognized as income when the right to dividends 
has developed. The Group does not have considerable dividend in-
come.

Pension obligations
The Group has various pension plans in accordance with the local 
conditions and practises of the countries in which it operates. Pen-
sion plans are funded through contributions to insurance compa-
nies. 

Pension plans are classified as either defined contribution plans or 
defined benefit plans. Under a defined contribution plan the Group 
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no le-
gal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund 
does not hold sufficient assets to pay the employees the benefits in 
question. All other plans not meeting the above criteria are classified 
as defined benefit plans. Contributions made to defined contribution 
pension plans are recognized in profit or loss in the periods during 
which services are rendered by employees.

In the Group obligations under defined benefit plans are cal-
culated separately for each plan. The amount recognized as a de-
fined benefit liability (or asset) equals the net total of the following 
amounts: the present value of the defined benefit obligation less the 
fair value of the plan assets, plus any actuarial gains and less any ac-
tuarial losses. Pension benefits are calculated by using the Projected 
Unit Credit Method and resulting pension costs are recognized as 
expenses over the employee’s service period, using actuarial calcula-
tions. The rate used to discount the present value of post-employ-
ment benefit obligations is determined by reference to market yields 
on high quality corporate bonds, or government bonds.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss using 
the corridor method over the average remaining working lives of the 
participating employees to the extent that they exceed the higher of 
the following: 10% of the pension obligation or 10% of the fair value 
of plan assets.
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Current taxes and deferred taxes
The Group’s tax expense comprises current tax of the Group com-
panies calculated on the taxable profit for the period determined in 
accordance with the local tax rules, adjustments for the prior years 
current tax and the change in deferred taxes. For transactions and 
other events recognized in profit or loss, any related tax effects are 
also recognized in profit or loss. For transactions and other events 
recognized outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive in-
come or directly in equity), any related tax effects are also recog-
nized either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively. The current income tax charge in separate countries is 
calculated on the basis of the tax rate enacted or substantively en-
acted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are provided in the 
consolidated financial statements for temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax 
assets are only recognized at estimated realizable amounts, i.e. to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available in the fu-
ture, against which temporary differences can be utilized. The tax bas-
es in force on the date of the preparation of the financial statements, 
or adopted by the statement of the financial position date for the fol-
lowing financial year, are used in calculating deferred tax assets and li-
abilities. No deferred tax liability has been recognized for undistributed 
earnings of foreign subsidiaries as the majority of such earnings can be 
transferred to the owner without any tax consequences. 

Intangible assets
 
Goodwill
The goodwill generated in business combinations carried out after 
January 1, 2010 is recognized at the amount with which the consid-
eration transferred, the share of non-controlling interest of the ac-
quired entity and the previously purchased share combined exceed 
the fair value of the Group´s share of acquired net assets.

Acquisitions carried out between January 1, 2003 and December 
31, 2009 have been accounted for in accordance with previously ef-
fective IFRS 3 Business Combinations -standard. In this case the differ-
ence between the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net 
assets acquired, calculated in proportion to the Group’s holdings, de-
termined at the date of acquisition is partly allocated to the identifi-
able assets and liabilities. Resulting excess is recorded as goodwill.

The acquisitions occurred prior to January 1, 2003 have been ac-
counted for in accordance with regulations valid at the time. Good-
will that has been generated from acquisitions prior to January 1, 2003 
has been recognized in the financial statements using the exchange 
rate at the time of the acquisition. 

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at least annu-
ally. The test is carried out more frequently if there are indications of 
impairment of goodwill. Possible impairment losses are immediately 
recognized through profit or loss. For the testing purpose goodwill 
has been allocated to cash-generating units (CGU) or, in case of an 
associate, the goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the 
associate in question. Tikkurila’s cash generating units are SBU East, 
SBU Scandinavia, SBU Finland, and SBU Central Eastern Europe. 

Research and Development Costs
Tikkurila’s research and development is steered considerably by en-
vironmental and safety aspects. A majority of research and develop-

ment is connected with replacing solvent-borne paints with water-
borne or low-solvent products. In addition, research and development 
is directed at new possible raw materials in paint production and 
researching of new and existing product formulas and product con-
cepts. Research costs are recognized through profit or loss. 

The Group’s development costs are not capitalized because they 
do not meet the capitalization criteria. The future financial benefits of 
new or improved products can only be verified at such a late stage 
that the share of expenses to be capitalized is insignificant and thus 
capitalization is not carried out. Development costs previously recog-
nized as an expense are not capitalized in a subsequent period. 

If the capitalization conditions were met at an earlier stage in the 
future the capitalized development costs would be included in other 
intangible assets and they would be amortized on a straight-line ba-
sis over their useful life of a maximum of eight years.

Other intangible assets
An intangible asset is initially capitalized in the statement of finan-
cial position at cost if the cost can be measured reliably and it is 
probable that the expected future economic benefits that are at-
tributable to the asset will flow to the Group. Tikkurila’s other intan-
gible assets comprise, among others, software as well as brands, 
product names, marketing channels and customer relationships ac-
quired through business combinations.

Intangible assets separated from goodwill, recognized in connec-
tion with acquisitions are recognized at fair value at the time of the 
acquisition.

Other intangible assets that have finite useful lives are carried at 
historical cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated im-
pairment losses. They are amortized on a straight-line basis over their 
known or estimated useful lives. The amortization periods generally 
applied by the Group are:

 
Brands 10–20 years
Customer relationships 5–10 years
Marketing channels 5 years
Software 5–8 years

The amortization of intangible assets ends when it is classified as 
held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Gains and losses on sales and disposals are included in other op-
erating income and in other operating expenses, respectively.

Borrowing costs are capitalized at the acquisition cost of the in-
tangible asset if the asset meets the conditions of IAS 23 Borrowing 
Costs. In 2010, Tikkurila did not have these types of intangible asset 
items.

Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost 
less cumulative depreciation and any impairment losses. If an item 
of property, plant and equipment consists of parts with different 
useful lives, each part is accounted for as a separate asset. In those 
cases the cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item and 
the any remaining carrying amount of the replaced part is derecog-
nized. Repair and maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss 
as incurred.

Items of property, plant and equipment in acquired subsidiaries 
are recognized at fair value on the acquisition date.
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Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method based 
on the assets’ estimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The de-
preciation periods generally applied by the Group are:

Buildings and constructions      10–40 years
Machinery and equipment  3–15 years

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment ends when it is 
classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current As-
sets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 

Gains and losses on sales and disposals are included in other oper-
ating income and in other operating expenses, respectively.

Borrowing costs are capitalized at the acquisition cost of prop-
erty, plant and equipment if the asset meets the conditions of IAS 23 
Borrowing Costs. In 2010, Tikkurila did not have these types of asset 
items.

Leases
 
The Group as lessee
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. Assets acquired under finance leases are initially 
recognized in the statement of financial position at their fair value 
at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. These assets are presented as part of the 
Group’s property, plant and equipment and related finance lease li-
abilities are included in the interest-bearing financial liabilities. The 
finance lease rent that is paid, is divided into finance charge and 
liability repayment over the lease period. The depreciation made 
on the leased assets and the finance charge related to the finance 
lease obligations are recognized in profit or loss. Depreciation is al-
located over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease 
term.

Leases in which the lessor retains the risks and rewards inciden-
tal to the ownership are accounted for as operating leases. Payments 
made under operating leases are recognized in profit and loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease period. 

The Group as lessor
Assets leased out by the Group under leases where substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are transferred to the 
lessee, are accounted for as finance leases. They are recognized as 
receivables at the amount equal to the Group’s net investment in 
the leases. Finance income is recognized over the lease term so as 
to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment 
outstanding.

Assets leased under operating leases are included in the Group’s 
property, plant and equipment. They are depreciated over their use-
ful lives as Group’ comparable property, plant and equipment in own 
use. Rental income from operating leases is recognized in profit or 
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Non-current assets held for sale  
and discontinued operations
A non-current asset (or a disposal group) as well as assets and liabili-
ties associated with a discontinued operation, are classified as held 
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. The recogni-
tion criteria are considered to be met when: a sale is highly probable, 

the asset must be available for immediate sale in its present condition 
subject only to terms that are usual and customary, the management 
is committed to the plan to sell the asset and the sale is expected to 
take place within one year from the date of classification.

As from classification date a non-current asset (or a disposal 
group) held for sale is generally measured at the lower of its carry-
ing amount and fair value less costs to sell, and it is not depreciated 
or amortized any more. Depreciation on these assets discontinues 
at the time of classification. Assets classified as held for sale, disposal 
groups, items recognized in other comprehensive income associ-
ated with the assets classified as held for sale as well as liabilities in-
cluded in the disposal group are presented separately in the state-
ment of financial position.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s busi-
ness that has been disposed of or is held for sale. It represents a 
separate major line of business or geographical area of operations. 
The profit or loss of a discontinued operation is reported separately 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment of property, plant and  
equipment and intangible assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-current assets are re-
viewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether 
there is any indication for impairment. If an indication of impair-
ment exists, the recoverable amount of the asset or the cash-gener-
ating unit is estimated. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Annual impair-
ment tests are always carried out for goodwill and intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives, or intangible assets not yet available for 
use. Tikkurila has no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. 

An impairment loss is recognized, whenever the carrying amount 
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognized immediately in profit or loss. An 
impairment loss recognized in respect of a cash-generating unit is al-
located first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated 
to the unit, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other as-
sets in the unit on a pro rata basis. If there has been a positive change 
in the estimates used to determine an asset’s recoverable amount 
since the last impairment loss was recognized, an impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, if no 
impairment loss had been recognized. An impairment loss for good-
will is never reversed.

If the recoverable amount cannot be determined for individual as-
set items, the impairment is tested at the cash-generating unit level 
that is mainly independent of other units and whose cash flows can 
be separated and are mainly independent of the cash flows of other 
similar units. When testing the annual goodwill, which Tikkurila carries 
out each September-October and on the closing date for possible 
acquisitions carried out after this, the test is carried out at operating 
segment level, which in Tikkurila corresponds with the geographi-
cally determined so-called strategic business units. Goodwill impair-
ment is tested by comparing the operating segment’s recoverable 
amount with its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is defined 
as its value in use, which consists of the discounted future cash flows 
to the unit.

Paint demand typically varies in line with gross domestic prod-
uct development which means that general economic trends affect 
paint demand. The costs related to Tikkurila’s production are caused 
by raw materials, packaging materials, energy and wages. Changes in 
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raw material prices affect the Group’s profitability and accumulated 
cash flow. Tikkurila competes with a number of local, regional and in-
ternational paint manufacturers. If competition tightens as a result of 
new players entering the market or changes in the market structure 
it can affect the Group’s cash flows. The company management fol-
lows general economic development, changes in markets prices and 
changes in the competitive situation and analyzes their affect on the 
business operation and the value of assets. More detailed information 
on impairment testing in Note 17. 

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
The cost of ready purchased products consists of the purchase cost 
including direct transportation, processing and other costs. The cost 
of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, di-
rect labour, other direct production costs and related appropriate 
production overheads and fixed general costs based on normal op-
erating capacity. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) 
method or the weighted average cost method, based on the nature 
of the inventory. The FIFO method is applied to company manu-
factured products and it is presented in the Notes under “Finished 
goods”. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordi-
nary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The inventory acquired in connection with a business combina-
tion is valued at fair value.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
Tikkurila was a part of Kemira Group until the end of March 2010, 
until which time Kemira also had centralized responsibility for the 
management of Group financing and financial risks. Therefore, the 
structures of statement of financial position and risk management 
principles for the financial years 2010 and 2009 differ considerably 
from one another, even though there have not been any significant 
changes in the accounting policy. 
 
Financial assets
A financial asset is recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the finan-
cial assets are included in the original cost, unless the financial asset 
is recognized at fair value through profit or loss. All purchases and 
sales of financial assets are recognized or derecognized using trade 
date accounting. The Group derecognizes financial assets when it 
has lost its right to receive the cash flows or when it has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards to an external party.

For subsequent measurement the Group’s financial assets are 
classified based on their purpose of use as follows: financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and avail-
able-for-sale financial assets. Financial assets are classified at initial 
recognition based on their purpose of use. 

In the statement of financial position, investments with maturity 
over 12 months are included in non-current assets and investments 
with maturity date within 12 months in current assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Tikkurila classifies in this category such financial assets that are clas-
sified as held for trading. This category comprises those derivative 
instruments that are not guarantees and which do not meet the 
hedge accounting criteria. The Group has not applied hedge ac-
counting, so all derivative agreements are classified as financial as-

sets at fair value through profit or loss. Other financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss include current money market invest-
ments. In the statement of financial position these are included in 
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured 
at fair value. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be ex-
changed between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction. Fair value changes, both realized and unrealized, are 
recognized in profit or loss in financial items in the period in which 
they arise. 

Derivative assets in the category are presented under current ac-
crued income and deferred expenses and derivative liabilities under 
accrued expenses and deferred income in the statement of finan-
cial position. Open derivative agreements are valued at fair value at 
the end of each reporting period. The fair value of derivative agree-
ments in public trading is determined using the market prices of 
the day at the end of reporting period. All of Tikkurila’s derivative 
agreements are subject to public trading. The fair value of interest 
rate swaps is determined using discounted future cash flows and 
forward exchange contracts are valued using the forward exchange 
market rates at the end of reporting date.

The Group had no derivative agreements in the financial year 
2009. During 2010, the Group has derivative agreements. (Note 34)

Loans and other receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and 
the Group does not hold them for trading or designate them as avail-
able-for-sale upon initial recognition. The most important individual 
item of the Group under this category is trade receivables. Loans and 
receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective inter-
est rate method, less any impairment losses. They are included in cur-
rent assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets 
that are designated as available-for-sale and that are not classified 
in any other category. Available-for-sale financial assets are mea-
sured at fair value if it is considered that the fair value can be deter-
mined reliably. In such cases the unrealized fair value changes are 
recognized in other comprehensive income, net of tax. The gains 
and losses accumulated in equity are transferred to profit or loss as 
a reclassification adjustment when the instrument is disposed of or 
when it is determined to be impaired so that an impairment loss is 
to be recognized. 

In the financial year 2009 the available-for-sale financial assets 
mainly comprised unlisted shares that are measured at cost as their 
fair values could not be measured reliably. In the financial year 2010 
the Group has, however, valued some of these unlisted shares at fair 
value, thus changing their valuation principle, because the fair value 
of the shares could be measured reliably. In this case, the change in 
fair value has during the reporting period been recognized in other 
comprehensive income, net of tax and presented in the financial 
statements of December 31, 2010 in equity under the fair value re-
serve.

Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, short-term highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value as 
well as bank overdrafts. Items classified as cash and cash equiva-
lents have a maximum maturity of three months from the date of 
purchase. Bank overdrafts are presented in consolidated statement 
of financial position within current interest-bearing financial liabili-
ties. 

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assess at the end of each reporting period whether 
there is any objective evidence that a single financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of finan-
cial assets is impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial rec-
ognition of the asset and that loss event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. The debtor’s signifi-
cant financial difficulties, payment delays and neglect can be con-
sidered as such objective evidence. 

Impairment loss on trade receivables is recognized if there is ob-
jective evidence that a receivable will not be fully recovered. Objec-
tive evidence on impairment of trade and other receivables include, 
amongst others, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, and 
the neglect of payment due dates and payments. An impairment 
loss from trade receivables is recognized in consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income under other operating expenses.

The impairment of the financial assets measured at amortized 
cost is determined by the difference in the present value between 
the carrying amount of the financial asset at issue and the dis-
counted future cash flows. Original effective interest rate is used in 
discounting. For items measured at fair value, the fair value deter-
mines the amount of impairment. The impairment losses on finan-
cial assets are recognized through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is recognized initially at fair value. In the case of 
a financial liability measured at amortized cost, directly attributable 
transaction costs are included in the original cost. Tikkurila classifies 
financial liabilities either as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss or other liabilities (financial liabilities measured at am-
ortized cost). Financial liabilities are classified as current if the Group 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the li-
ability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
The Group removes a financial liability (or a part of it) from its state-
ment of financial position only when it is extinguished, i.e. when 
the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled 
or expired. All purchases or sales of financial liabilities are recog-
nized or derecognized using trade date accounting.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include deriva-
tives not fulfilling the criteria set for hedge accounting. Financial lia-
bilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. 
Fair value changes, both realized and unrealized, are recognized in 
profit or loss in the period in which they arise and they are included 
in financial income or financial expenses. In the statement of finan-
cial position, derivative receivables and liabilities are shown under 
accrued income and deferred expenses and accrued expenses and 

deferred income. The Group had no derivative liabilities in the finan-
cial year 2009. During 2010, the Group has signed derivative agree-
ments (Note 34). 

Other financial liabilities
This category includes e.g. the Group’s non-current and current 
interest-bearing financial liabilities and trade payables. Other finan-
cial liabilities are measured fair value based on the consideration re-
ceived when the loan is withdrawn including the transaction costs. 
Later the liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effec-
tive interest rate method. 

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construc-
tion or production of a qualifying asset under IAS 23 Borrowing 
costs, are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. All other bor-
rowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that incurs in connection 
with the borrowing of funds. Tikkurila Group has not had such ac-
quired assets with capitalized borrowing costs in the financial years 
2010 and 2009.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
A provision is recognized when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable  
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount of the obligation can be determined reliably.  
A restructuring provision is recognized only if a detailed and appro-
priate plan has been prepared for it and the plan’s implementation 
has begun or it has been notified to those whom the restructuring 
concerns.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of 
the reporting period. If the time value of money is material, provi-
sions will be discounted. If it is possible to receive compensation for 
part of the obligation from a third party, the compensation is recog-
nized as a separate asset, but only when receipt of the compensa-
tion is virtually certain.

Contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past 
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occur-
rence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the entity. Existing obligation that 
probably does not require a settlement or which amount cannot be 
reliably measured, is also considered a contingent liability. Contin-
gent liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Related party transactions
Tikkurila Group has defined the related party relationships with 
separate internal instructions so that the related parties include for 
instance Tikkurila Oyj’s members of Board of Directors, members of 
Board committees and group management, the company’s auditor, 
the members of Board of Directors and management of the Group 
subsidiaries and the entities of control and influence of the above 
mentioned persons. 

In addition, associates in which the Group’s holding is 20–50% 
also belong to related parties. In particular in SBU Scandinavia’s 
market area, the Group has had substantial cooperation with its as-
sociate due to a distribution channel concept that differs from the 
other market areas. The technical implementation of this has been 
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changed from the beginning of 2010 so that Group invoicing has 
gone directly to the associate in question. This affects the compa-
rability of the financial years 2009 and 2010 in terms of related party 
transactions.

The related party transactions are presented in a separate note. 
Until the spring of 2010, Tikkurila Group had considerable related 
party transactions with its former parent company Kemira Oyj or 
companies belonging to the Kemira Group. Even after the spring of 
2010, Kemira Oyj has owned 14.0% of Tikkurila Oyj, so Kemira Oyj is 
one of Tikkurila’s main shareholders.

Segment reporting
The Group changed its organizational structure on December 31, 
2009 so that the former product group based business model 
was turned into a geographical structure and matrix organization 
model. The Group has in its internal and external reporting for the 
financial year 2010 and retroactively also for 2009, started using the 
following four reporting segments, that are based on the strategic 
business units (“SBU”) of the organization structure:
•	 SBU East
•	 SBU Scandinavia
•	 SBU Finland
•	 SBU Central Eastern Europe
Business operations that do not belong to the above mentioned 
segments and that are costs by nature and have little significance, 
are related to the Group’s and parent company’s administration and 
are presented under the item “Tikkurila Common”.

Government grants
Tikkurila has not received any considerable government grants. Indi-
vidual subsidies of expense compensation type, for instance related 
to training that have been granted by institutions under public law or 
their related parties are treated as cost adjustments.

Operating profit
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements does not specify the con-
cept of operating profit. Tikkurila Group has defined it as follows: 
operating profit is the net amount that comprises of the revenue 
added with other operating income and deducted by purchase 
cost adjusted with change in inventories, personnel expenses, de-
preciation, amortization and possible impairment losses and other 
operating expenses.

Non-recurring items
Tikkurila Group states separately non-recurring items in its consoli-
dated statement of other comprehensive income. These are un-
common, non-recurring and significant items related to the com-
pany’s normal operations. Such items include for instance received 
insurance compensations and their adjustments, received or paid 
penalties or their adjustments, or items related to business reorga-
nizations such as items related to personnel dismissals.

The effect of these non-recurring items on the Group’s operating 
profit has been excluded when the company has during 2010 is-
sued information regarding its operating profit development com-
pared to the previous financial year. Correspondingly, the foreign 
currency translation differences have not been considered when 
comparing revenue and operating profit of two financial years be-
cause a majority of Tikkurila’s business is carried out outside the 
euro area and is thus subject to exchange rate fluctuations.

Equity
Ordinary shares are presented as equity. The expenses relating an is-
sue or acquisition of equity instruments are presented as a deduct-
ible item of equity. If own shares are reacquired, the acquisition cost 
including the direct costs related to the acquisition is deducted 
from equity. The dividend distribution proposal made by the Board 
of Directors to the AGM is not recorded in the financial statements 
before the company’s shareholders have confirmed it at the AGM.

Adopting new and amended  
IFRS standards and interpretations
The IASB has issued the following new standards, interpretations 
and their amendments that Tikkurila Group has not yet adopted. The 
Group will adopt them as of the effective date or, if the date is other 
than the first day of the financial year, from the beginning of the 
subsequent financial year.

Standard amendments approved in the EU
•	Amendments to IAS 32 Financial instruments: Presenta-

tion - Classification of Rights Issues (effective on financial 
years beginning on or after February 1, 2010). The amend-
ment relates to the accounting treatment (classification) 
of rights issues of shares, options or warrants in a currency 
other than the issuer’s functional currency. The amend-
ment is not expected to have an effect on the Group’s 
forthcoming financial statements.

•	 Revised IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (effective for fi-
nancial years that started on January 1, 2011 or later). The 
changes simplify the related party disclosure require-
ments for government related entities and clarify the defi-
nition of a related party. The amendment is not expected 
to have an effect on the Group’s forthcoming financial 
statements.

•	Amendments to IFRIC 14 – Prepayments of a Minimum 
Funding Requirement (effective for financial years begin-
ning on or after January 1, 2011). The amendment results in 
fixing an undesired effect as a result of the interpretation  
IFRIC 14 IAS 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Mini-
mum Funding and the connection between these. The 
amendment results in prepayments of contributions in cer-
tain circumstances being recognized as an asset rather than 
an expense, when there is a minimum funding requirement 
(MFR). The amendment is not expected to have an effect on 
the Group’s forthcoming financial statements.

•	 IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instru-
ments (effective for financial years beginning on or after 
July 1, 2010). The interpretation provides guidance on ac-
counting for debt for equity swaps, e.g. when equity in-
struments are issued to a creditor to extinguish all or a 
part of a financial liability. IFRIC 19 applies retrospectively. 
The amendment is not expected to have an effect on the 
Group’s forthcoming financial statements.

 
Amended standards that have not yet been approved to be applied 
in the EU.
•	 Improvements to IFRSs (May 2010) (mainly effective for fi-

nancial years that started on July 1, 2010 or later). The amend-
ments cover in total 6 standards and one interpretation. The 
amendments are not expected to have a significant effect 
on the Group’s forthcoming financial statements. 
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•	 In December 2010 the IASB has published an amendment 
proposal for IAS 12 – Income Taxes. (effective for financial 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2012). The amend-
ment applies to the recognition of deferred taxes in con-
nection with investment properties. The presumption is 
that the recovery of the carrying amount for investment 
properties will, normally, be through sale and that a dif-
ferent tax rate will be applied to the deferred tax from 
changes in the fair value of investment properties than 
the income tax rate. The amendment is not expected to 
have an effect on the Group’s forthcoming financial state-
ments. 

•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for financial years 
that started on January, 1 2013 or later) IFRS 9 is the first 
stage in IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instru-
ments: Recognition and Measurement. The new standard 
covers classification and measurement of financial assets. 
The different measurement methods have been retained. 
Financial assets are divided into two main groups based 
on their measurement: those measured at amortized cost 
and those measured at fair value. The classification de-
pends on the company’s business model and on the char-
acteristics of cash flows based on agreement. All other IAS 
39 instructions regarding impairment and hedge account-
ing of financial assets remain valid. In October 2010, IASB 
complemented the IFRS 9 standard by adding require-
ments for derecognition of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. IAS 39 accordant requirements for classification 
and derecognition of financial liabilities remain intact. The 
amendment to the measuring of financial liabilities ap-
plied to financial liabilities to which the fair value option is 
applied. The changes in fair value caused by these amend-
ments to the credit risk are recognized in the Group’s 
other comprehensive income and they would not be rec-
ognized through profit or loss at a later stage either. This 
is the case unless it causes bookkeeping asymmetry that 
affects the result. The company management has not yet 
assessed the effect these amendments will have on the 
Group. 

2.  Critical accounting  
estimates requiring 
management’s judgement

The preparation of financial statements requires management to 
make future estimates and assumptions. Actual results may dif-
fer from these estimates and assumptions. In addition, manage-
ment uses judgement in applying the accounting principles and in 
choosing the applicable accounting policies, if IFRSs allow alterna-
tive methods. These estimates and assumptions and their applica-
tion affect the income and expenses of the financial period and this 
result of the financial period, the assets and liabilities reported in 
the closing date and the conditional assets and liabilities presented 
in the notes. Revisions to accounting estimates and assumptions 
are recognized in the period in which the estimates and assump-
tions are revised and in all subsequent period.

The estimates made in context of the preparation of financial 
statements are based on management’s best judgement at the end 
of the reporting period. These judgments are made on the grounds 
of prior experiences and the most probable future assumptions at 
the end of the reporting period. Assumptions have been made for 
example of the effects that the economical development concern-
ing the Group’s line of business has on sale and cost level. The real-
ization of the estimates and assumptions are monitored continu-
ously. The items that are mostly associated with uncertainties are 
presented below.

By the time of the publication of the financial statements the 
Group is not aware of such major sources of estimation uncertain-
ty at the end of the reporting period nor of such key assumptions 
concerning the future that might have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

Impairment of asset and estimates  
related to asset valuation
The impairment test of goodwill and other assets involves deter-
mining future cash flows which, with regard to the most significant 
assumptions, are based on gross margin levels, discount rates and 
the projected time period, as well as the growth rate assumptions 
for the time after the time period which affects the so-called termi-
nal value. Major adverse developments in cash flows and individual 
components of discount rate such as interest rate levels, risk premi-
ums or financial structure, may lead to the recognition of an impair-
ment loss. The sensitivity analysis connected to impairment testing 
is presented in Note 17 of the consolidated financial statements. The 
Group recognized no impairment of non-current assets in the fi-
nancial years 2009 and 2010.

In impairment testing the management has to estimate the in-
dication of impairment using both external sources (like market re-
ports, cost development, interest rate levels) and internal sources 
(like obsolete of inventories, decisions on changes to the product 
selection). When analysing these sources and information and mak-
ing conclusions, estimates are used.

Valuation of inventory requires some management assessment. 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. 
When determining the net realizable value the estimated selling 
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price less the estimated direct costs needed to complete the sale 
and estimated costs required to finish the product are defined. 
When the carrying amount of inventory exceeds the net realization 
value an impairment of inventory is recognized. 

Impairment is recognized for trade receivables if the manage-
ment estimates that the carrying amount of the receivable does 
not correspond with its fair value. Indications of a possible impair-
ment of trade receivables include the debtor’s considerable finan-
cial difficulties, delayed payments and neglected payments.

The management also uses estimates when determining the 
useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
for Tikkurila Group. If the useful life differs from the original estimate 
the annual amortization, depreciation is adjusted or impairment is 
recorded.

Business combinations
In business combinations the net identifiable assets of the acquired 
companies are measured at fair value. Taking into account Tikkurila 
Group’s geographical operating area and the nature of its opera-
tions, it is possible that the fair value of the acquired companies or 
business operations and the related assets and liabilities cannot be 
reliably determined and that the value determination involves a lot 
of estimated items. In the case of a major acquisition, the estimated 
fair values of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
acquired and their estimated useful lives may have a significant ef-
fect on Tikkurila’s result and statement of financial position. The net 
assets acquired in business combinations are disclosed in Note 4 
Business combinations.

If the Group plans to divest a business operation or sell some as-
set items, the management has to use consideration in determin-
ing how to classify the asset items as in the statement of financial 
position and make the assumptions of their value, also taking into 
consideration for instance the estimated likelihood of the planned 
sale and the time of completion.

Provisions
A provision is recognized when the company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obliga-
tion. A provision can be recognized when the amount of the obli-
gation can be determined reliably. Recognizing provisions requires 
the management’s estimates, since the precise euro amount of 
obligations related to provisions is not known when preparing the 
financial statements. If the management estimates that no prob-
able payment obligation arises the item is presented as a contin-
gent liability in the financial statements. On the closing date, De-
cember 31, 2010, the provisions amounted to EUR 0.5 million. The 
corresponding figure in the 2009 financial statements was EUR 0.8 
million. A majority of these provisions were related to environmen-
tal provisions.

Income taxes
For the recognition of deferred tax assets on tax losses and other 
items, management assesses the probability of a future taxable 
profit against which tax assets can be utilized. The Group has sub-
sidiaries in several countries with different types of tax regulations. 
Estimating the total amount of income taxes at Group level requires 
significant consideration. Actual profits may differ from the fore-
casts and, in such case, the change will affect the taxes in future pe-
riods. The amount of deferred taxes in the 2010 financial statements 

was EUR 3.7 million and the amount of confirmed tax losses carried 
forward from prior periods for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognized was EUR 4.3 million.

Pension obligations
In connection with the Group’s defined benefit pension plans, the 
management has to estimate the liability (or receivable) recognized 
in the statement of financial position so that several estimates have 
to be made in terms of the present value calculation applied and to 
determine actuarial items. Assumptions include the discount rates 
used to measure assets and liabilities related to the plans, wage in-
crease assumptions and life expectations. Some of the estimates 
used in the calculation are based on information from external ac-
tuaries. The actual outcome may differ from the original estimates 
and assumptions and these are recognized in terms of defined ben-
efit pension plans as actuarial gains and losses using the corridor 
method over the average remaining working lives of the participat-
ing employees.
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3. Operating segments

Tikkurila’s business activities are organized in four reporting seg-
ments based on its strategy to be a strong regional player in Europe 
and its neighboring areas. The discrepancy of these operating envi-
ronments and overall management’s strategies of the Group have 
been taken into account while establishing these reporting seg-
ments. Revenue arises from the sales of various paints that are sold 
to retailers, industry and for professional use. Some insignificant rev-
enue is received from the sales of auxiliary services related to paints. 
Common administrative items and Treasury function transactions 
of the Group are presented as Tikkurila common section. 

The evaluation of profitability and decision making concerning 

resource allocation are based on segmental operating profit. The 
valuation principles concerning segments assets and liabilities are 
disclosed in Note 1 Accounting policies for the consolidated finan-
cial statements. Segment assets are items of the statement of finan-
cial position that the segment employs in its business activities or 
which can reasonably be allocated to a segment. Segment assets 
and external revenue are presented according to the location of 
the assets and customer. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an 
arm’s length basis. External revenue accumulates from large num-
ber of customers.

Operating segments East** Scandinavia* Finland Central Eastern 
Europe***

Tikkurila 
Common Elimination Total

2010 (EUR thousand)

External revenue 194,549 181,762 107,176 105,160 - - 588,647

Depreciation and amortization 6,571 6,004 3,681 4,405 - - 20,661

Operating profit (loss) 24,129 21,302 13,643 4,387 -2,704 - 60,757

Non-allocated items

   Financial income 8,536

   Financial expenses -17,211

Share of profit or loss of associates -87

Profit before tax 51,995

Segment assets 117,430 161,030 82,673 70,894 68,758 -38,486 462,299

Investments in associates 668

Capital expenditure 4,502 2,290 2,152 2,164 - - 11,108

2009 (EUR thousand)

External revenue 167,109 157,774 106,809 98,474 - - 530,166

Depreciation and amortization 5,022 5,377 3,811 4,520 - 50 18,780

Operating profit (loss) 17,748 15,722 12,205 5,045 -2,235 -770 47,715

Non-allocated items

   Financial income 1,098

   Financial expenses -13,146

Share of profit or loss of associates 75

Profit before tax 35,742

Segment assets 108,702 139,900 79,212 77,486 - -2,191 403,109

Investments in associates 774

Capital expenditure 9,653 3,143 2,079 2,316 - - 17,191

* Sweden, Norway, Denmark
** Russia, Kazakhstan, Belarus, Ukraine, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia, Mongolia, Moldova, Kirgistan, Tadzikistan, Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan
*** Poland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, China, Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania, Germany,  Slovakia and export activity to other countries than mentioned above
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2010 2009

East 1,674 1,653

Scandinavia 473 485

Finland 766 808

Central Eastern Europe 755 779

Tikkurila common 35 32

Total 3,703 3,757

Personnel by segments during the period, average

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Russia 172,785 149,330

Sweden 147,071 127,487

Finland 107,176 106,809

Poland 58,686 52,824

Other countries 102,929 93,716

Total 588,647 530,166

Revenue, by destination

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Russia 59,629 59,432

Sweden 91,344 89,931

Finland 32,022 36,222

Poland 11,716 11,977

Other countries 19,623 20,043

Total 214,334 217,605

*) Non-current assets consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and 
investments in associates.

Non-current assets by geographical location *)

4. Business combinations

Acquisitions 2010
Tikkurila had no business combinations in 2010.

Final purchase price allocation of Tikkurila JUB Romania s.r.l.
The final purchase price allocation shows a negative goodwill of 
EUR 52,000, of which EUR 32,000 was recognized as income in the 
year 2009 and EUR 20,000 in the year 2010. Both items have been 
presented as other operating income. No expenses were related to 
this acquisition. All cash flows related to this acquisition occurred in 
the year 2009.
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(EUR thousand) Fair values recognized 
on business combinations

Carrying amounts prior 
to business combinations

Intangible assets 3 3

Property, plant and equipment 91 91

Inventories 269 269

Trade and other receivables 242 242

Cash and cash equivalents 46 46

Total assets 651 651

Other liabilities 509 509

Total liabilities 509 509

Acquisition cost was EUR 110 thousand and it was settled in cash. 
Negative goodwill of EUR 32 thousand arising from the acquisition 
was recognized as income immediately and it is presented as other 
operating income. No expenses were related to this acquisition. 
Negative goodwill was mainly due to the uncertainty that related to 
the receivables at the acquisition date. The purchase price acquisi-
tion was determined provisionally, as the fair values of the trade re-
ceivable and the final purchase price was confirmed in 2010.

(EUR thousand) Fair values recognized 
on business combinations

Carrying amounts prior 
to business combinations

Intangible assets 3 3

Property, plant and equipment 91 91

Inventories 269 269

Trade and other receivables 242 242

Cash and cash equivalents 46 46

Total assets 651 651

Other liabilities 509 509

Total liabilities 509 509

Net assets 142

Cost of business combination 90

Goodwill -52

Total acquisition cost 90

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries acquired -46

Cash outflow on acquisition 44

Disposals 2010
There were no disposals during the financial period 2010.

Acquisitions 2009
Tikkurila JUB Romania s.r.l. and the non-controlling  
interest of Dickursby Holding AB -group

Tikkurila Oyj acquired rest 50% of the share capital of Tikkurila JUB Ro-
mania s.r.l. on September 1, 2009. The acquired company was previ-
ously a joint venture with Slovenian paint company JUB. Tikkurila JUB 
Romania s.r.l. was established in May 2008 to take care marketing, sales 
and distribution of consumer and industrial paints of Tikkurila and JUB.

The final purchase price allocation is presented below:
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The effect of business combinations on  
revenue and net profit for the period
The effect of the acquisition of Tikkurila JUB Romania into the rev-
enue during September – December 2009 was EUR 63 thousand 
and the effect of the acquisition on operating profit was EUR -205 
thousand. 

Tikkurila’s revenue during 1 January – 31 December 2009 would 
have been EUR 530.4 million and net profit for the period EUR 47.5 
million, had the acquisition been made at January 1, 2009.

The acquisition of a non-controlling interest  
of Dickursby Holding AB
Tikkurila Oyj acquired the 30% non-controlling interest of the 
Swedish Dickursby Holding AB and its subsidiaries on May 15, 2009. 
Prior to the acquisition, Tikkurila’s ownership of Dickursby Hold-
ing was 70%, as purchased in 2007. Subsidiaries’ current names are 
OOO Tikkurila Powder Coatings and OOO Gamma Industrial Coat-
ings. Acquisition cost was EUR 2.5 million. No notes according to 
IFRS 3 are disclosed of this acquisition as it is not within the scope 
of the acquisitions as defined in IFRS 3.

Disposals 2009
There were no disposals during the financial period 2009.

5.  Supplementary cash flow information  
from business combinations

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Acquisition cost - 110

Cash and cash equivalents at acquisition date - -46

Cash flow on acquisition net of cash acquired - 64

Paid for prior year acquisitions - -1,172

Unpaid at December 31 - 20

Cash outflow - 1,216

Acquired assets and liabilities

Net working capital - -34

PPE* and intangible assets - 62

Other non-interest-bearing receivables - 36

Total net assets and liabilities of acquired subsidiaries - 64

* Property, plant and equipment

Acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries

Net assets 142

Cost of business combination 110

Goodwill -32

Total acquisition cost 110

Unpaid at 31 Dec 2009 -20

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries acquired -46

Cash outflow on acquisition 44
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7. Other operating income
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Gains on sale of non-current assets 87 55

Gains on sale of available-for-sale financial assets 42 -

Insurance compensation 1,522 -

Rental income 1,148 1,063

Other income from operations 226 333

Total 3,025 1,451

Gains on sales of non-current assets in 2010 and 2009 consist mainly of sales of machinery and equipment. Rental income is received 
mainly from leasing of premises. Insurance compensation consists mainly of compensation related to OOO Tikkurila warehouse fire.

8. Personnel expenses
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Emoluments of Board of Directors and 
Managing Directors -2,680 -3,221

Wages and salaries -85,426 -75,846

Pension expenses for defined contribu-
tion plans -12,945 -11,992

Pension expenses for defined benefit 
plans -1,091 -1,395

Other personnel expenses -10,967 -9,744

Total -113,109 -102,198

Emoluments of Boards of Directors and CEO of Tikkurila Oyj are dis-
closed in Note 38 Related parties.
Pension expenses for defined benefit plans are disclosed in Note 31 
Pension obligations.

Personnel, average 2010 2009

Personnel in Finland, average 800 839

Personnel outside Finland, average 2,903 2,918

Total 3,703 3,757

Personnel at year-end 3,468 3,538

Average number of personnel in joint ventures was 6 (6).
Group’s personnel by segments is disclosed in Note 3 Operating 

segments.

6. Assets held for sale

Tikkurila Group has classified the assets and liabilities of OOO Tik-
kurila Powder Coatings as held for sale. OOO Tikkurila Powder Coat-
ings sells and markets its products in Russia under the Ohtek brand. 
Company’s production plant is located in St. Petersburg. The rev-
enue of OOO Tikkurila Powder Coatings was EUR 2.4 million in 2010, 
and the company employed some 50 people. Tikkurila Oyj’s Swed-
ish subsidiary Dickursby Holding AB signed at December 2010 the 
agreement to sell the whole 100 percent of the shares of OOO Tik-

Assets classified as held for sale (EUR thousand)

Intangible assets 1,287

Property plant and equipment 460

Inventories 265

Trade receivables and other interest-free receivables 258

Cash and cash equivalents 167

Total 2,437

Liabilities classified as held for sale (EUR thousand)

Deferred tax liabilities 238

Current interest-bearing liabilities 110

Trade and other payables 379

Total 727

kurila Powder Coatings to Teknos Group Oy. The result of OOO Tik-
kurila Powder Coatings was consolidated in the Group until the end 
of November. Transaction was subject to approval of the competi-
tion authorities and this transaction was completed on January 26, 
2011. 

Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amounts and fair value less costs to sell.

Tikkurila did not have any assets held for sale in year 2009.
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9. Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Depreciation and amortization

Intangible assets -5,195 -4,614

Property, plant and equipment*

Buildings and constructions -4,255 -3,984

Machinery and equipment -10,045 -9,643

Other property, plant and equipment -1,166 -539

Total -20,661 -18,780

No impairment losses were recognized of PPE* or intangible assets during the year 2010 or 2009.

10. Other operating expenses

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Rents -12,483 -10,855

Other voluntary personnel expenses -3,736 -1,903

Sales and marketing -27,613 -25,836

Repair and maintenance -6,139 -5,201

IT and communication -3,269 -4,891

Freights for goods sold -15,349 -14,029

Professional fees -4,040 -4,430

Transportation and travel -5,675 -4,859

Energy, heating and water -5,235 -5,084

Insurances excl. personnel insurances -1,168 -1,273

Office expenses -1,696 -1,894

Representation and membership fees -2,283 -2,111

External services -8,285 -7,704

Authority fees and environmental tax -2,076 -1,487

Credit losses, storage and processing expenses for the products -4,979 -5,302

Other expenses -3,940 -7,489

Total -107,966 -104,348

Audit fees:

KPMG -417 -313

Other audit firms -110 -51

Tax advisory, KPMG -61 -64

Tax advisory, other audit firms -17 -18

Other services, KPMG -313 -87

Other services, other audit firms -156 -28

Total -1,074 -561



85tikkurila 2010  |  notes to consolidated financial statements

12. Financial income and expenses

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Financial income

Dividend income from available-for-sale financial assets 62 61

Interest income from loans and other receivables 527 849

Interest income from assets at fair value through profit or loss 801 -

Exchange rate gains 

  Exchange rate gains from finanical assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,563 -

  Exchange rate gains from loans and other receivables 1,747 165

  Exchange rate gains from financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 832 7

Other financial income 4 16

Total 8,536 1,098

Financial expenses

Interest expenses from financial liabilities measured at amortized cost -7,167 -12,751

Interest expenses from financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -1,341 -

Exchange rate losses

  Exchange rate losses from financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -5,133 -

  Exchange rate losses from loans and other receivables -2,145 -30

  Exchange rate losses from financial liabilities measured at amortized cost -371 -192

Other financial expenses -1,054 -173

Total -17,211 -13,146

Total financial income and expenses -8,675 -12,048

Interest income include interests from Kemira Plc in total of EUR 0.1 (0.5) million.
Interest expenses include interests to Kemira Plc and Kemira International Finance BV in total of EUR 1.4 (11.6) million.
Other financial expenses include expenses to Kemira Plc in total of EUR 0.0 (17) thousand.
Other related party transactions with Kemira Group companies are presented in Note 38.

11.  Research and development expenses

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Research and development expenses total -10,155 -10,058

Research and development expenses consist mainly of wages and salaries and other employee benefits. 
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2010 2009

Net financial expenses as a percentage of revenue 1.5 2.3

Net interests as a percentage of revenue 1.1 2.2

(EUR thousand)

Exchange rate gains and losses in financing items

Realized 195 31

Unrealized -702 -81

Total -507 -50

Exchange rate gains and losses in operating profit

Revenue -345 175

Materials and services 714 -751

Total 369 -576

13. Income taxes

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Current income tax charge -15,360 -8,077

Adjustments for prior years -464 -431

Deferred taxes 353 556

Total -15,471 -7,952

Income taxes recognized in other comprehensive income

Deferred taxes

  Available-for-sale financial assets, fair value changes -475 -

Current taxes

  Net investment in foreign operations -32 -

Total income taxes recognized in other comprehensive income -507 -

Reconciliation of taxes calculated according to the enacted tax rate with taxes in the statement of comprehensive income:

Taxes at enacted tax rates by countries -12,370 -8,714

Tax-exempt income 193 1,668

Non-deductible expenditure -1,441 -1,287

Effect of changes in tax rates -11 -

Used tax losses, previously unrecognized 52 20

Tax losses carried forward -400 -438

Taxes from previous financial years -464 899

Changes to carrying amounts of deferred tax assets related to previous years -389 -

Other items -641 -100

Total taxes in the statement of comprehensive income -15,471 -7,952

Tax rate has changed in Hungary during the years 2010 and 2009. In Hungary, the tax rate decreased from 19% to 10%.
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15. Property, plant and equipment

(EUR thousand)
Land 

and 
water

Buildings and 
constructions 

Machinery 
and equip-

ment

Other property, 
plant and 

equipment*

Prepayments 
and non-current 

assets under 
construction

2010 
Total

Acquisition cost at Jan 1, 2010 7,578 115,193 164,293 6,549 3,753 297,366

Other increases - 857 7,073 1,099 867 9,896

Other decreases - -28 -2,707 -84 -20 -2,839

Other changes / transfer held for sale assets - -451 -234 - - -685

Reclassifications 252 92 90 425 -608 251

Exchange rate differences 324 3,614 5,726 240 212 10,116

Cost at Dec 31, 2010 8,154 119,277 174,241 8,229 4,204 314,105

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  
losses at Jan 1, 2010 - -63,381 -116,400 -2,728 - -182,509

Accumulated depreciation relating to decreases 
and transfers - 24 2,383 53 - 2,460

Depreciation during the financial year - -4,255 -10,045 -1,166 - -15,466

Other changes / transfer held for sale assets - 136 146 -56 - 226

Exchange rate differences - -937 -3,102 -42 - -4,081

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  
losses at Dec 31, 2010

- -68,413 -127,018 -3,939 - -199,370

Net carrying amount at Jan 1, 2010 7,578 51,812 47,893 3,821 3,753 114,857

Net carrying amount at Dec 31, 2010 8,154 50,864 47,223 4,290 4,204 114,736

14. Earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to owners of the parent company and a weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding, calculated as follows:

2010 2009

Profit for the period attributable to the owners of the parent, EUR thousand 36,524 27,759

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (1000) 44,108 44,108*)

Basic earnings per share (EUR/share) 0.83 0.63

*) Due to comparability the earnings per share is calculated as per the number of shares (44 108 252) after the February 17, 2010 registered free share issue. 

Tikkurila Oyj has one class of shares that has no nominal value. The number of shares was 1,025,000 at the beginning of year 2010 and at 
end of the reporting period 2010 44,108,252. In 2009 the amount of shares was 1,025,000 during the whole year. Dilutive effects didn’t exist 
in either year.
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*Other property, plant and equipment include for example shelters and pavements. 

Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment is disclosed in Note 37 Contingent 
assets and liabilities and contractual commitments.

Assets leased under finance leases

Property, plant and equipment include assets leased under finance lease as follows:

(EUR thousand) Machinery and 
equipment 

Motor  
vehicles Total

Dec 31, 2010

Acquisition cost 412 1,078 1,490

Accumulated depreciation 200 862 1,062

Net carrying amount 212 216 428

Dec 31, 2009

Acquisition cost 147 1,328 1,475

Accumulated depreciation 139 767 906

Net carrying amount 8 561 569

(EUR thousand) Land and 
water

Buildings and 
constructions 

Machinery 
and equip-

ment

Other property, 
plant and 

equipment*

Prepayments 
and non-current 

assets under 
construction

2009 
Total

Acquisition cost at Jan 1, 2009 7,408 96,279 155,344 4,271 24,141 287,443

Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 91 - - 91

Other increases 218 18,492 10,571 1,082 -18,357 12,006

Other decreases - -111 -2,651 -50 - -2,812

Other changes - - - - -739 -739

Reclassifications - -434 -886 1,320 - -

Exchange rate differences -48 967 1,824 -74 -1,292 1,377

Cost at Dec 31, 2009 7,578 115,193 164,293 6,549 3,753 297,366

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses at Jan 1, 2009 - -59,202 -107,742 -2,250 - -169,194

Accumulated depreciation relating to de-
creases and transfers - 104 2,203 44 - 2,351

Depreciation during the financial year - -3,984 -9,845 -539 - -14,368

Exchange rate differences - -299 -1,016 17 - -1,298

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses at Dec 31, 2009 - -63,381 -116,400 -2,728 - -182,509

Net carrying amount at Jan 1, 2009 7,408 37,077 47,602 2,021 24,141 118,249

Net carrying amount at Dec 31, 2009 7,578 51,812 47,893 3,821 3,753 114,857
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(EUR thousand) Goodwill
Other 

intangible 
assets

Development 
costs Prepayments 2009 

Total

Acquisition cost at Jan 1, 2009 68,076 55,879 - 597 124,552

Acquisition of subsidiaries 404 1,998 - - 2,402

Other increases - 1,015 - 554 1,569

Other decreases - -9 - - -9

Exchange rate differences -219 -414 - 19 -614

Cost at Dec 31, 2009 68,261 58,469 - 1,170 127,900

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses at Jan 1, 2009 - -21,174 - - -21,174

Accumulated amortization relating to decreases and transfers - 5 - - 5

Amortization during the financial year - -4,614 - - -4,614

Exchange rate differences - -143 - - -143

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses at Dec 31, 2009 - -25,926 - - -25,926

Net carrying amount at Jan 1, 2009 68,076 34,705 - 597 103,378

Net carrying amount at Dec 31, 2009 68,261 32,543 - 1,170 101,974

The carrying amounts of investments in associates in 2010 or 2009 do not include goodwill. The Group did not have intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives. 

Other intangible assets include trademarks and -names acquired in business combinations in total of EUR 19.1 million (2009: EUR 21.3 mil-
lion), as well as marketing channels and customer connections acquired in business combinations in total of EUR 3.3 million (2009: EUR 4.2 
million). Other intangible assets include also carrying amount of Enterprise Resource Planning -program (M3) total of EUR 3.2 million ( 2009: 
EUR 4.2 million).

16. Intangible assets

(EUR thousand) Goodwill
Other 

intangible 
assets

Development 
costs Prepayments 2010 

Total

Acquisition cost at Jan 1, 2010 68,261 58,469 - 1,170 127,900

Other increases - 1,435 - -53 1,382

Other decreases - -637 - - -637

Other changes / transfer to held for sale assets -342 -1,332 - - -1,674

Exchange rate differences 467 2,119 - 48 2,634

Cost at Dec 31, 2010 68,386 60,054 - 1,165 129,605

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses at Jan 1, 2010 - -25,926 - - -25,926

Accumulated amortization relating to decreases and transfers - 513 - - 513

Amortization during the financial year - -5,195 - - -5,195

Other changes / transfer to held for sale assets - 387 - - 387

Exchange rate differences - -453 - - -453

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses at Dec 31, 2010 - -30,674 - - -30,674

Net carrying amount at Jan 1, 2010 68,261 32,543 - 1,170 101,974

Net carrying amount at Dec 31, 2010 68,386 29,379 - 1,165 98,930
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17. Impairment test

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and always when 
there is an indication that goodwill or any other asset may be im-
paired. Impairment tests are performed by comparing the carrying 
amounts of those cash generating units that include goodwill with 
their expected recoverable amounts. An impairment loss is recog-
nized if the recoverable amount of the asset is less than its carrying 
amount. The recoverable amount is measured at value in use by 
discounting the estimated future cash flows using the Discounted 

Cash Flow (DCF) method.
In the impairment testing Tikkurila’s operating segments (see 

Note 3) also form the cash-generating units. Operating segments in 
Tikkurila are also referred as Strategic Business Units (SBUs). Good-
will has been allocated to the following cash generating units: 
Scandinavia, East and Central Eastern Europe.

The carrying amounts of the tested units and goodwill are pre-
sented below:

Cash-generating units: 2010 2009

(EUR thousand) Carrying amount of which Goodwill Carrying amount of which Goodwill

Finland 33,120 - 35,951 -

Scandinavia 107,406 61,719 91,877 61,621

East 94,315 6,217 61,260 6,193

Central Eastern Europe 47,688 450 24,807 447

Annually, close the end of the summer season, during the strategic 
analysis, Tikkurila Management Board and members of Board of Di-
rectors define the objectives for the next three years. The strategic 
analysis takes into account information from external sources that 
relates to the future and past development of the macroeconomic 
conditions, demand of paints, clients and competitors in the geo-
graphical areas. These objectives are later on approved by Tikku-
rila’s Board of Directors. The Strategic Business unit cash flow fore-
casts over a three year period are a result of this process. These cash 
flows are used in impairment tests. Capital expenditure for expan-
sion investments have not been taken into account in these esti-
mates. The terminal value is the net present value of the third year’s 
estimate that has been extrapolated by using zero growth. 

The discount rate used varies between 8.6%–16.8% depending 
on the cash-generating unit in 2010. The discount rates are defined 
as WACC (weighted average cost of capital) which reflects the total 
cost of equity and debt while taking the specific risks involving the 
assets into consideration.

The cash flows and discount rates are determined before taxes.  

Significant assumptions and sensitivity  
analysis of the impairment tests
The forecasted cash flows reflect the Tikkurila management’s per-
ception of the development in sales and costs during the three 
year’s forecast period. The significant assumptions used in the im-
pairment tests relate thus to the development of sales and profit-
ability that are change in revenue and change in the EBITDA. The 
significant assumptions relating to the discount rate are risk-free in-
terest, capital structure and beta coefficient. 

In 2010 impairment test, the pace of the growth of revenue is ex-
pected to stabilize during the forecasting period from 2011 to 2013, 

compared to the previous years development. The greatest growth 
is further expected in the SBU CEE. The raw material prices are ex-
pected to increase at the same pace as during the previous years.  
The raw material price fluctuations, however, are expected to be 
much stronger as in history. The cut down of fixed costs is expected 
to improve profitability. 

In 2009 impairment test, revenue during forecasting period from 
2010 to 2012 was expected to be on lower level compared to the histor-
ical development for segments Finland and Scandinavia. This was due 
to Tikkurila’s strong market position there. In segments East and CEE 
revenue was expected to grow due to good business area forecasts es-
pecially in the SBU East. The profitability was expected to increase from 
the previous years, mainly because of the measures taken to improve 
efficiency. 

The main assumptions relating to the discount rates are based 
on the same principles each year, but the values of the key assump-
tions are defined separately for each SBU and for each testing pe-
riod in order to reflect the corresponding market information. The 
discount rates have been changed mainly due to the changes in 
the main assumptions underlying them, which are risk free rate, 
capital structure and Beta coefficient. The decrease in the inter-
est rate in SBU East from 2008 to 2009 is mainly caused by the de-
crease in the risk-free interest rate and cost of debt. The increase in 
the interest rate in SBU Central Eastern Europe from 2009 to 2010 is 
mainly caused by the increase in the risk-free interest rate and Beta 
coefficient. The average market-based ratio between equity and li-
abilities of benchmark companies and the branch is considered as 
capital structure. 
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The sensitivity analysis was performed for growth, profitability and discount rate and its results are shown in the chart below: 

Scandinavia East Central Eastern 
Europe

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Change in key assumptions

Change in the relative operating profit before depreciation,  
amortization and impairment, average (EBITDA %), % -units -4.5 -8.0 -3.8 -4.5 -4.1 -1.5

Change in pre-tax discount rate, % -units 5.9 10.0 7.3 11.9 10.1 6.2

Change in growth post forecast period, % -units -9.0 -14.6 -14.2 -24.1 -21.7 -12.5

The chart above presents those changes in the key assumptions that would cause the net present value of the cash generating unit to be 
equal to its carrying amount – assuming no changes in the other assumptions. For example, when a change in the discount rate (per per-
centage unit) would incur the recoverable amount of the assets to be equal to its carrying amount, assuming that other components re-
main unchanged. Respectively, for example, it also presents when a change in a single percentage unit relating the operating profit before 
depreciation, amortization and impairment or the growth post forecast period would incur the recoverable amount to be equal to the car-
rying amount. 

18. Investments in associates
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Carrying amount at Jan 1 774 667

Share of profit or loss of associates -87 75

Additions 81 -

Disposals -4 -

Transfers -186 -

Exchange rate differences and other changes 90 32

Net carrying amount at Dec 31 668 774

Associates and summarized financial information of associates:

(EUR thousand) Domicile Assets Liabilities Revenue Net loss 
for the period

Group  
holding (%)

2010

Happy Homes i Sverige AB*) Sweden 12,884 11,113 68,397 -194 45.1 

*) Former BNH Nya Hembutikerna AB

Scandinavia East Central Eastern 
Europe

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Estimate parameters used

Relative operating profit before depreciation, amortization and 
impairment, average (EBITDA), % 14.1 15.5 15.3 10.3 12.6 7.8

Discount rate, pre-tax, % 8.8 11.4 16.8 16.5 13.0 18.6

Growth post forecast period, % 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

The amount at which the present value of the cash flow 
exceeds the carrying amount, EUR thousands 94,446 114,721 52,511 67,907 45,424 12,969

During the first quarter of year 2010, the Group sold part of its holding in associate PPHU Polifarb sp.z.o.o. As the ownership decreased be-
low 20 percent, the remaining shares were transferred to available-for-sale financial assets. The Group does not have the significant influ-
ence over the company.

The chart below shows the estimated parameters used in testing during the three-year forecasting period and for the terminal period in 
2009 and 2010.
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Intra-group balances and transactions with associates are disclosed in Note 38 Related parties.

19. Joint ventures

In year 2010, there were no changes in ownership of joint ventures, 
Alcro-Parti AB was the only joint venture owned by the Group. 

During the year 2009, Tikkurila Oyj acquired the rest 50% of Tik-
kurila JUB Romania s.r.l. shares. The acquired company was earlier a 

joint venture company with a Slovenian JUB paint company. After 
the acquisition Tikkurila JUB s.r.l. is Tikkurila Oyj’s 100% owned sub-
sidiary.

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Current assets 1,035 923

Total assets 1,035 923

Non-current liabilities 147 121

Current liabilities 225 269

Total liabilities 372 390

Revenue 3,304 3,172

Expenses -3,020 -3,125

Depreciation and amortization - -8

Income taxes -76 -27

Net profit for the period 208 12

Personnel during the period, average 6 6

Tikkurila’s share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses of joint ventures:

Intra-group balances and transactions with joint ventures are disclosed in Note 38 Related parties.

20. Inventories
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Materials and supplies 22,535 21,160

Work in progress 1,570 1,060

Finished goods 52,410 50,915

Prepayments 299 364

Total 76,814 73,499

Inventory write-downs amounting to EUR 2.4 million (EUR 1.9 million) were recognized during the financial period. Write-down of inventory is 
recognized as expense if carrying amount exceeds net realizable value. The amount of write-downs of inventories to net realizable value and all 
losses in inventories are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income under “Materials and services” and 
“Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress”. During the financial year 2010 reversals of inventory write-down amounting to 
EUR 0.1 million were recognized (EUR 0.0 million). The amount of cost recognized as expense was EUR 289.2 million (EUR 258.6 million) and it is 
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, line-items “Materials and services” and “Change in inventories of finished 
goods and work in progress”.

Carrying amount of inventories carried at fair value less costs to sell in year 2010 was EUR 674 thousand.

(EUR thousand) Domicile Assets Liabilities Revenue Net profit 
for the period

Group  
holding (%)

2009 (%)

BNH Nya Hembutikerna AB Sweden 10,400 8,934 54,248 278 45.1

PPHU Polifarb sp.z.o.o. Poland 3,424 2,175 7,844 20 20.4
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21. Available-for-sale financial assets

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Carrying amount at Jan 1 929 913

Additions 3 10

Disposals -9 -

Change in valuation 1,825 -

Transfers -66 -

Exchange rate differences 12 6

Carrying amount at Dec 31 2,694 929

Available-for-sale financial assets include mainly unquoted shares 
that are measured at amortized cost. These shares are of business 
supportive nature, such as personnel’s recreational activities and 
environment maintenance related long-term investments that Tik-
kurila is not intending to sell. These shares have no quoted market 
price in an active market and their fair values cannot be measured 
reliably as the change range for reasonable measurements is signifi-
cant and the probabilities of various measurements cannot be rea-
sonably estimated. In year 2010,  Group has changed the valuation 
basis for shares of Ekokem Oy. These shares are quoted in OTC-list. 
This information is used to determine their fair value. Shares have 
been transferred in fair value hierarchy of financial assets from level 
3 to level 2. Unrealized fair value changes are recognized in other 
comprehensive income, net of tax and these are included in fair val-
ue reserve in equity. (Note 33)

In year 2010, the land area located in Poland was transferred 

from available-for-sale financial assets to property, plant and equip-
ment. According the judgement of the Group’s management the 
sale of land area is not likely to take place. Land has been measured 
at amortized cost and it is presented at the statement of the finan-
cial position in property, plant and equipment.

During the first quarter of the year 2010, the Group sold part of 
the investment in associate, PPHU Polifarb sp.z.o.o. As the result the 
Group’s ownership decreased, and was less than 20%. Remaining 
shares were transferred to available-for-sale financial assets. Shares 
are measured at amortized cost. Company’s shares are unquoted.

No impairment losses were recognized for available-for-sale fi-
nancial assets during the years 2010 or 2009.

Gain on sale of available-for-sale financial assets amounted EUR 
42 (0) thousand. Gains or losses on the sales of these assets are in-
cluded in other operating income or expense.

22. Non-current receivables

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Loan receivables 2,395 724

Prepayments 2,696 2,577

Accrued income and deferred expenses 155 205

Other receivables 1,856 2,296

Finance lease receivables - 58

Total non-current assets 7,102 5,860

Prepayments 

Pre-rent of the logistic centre area in Moscow 2,610 2,539

Other prepayments 86 38

Total prepayments 2,696 2,577

Other receivables

Trade receivables and hire-purchases 1,331 1,714

Non-current interest-bearing receivables 525 574

Other non-current non-interest-bearing receivables - 8

Total other receivables 1,856 2,296
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(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Finance lease receivables - maturity

Within one year 58 201

After one year and not later than five years - 64

Later than five years - -

Total 58 265

Finance lease receivables - present value of the minimum lease payments

Within one year 51 181

After one year and not later than five years - 58

Later than five years - -

Total 51 239

Unearned finance income 7 26

Total finance lease receivables 58 265

23. Current interest-bearing receivables

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Finance lease receivables 51 181

Loan receivables 126 101

Other receivables 7 6

Total interest-bearing receivables 184 288

Non-current portion and maturities of the finance lease receivables are disclosed in Note 22 Non-current receivables.

24. Trade and other non-interest-bearing receivables

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Trade receivables 68,794 62,880

Accrued income and deferred expenses 9,207 8,619

Other receivables 3,522 4,396

Total current non-interest-bearing receivables 81,523 75,895

Tikkurila Group sells certain trade receivables to a financing company. The credit risks and contractual rights relating these financial assets 
are transferred to the financing company at the time of the sale. Arrangement fees are recognized as other financial expenses.

Other receivables include VAT receivables amounting to EUR 3.1 million (EUR 3.6 million) and prepayments of EUR 65 thousand (EUR 217 
thousand).
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25. Cash and cash equivalents

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Cash 35,417 8,270

Cash equivalents (bank deposits and money market investments, maturity less than 3 months) 33,955 16,273

Total cash and cash equivalents 69,372 24,543

Cash and cash equivalents according to cash flow:

Cash 35,417 8,270

Cash equivalents (bank deposits and money market investments, maturity less than 3 months) 33,955 16,273

Bank overdrafts -44 -342

Total cash and cash equivalents 69,328 24,201

In year 2010, cash equivalents consist of bank deposits and money market investments. Investment activities are centralized to Tikkurila Oyj.
In year 2009, Tikkurila Group did not have any independent treasury function as that was taken care of by Kemira Group. Cash and cash 

equivalents were invested through Kemira Plc or its subsidiaries in year 2009 and amounted to EUR 15.2 million.

(EUR thousand) Jan 1, 2010 Recognized in 
profit or loss

Recognized 
in other compre-

hensive income

Subsidiaries 
acquired / 

disposed of

Transfer to 
held for sale

Dec 31, 
2010

2010

Deferred tax assets

Internal margin of inventories 17 902 - - - 919

Provisions and accruals 390 1,791 - - - 2,181

Tax losses carried forward 1,643 -1,623 - - - 20

Defined benefit plans 36 302 - - - 338

Other 282 -25 - - - 257

Deferred tax assets in the statement of financial position 2,368 1,347 - - - 3,715

Deferred tax liabilities

Cumulative depreciation difference -5,580 -493 - - - -6,073

Available-for-sale financial assets - - -475 - - -475

Fair value measurement of PPE* and intangible assets in 
business combinations -5,094 995 - - 238 -3,861

Defined benefit plans 27 -79 - - - -52

Other 1,040 -1,888 - - - -848

Deferred tax liabilities in the statement of financial position -9,607 -1,465 -475 - 238 -11,309

26. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Accrued income and deferred expenses

Items related to net revenue and purchases 2,437 1,195

Employee benefit expenses 474 701

Insurances 216 415

Leases 2,467 2,425

Interests 17 205

Derivatives 1,544 -

Other 2,207 3,883

Total 9,362 8,824
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The Group subsidiaries had tax losses carried forward of EUR 5.8 million at December 31, 2010 (EUR 0.4 million) for which no deferred tax as-
set was recognized. Unlimited right to carry forward the tax losses concerns 33 percent of the tax losses. Tax losses with the limited right ex-
pires in 2011–2019. Deferred tax assets are only recognized at estimated realizable amounts, i.e. to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available in the future, against which temporary differences can be utilized. In the consolidated financial statements 2010 the 
deferred tax assets related to tax losses, which were recognized in earlier reporting periods, have been partly reversed.

No deferred tax liability has been recognized for undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries as the majority of such earnings can be 
transferred to the owner without any tax consequences.

(EUR thousand) Jan 1, 2009 Recognized in 
profit or loss

Recognized in 
other compre-

hensive income

Subsidiaries 
acquired / 

disposed of

Transfer to 
held for sale

Dec 31, 
2009

2009

Deferred tax assets

Internal margin of inventories 23 -6 - - - 17

Provisions and accruals 828 -438 - - - 390

Tax losses carried forward 1,029 580 - 34 - 1,643

Defined benefit plans 70 -34 - - - 36

Other 260 22 - - - 282

Deferred tax assets in the statement of financial position 2,210 124 - 34 - 2,368

Deferred tax liabilities

Cumulative depreciation difference -4,608 -972 - - - -5,580

Fair value measurement of PPE* and intangible assets in 
business combinations -6,055 1,360 - -399 - -5,094

Defined benefit plans -261 288 - - - 27

Other 1,130 -90 - - - 1,040

Deferred tax liabilities in the statement of financial position -9,794 586 - -399 - -9,607

* Property, plant and equipment

27. Capital and reserves
Tikkurila Oyj has one class of shares. The maximum number of shares is 
100,000,000 and the maximum share capital is EUR 140 million as per the 
articles of association of Tikkurila Oyj. The share has no nominal value. The 
share capital was EUR 35 million at December 31, 2010 (EUR 35 million) 
and it is fully paid. The number of shares was 1,025,000 at the beginning 
of the reporting period 2010 and 44,108,252 at the end of year 2010. The 
number of shares of Tikkurila Oyj was changed in February 2010 by share 
issue without payment to Kemira Plc. 

In year 2009, the number of shares was 1,025,000 both at the begin-
ning and at the end of year and all the shares were owned by Kemira Plc.

Earnings per share are presented in context of the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income and in Note 14 Earnings per 
share. Dilutive effects existed in neither 2010 nor 2009.

Fair value reserve
Fair value reserve includes accumulated fair value changes of avail-
able-for-sale financial assets.

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity
Reserve for invested unrestricted equity includes other investments of 
equity nature and that part of the subscription price that is not specifi-
cally recognized in share capital.

Other reserves
Other reserves include the funded portion of retained earnings.

Translation reserve 
Translation reserve includes the foreign exchange rate differences 
arising from the translations of the financial statements of foreign 
operations.

Dividends
No dividends were distributed in year 2010 or in 2009. The Board of 
Directors’ proposal to AMG is that a dividend of EUR 0.70 per share 
will be distributed of the year 2010. 

(EUR thousand) Fair value 
reserve

Translation 
differences Total 

Non-controlling 
interest Total 

Other comprehensive income 2010

Total exchange differences on translating foreign operations - 8,333 8,333 - 8,333

Income taxes on cash flow hedges - -32 -32 - -32

Available-for-sale financial assets, fair value changes 1,825 - 1,825 - 1,825

Deferred taxes on fair value changes of available-for-sale 
financial assets -475 - -475 - -475

Other comprehensive income 2010 1,350 8,301 9,651 - 9,651
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Finance lease liabilities - present value of the minimum lease payments

Within one year 272 240

After one year and not later than five years 147 287

Later than five years - -

Total 419 527

Future finance charges 26 79

Total finance lease liabilities 445 606

The Group has leased mainly cars and other machinery and equipment under finance leases. Some of the contracts include renew-
al or extension options.

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Loans from financial institutions 2,040 1,526

Finance lease liabilities 272 240

Other interest-bearing current liabilities 6,385 37,230

Total interest-bearing current liabilities 8,697 38,996

29. Current interest-bearing liabilities

Other interest-bearing current liabilities include loans from Kemira Plc in total of EUR 0.0 million (EUR 30.9 million) and deposit made in per-
sonnel services office in total of EUR 6.3 million (EUR 6.0 million). 
Specification of finance lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 28 Non-current interest-bearing liabilities.

28. Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Loans from financial institutions 99,135 2

Loans from pension institutions 40,000 -

Other liabilities - 114,796

Finance lease liabilities 147 287

Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 139,282 115,085

Other liabilities in year 2009 include borrowings from Kemira Plc and Kemira International Finance BV in total of EUR 114.8 million.
The maturity analysis and currency risk of non-current borrowings are disclosed in Note 35 Financial risk management. 

(EUR thousand) Fair value 
reserve

Translation  
differences Total 

Non-controlling 
interest Total 

Other comprehensive income 2009

Total exchange differences on translating foreign operations - -1,679 -1,679 -95 -1,774

Other comprehensive income 2009 - -1,679 -1,679 -95 -1,774

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Finance lease liabilities - total minimum lease payments

Within one year 293 277

After one year and not later than five years 152 329

Later than five years - -

Total 445 606
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(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

EUR 145,862 112,072

RUB 17 18,286

DKK - 3,413

SEK - 9,266

USD - 5,692

Other 2,100 5,352

Total 147,979 154,081

Average interest rate and currency distribution of interest-bearing liabilities
Average interest rate for current and non-current loans at December 31, 2010 was 5.2% (6.9%).

Interest-bearing liabilities by currency (in euro):

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Trade payables 38,445 38,512

Other non-interest-bearing payables 3,937 4,619

Prepayments 313 445

Accrued expenses and deferred income 45,711 32,803

Total current non-interest-bearing payables 88,406 76,379

30. Trade and other non-interest-bearing payables

Trade payables in year 2009 include payables to Kemira Plc and other Kemira Group’s subsidiaries in total of EUR 126 thousand.

Net liabilities

Interest-bearing non-current liabilities 139,282 115,085

Interest-bearing current liabilities 8,697 38,996

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash -35,417 -8,270

Cash equivalents (bank deposits, money market investments, maturity less than 3 
months) -33,955 -16,273

Total 78,607 129,538

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Accrued expenses and deferred income

Employee benefit expenses 18,361 14,120

Items related to revenue and purchases 18,670 11,846

Interests 1,592 1,305

Derivatives 2,214 -

Other 4,874 5,532

Total 45,711 32,803
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(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Items recognized in the statement of financial position:

Present value of funded obligations 1,903 1,598

Present value of unfunded obligations 18,799 16,268

Fair value of plan assets -1,555 -1,343

Present value of pension obligation 19,147 16,523

Unrecognized actuarial gains (+) / losses (-) -3,548 -2,890

Net liability (+) 15,599 13,633

In the statement of financial position

Liability arising from the defined benefit plans 16,012 14,072

Receivable arising from defined benefit plans -413 -439

Net liability 15,599 13,633

Liability arising from the defined contribution plans 547 495

Total pension obligations in the statement of financial position (net) 16,146 14,128

Recognized in the statement of comprehensive income:

Current service costs 321 868

Interest costs 777 1,040

Expected return on plan assets -79 -296

Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) for the period 37 1,553

Curtailment gains - -1,770

Other changes 35 -

Total defined benefit plans 1,091 1,395

Defined contribution plan expenses 52 44

Total pension obligations in the statement of comprehensive income 1,143 1,439

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

Defined benefit obligations at Jan 1 17,866 21,145

Current service costs 321 868

31. Pension obligations
Tikkurila Group has various pension plans in accordance with the 
local conditions and practices of the countries in which it operates. 
These pension plans are mainly defined contribution plans. 

Tikkurila Group has defined benefit pension plans in Sweden, 
Norway and in Germany. The defined benefit pension plans are 
funded in insurance companies and the benefits vary by countries. 
Mainly the benefits are related to the retirement age and pension 
level.

In defined benefit pension plans the amount of pension is de-
termined based on certain factors such as salary and working years. 
The corridor method is applied in recognizing the actuarial gains 
and losses.

Tikkurila Group’s Swedish subsidiaries have pension benefit 

plans in Swedish insurance company Alecta. The pensions funded 
in Alecta are determined as defined benefit pension plans accord-
ing to IAS 19. However, as Alecta cannot provide the required in-
formation in order to calculate the pension obligation; the Group’s 
pensions funded in Alecta are accounted for as defined contribu-
tion plans.

In addition, the Group has also a pension plans under its own 
responsibility in Poland and in the Netherlands. Also these are ac-
counted for as defined contribution plans. Tikkurila Coatings B.V is 
under liquidation process.

The effect of the defined benefit pension plans on Group’s con-
solidated statement of comprehensive income and statement of fi-
nancial position is presented below.  
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* Plan assets funded in insurance companies are included in the investment capital of the insurance company. The liability of the investment risk at issue is also carried by the 
insurance company. Individual analysis of distribution of plan assets is therefore not available.

The Group expects to pay EUR 1.1 million of contributions into the defined benefit plans during the year 2011. 

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Interest costs 777 1,040

Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) 282 1,020

Exchange rate differences on foreign plan 2,291 1,111

Benefits paid by the plan -835 -734

Curtailments - -6,584

Defined benefit obligations at Dec 31 20,702 17,866

Movement in the present value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at Jan 1 1,343 5,702

Expected return on plan assets 79 296

Contributions paid into the plan 959 859

Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) -70 -183

Exchange rate differences on foreign plan 89 205

The effect of business combinations during the period 0 26

Benefits paid by the plan -831 -713

Other changes -14 -

Effect of curtailment or settlement - -4,849

Fair value of plan assets at Dec 31 1,555 1,343

Realized return on pension plan 9 113

Realized return on plan assets 9 113

Actuarial presumptions

Discount rate 4.0–4.54% 4.0–5.0%

Expected return on plan assets 5.4% 3.0–5.7%

Inflation 2.0% 2.0%

Forthcoming increases in wages and salaries 3.0–4.0% 2.5–4.5%

Forthcoming increases in pensions 1.3–2.0% 0.5–2.0%

Plan assets include

Assets in insurance companies * 1,555 1,343

Total 1,555 1,343

(EUR thousand)

At Dec 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Liability arising from the defined contribution plans 547 495 451 405 278

Present value of defined benefit plans 20,702 17,866 21,146 22,260 19,929

Fair value of plan assets 1,555 1,343 5,702 4,621 4,059

Settlement of the obligation - - 112 - -

Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) -3,548 -2,890 -3,159 -2,937 -541

Deficit / surplus 16,146 14,128 12,848 15,107 15,607

Experience adjustments - plan liabilities - -1 -459 -1,614 998

Experience adjustments - plan assets - -1 -69 -235 -600
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(EUR thousand) Restructuring Site 
restoration

Other 
expenses

2010
Total

2010

Non-current provisions

Balance at Jan 1, 2010 182 229 - 411

Exchange rate differences at Jan 1, 2010 - 8 - 8

Reclassifications - -220 - -220

Non-current provisions at Dec 31, 2010 182 17 - 199

Current provisions

Balance at Jan 1, 2010 97 302 - 399

Exchange rate differences at Jan 1, 2010 10 10 - 20

Provisions made during the period - 23 - 23

Provisions used during the period -101 -253 - -354

Provisions reversed during the period -6 - - -6

Reclassifications - 220 - 220

Current provisions at Dec 31, 2010 - 302 - 302

(EUR thousand) Restructuring Site 
restoration

Other 
expenses

2009
Total

2009

Non-current provisions

Balance at Jan 1, 2009 - 385 - 385

Exchange rate differences at Jan 1, 2009 - 5 - 5

Provisions made during the period - 34 - 34

Reclassifications 182 -195 - -13

Non-current provisions at Dec 31, 2009 182 229 - 411

Current provisions

Balance at Jan 1, 2009 - 335 - 335

Exchange rate differences at Jan 1, 2009 - 3 - 3

Provisions made during the period 2,348 - - 2,348

Provisions used during the period -2,045 -231 - -2,276

Provisions reversed during the period -24 - - -24

Reclassifications -182 195 - 13

Current provisions at Dec 31, 2009 97 302 - 399

Restructuring provisions
Tikkurila Group launched a savings program in 2009 in order to 
attain annual savings of EUR 25 million. Due to this objective, Tik-
kurila Group has recognized a restructuring provision arising from 
the reductions of personnel in its both Finnish and Swedish offices. 
Majority of this provision realized during the year 2009 and 182 EUR 
thousands is expected to realize after 2011.

Site restoration provisions
Site restoration provision arises from the restoration obligation con-
cerning contamination of the soil and groundwater of Group’s Pol-
ish production plant. The contamination was caused by the actions 
of the previous owner of the production plant. The non-current 
portion of the provision is expected to be used by 2012.

Other provisions
There were no other provisions in year 2010 or 2009. 

32. Provisions
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33.  Carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets  
and financial liabilities by categories

(EUR thousand) Note

Financial assets 
and liabilities at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss

Loans and 
other 

receivables

Available
-for-sale 
financial 

assets

Other
financial
liabilities

Total 
carrying 

amounts

Total 
fair 

values

2010

Non-current financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 21 - - 2,694 - 2,694 2,694

Non-current receivables 22 - 4,251 - - 4,251 4,251

Current financial assets

Interest-bearing receivables 23 - 184 - - 184 184

Derivatives 24,34 1,544 1,544 1,544

Cash equivalents 25 33,955 35,417 - - 69,372 69,372

Trade and other non-interest-bearing 
receivables 24 - 68,794 - - 68,794 68,794

Total 35,499 108,646 2,694 - 146,839 146,839

Non-current financial liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 28 - - - 139,282 139,282 139,130

Current financial liabilities

Current interest-bearing liabilities 29 - 8,697 8,697 8,697

Derivatives 30,34 2,214 - - - 2,214 2,214

Trade payables 30 - - - 38,445 38,445 38,445

Total 2,214 - - 186,424 188,638 188,486

(EUR thousand) Note

Financial assets 
and liabilities at 

fair value 
through 

profit or loss

Loans and 
other 

receivables

Available
-for-sale 
financial 

assets

Other
financial
liabilities

Total 
carrying 

amounts 

Total 
fair 

values

2009

Non-current financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 21 - - 929 - 929 929

Non-current receivables 22 - 3,070 - - 3,070 3,070

Current financial assets

Interest-bearing receivables 23 - 288 - - 288 288

Cash equivalents 25 - 16,273 - - 16,273 16,273

Trade and other non-interest-bearing 
receivables 24 - 62,880 - - 62,880 62,880

Total - 82,511 929 - 83,440 83,440

Non-current financial liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 28 - - - 115,085 115,085 115,540

Current financial liabilities -

Current interest-bearing liabilities 29 - - - 38,997 38,997 38,997

Trade payables 30 - - - 38,512 38,512 38,512

Total - - - 192,594 192,594 193,049
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Fair values for non-current liabilities are based on discounted con-
tractual cash flows. Interest rates used for discounting are the inter-
est rates the Group would have to pay for similar loans at the end of 
reporting period. The interest rate is based on a risk free interest rate 
and a company specific credit risk premium. The range of discount 
rates used is 3.23%–4.45%.

Fair values for non-current assets as well as current financial as-
sets and liabilities correspond to the carrying amount as the effect 
of discounting is immaterial.

(EUR thousand)

2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Available-for-sale financial assets - 1,926 768 2,694

Money market investments - 33,955 - 33,955

Derivatives  (in assets) - 1,544 - 1,544

- 37,425 768 38,193

Derivatives (in liabilities) - 2,214 - 2,214

2009 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Available-for-sale financial assets - - 929 929

- - 929 929

Available-for-sale financial assets are mostly investments in 
shares with no quoted market price in an active market. The fair val-
ues cannot be reliably measured and therefore they are measured 
at cost. In addition, available-for-sale financial assets include shares 
that are quoted in OTC-list. These shares are measured at fair value 
in each reporting period. The fair value changes are recognized in 
other comprehensive income net of tax, and they are included in 
fair value reserve in equity until the assets are disposed, at which 
time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from equity in profit 
or loss as a reclassification item. 

Fair value hierarchy

Level 1 : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3: inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Reconciliation of Level 3 available-for-sale financial assets

(EUR thousand)

2010 2009

Available-for-sale financial assets Available-for-sale financial assets

Carrying amount at Jan 1 929 913

Translation differences in other comprehensive income 12 6

Acquisitions 3 10

Disposals -9 -

Reclassifications to Level 3 186 -

Reclassifications from Level 3 -353 -

Carrying amount at Dec 31 768 929

In year 2010, gain on sales of these available-for-sale financial assets 
were recognized EUR 42 (0) thousands. Gains on sales of these as-
sets are included in other operating income.

Shares of Ekokem Oy have been reclassified from the hierarchy 
level 3 to level 2 during the first quarter of the year 2010. These shares 
are OTC listed and this is used as basis for measurement for fair val-
ue. Shares are valued in every reporting period to fair value and the 
change is reported in other comprehensive income, net of tax.

In year 2010, the land area in Poland was transferred from avail-
able-for-sale financial assets to property, plant and equipment. Ac-

cording the judgement of the Group’s management the sale of 
land is not likely to take place. Land has been measured at amor-
tized cost and it is presented at the statement of the financial posi-
tion in property, plant and equipment.

In year 2010, the Group has sold part of the shares in associate, 
PPHU Polifarb sp.z.o.o.  As the Group’s ownership decreased below 
20%, the remaining shares were reclassified to available-for-sale fi-
nancial assets. Shares are measured at amortized costs as their fair 
value cannot be measured reliably.
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34. Derivative instruments

Majority of derivative instruments of the Group will provide eco-
nomic hedge, even though they do not qualify the hedge account-
ing under IAS 39. Derivative instruments are measured at fair value 
and changes of fair values are recognized immediately in profit or 
loss.

Tikkurila primarily hedges its net currency position with currency 
derivatives. As hedge accounting is not applied, changes in the fair 
values are immediately recognized in profit or loss under financial 
items.

In addition, Group has hedged some of the future cash flows 

arising from the interest rate payments of its non-current loans with 
interest rate derivatives. Hedge accounting (IAS 39) is not applied, 
so fair value changes are recognized in profit or loss under financial 
items.

Derivative liabilities are presented in the statement of financial 
position in “Accrued expenses and deferred income” and the deriva-
tive receivables are presented in “Accrued income and deferred ex-
penses”.

Valuation methods of derivative instruments are presented in 
the Accounting policies for the consolidated financial statements.

Fair values and nominal values of derivative instruments

       2010

(EUR thousand) Positive fair value Negative fair value Fair value, net Nominal values

Currency derivatives

Currency forwards 885 -1,590 -706 119,834

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 36 - 36 20,000

       2009

(EUR thousand) Positive fair value Negative fair value Fair value, net Nominal values

Currency derivatives

Currency forwards - - - -

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps - - - -

In year 2009, Tikkurila was part of the Kemira Group. During that time the treasury function was in Kemira Oyj and there were no deriva-
tive instruments outstanding in Tikkurila companies.

(EUR thousand)

Derivative instruments in the comprehensive income 2010 2009

Financial income 5,331 -

Financial expenses -6,474 -

(EUR thousand)

Derivative instruments in the statement of financial position 2010 2009

Accrued income and deferred expenses 1,544 -

Accrued expenses and deferred income 2,214 -

35. Financial risk management
Tikkurila Group’s business from the  
financial risk point of view 
International business
Tikkurila operates in a geographically wide area selling products in 
about 40 countries. Due to special features of each geographical 
area, the business is exposed to various financial risks and, up to a 
certain extent, restrictions set by local legislation. Because most of 
the revenues are generated outside euro area, currency risks have 

a significant impact on Tikkurila’s revenue, result and statement of 
financial position. 

Seasonality 
The sale of paints correlates typically with GDP, therefore chang-
es in general economic development has an impact on Tikkurila’s 
business. 
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Tikkurila’s sales are exposed to annual seasonality: usually, the 
second and third quarter have the biggest influence on sales vol-
ume and profitability. In addition, seasonality has a strong impact 
on cash flow generation. The peak period of outdoor painting dur-
ing summer months causes this seasonality in the Nordic countries, 
where weather conditions prevent outdoor painting during winter.  

In addition to annual seasonality, construction with related ser-
vices,  which is one of the essential customer segments for Tikkurila, 
is by nature very sensitive to economic conditions. This business 
fluctuation is softened to a certain extent by the fact that Tikkurila’s 
revenue is coming partly from new construction production and 
partly from renovation. In addition, furnishing is not as sensitive to 
economic conditions although general economic development 
and customer confidence on economic development have an im-
pact on it. 

Due to seasonality, the year-end statement of financial position 
is not comparable to an average statement of financial position, 
among others regarding net working capital and cash, which have 
to be taken into account when analyzing financial risks. In addition, 
the year 2009 was not an average business year because the world-
wide financial crisis began in the end of 2008, which has to be not-
ed when comparing years 2009 and 2010. 

Listing to the stock exchange during 2010 
Tikkurila’s financing and financial risks were managed at Kemira’s 
treasury until March 2010. After Tikkurila listed on stock exchange 
in March 2010, all financial arrangements with Kemira were dis-
solved, and at the same time Tikkurila’s treasury operations were 
organized so that Tikkurila Oyj as a parent company of the Group is 
responsible for financing and financial risk management of Tikkurila 
Group. Because of this change, the years 2009 and 2010 are not to-
tally comparable from the financial risk and financial position point 
of view. Tikkurila’s treasury has acted as an internal bank for Group 
companies from the March 2010 offering, both short- and long-
term funding, taking deposits and managing Group cash. The trea-
sury is responsible for executing external financial transactions and 
subsidiaries are conducting their financial operations with treasury 
unless local law or other constraints prohibit.

The objective and principles of financial risk management 
The objective of financial risk management is to hedge according 
to defined principles Group’s cash flow, statement of financial po-
sition and net profit from the adverse impact and fluctuation of fi-
nancial risks. The aim is to keep the creditworthiness of Tikkurila Oyj 
on a good level. Tikkurila’s financing and financial risk management 
is controlled by policies accepted by the Board of Directors. The op-
erative organization manages financial risks based on these authori-
zations and policies. During the year 2010, treasury department has 
started regular internal reporting of the most important financial 
risks to the Tikkurila Management Board and to the Board of Direc-
tors of the parent company.

Financial instruments and their significance and treatment 
The most significant items in Tikkurila’s statement of financial posi-
tion December 31, 2010 are different components of net working 
capital, cash and interest-bearing liabilities. Counterparty risks re-
lated to trade receivables and cash are central, and the creditwor-
thiness of counterparties and using of several counterparties are 
key elements for managing the risk. During the year 2010, Tikkurila 
refinanced interest-bearing debt in its entirety and the counterpar-

ties set up covenants and other conditions for loan arrangement. 
Currency forwards and interest rate swaps are used to hedge cur-
rency and interest rate risk since March 2010. The aim is to hedge 
partly the net risk position based on hedging policy defined by the 
Board of Directors. Tikkurila has not adopted hedge accounting. 
The treatment of financial instruments is described in more detail 
in “Accounting policies for the consolidated financial statements”. 
The Group has not used any commodity derivatives during 2009 or 
2010. 

Currency risks
The fluctuation of currency rates impact the Tikkurila Group from 
different angels:
•	Currency denominated cash flows; and 
•	Converting subsidiaries currency denominated financial 

statements into euros at Group reporting, which impacts 
both income statement and statement of financial posi-
tion; and 

•	 The value of non-euro investments.
The methods used for managing currency risk:
•	Matching of  certain currency outgoing and incoming 

cash flows on Group level; and
•	Diversification, i.e. using different currencies as different 

currencies do not correlate perfectly with each other; and 
•	Currency clauses in both purchase and sales contracts; 

and
•	Use of derivative instruments. 
Because the Group has not adopted hedge accounting, the finan-
cial result of derivatives, which hedge business cash flows, is shown 
partly in different part of the statement of comprehensive income 
(below EBIT) than exchange gains and losses of hedged cash flows 
(above EBIT or in the statement of financial position). 

The changes of currency rates may have a significant indirect ef-
fect on the relative competitiveness of Tikkurila’s competitors; there-
fore, it might have a negative impact on Tikkurila Group. 

Transaction risk
About 80% of Tikkurila’s revenue is generated outside the euro area, 
so currency changes have a significant impact on Tikkurila’s rev-
enue. On net profit level, the currency risk is reduced by expenses 
which are mostly in the same currency as sales. Currency risk mainly 
has an impact on cash flows and statement of financial position 
items which are denominated in other currencies than the func-
tional currency of a subsidiary. The most important internal trans-
actions that create currency risk are business transactions between 
Group companies and loans and deposits between Group compa-
nies and Tikkurila Oyj. Currency risk management is centralized at 
Tikkurila Oyj’s treasury. Transaction risk is followed and managed 
mainly at 12-month periods because the reliability of longer fore-
casts is weak. Group companies report their 12-month currency ex-
posures monthly, and the parent company’s treasury consolidates 
Group’s net currency exposure. 

Transaction risk is hedged in the first place by matching cur-
rency denominated income and expenses and after that by com-
mercial agreements (currency clauses). The remaining estimated 
12-month net risk position is hedged by currency derivatives. Ac-
cording to principles approved by Tikkurila Board of Directors, the 
hedge ratio of net exposure (excluding loans and deposits) has to 
be between 30% and 80%. At the end of year 2010, the hedge ratio 
was about 65%. 
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The Group purchases raw materials from several international 
suppliers and it can at least partly affect which currency is used at 
purchase contracts or contracts might include currency clauses or 
similar conditions. In some countries, the Group has a possibility to 
change sales prices if currency rates change; although these chang-
es are partly optional or require negotiations with customers. 

(EUR thousand)

Transaction risk position USD SEK NOK DKK PLN HUF RUB BYR UAH Other

Dec 31, 2010

Bank accounts 31 0 9 8 7 0 2 0 0

Loans and deposits 0 -12,519 -1,693 2,469 -2,336 1,331 12,419 2,400 6,137

Trade receivables and payables -218 1,967 1,051 1,044 902 95 -1,098 346 4,625

Estimated currency flow -11,160 32,212 7,553 5,673 11,693 3,041 42,718 4,174 2,666

Currency forwards 7,110 -14,500 -3,821 0 -1,208 -3,130 -11,269 0 0

Position after treasury’s hedges -4,237 7,159 3,101 9,193 9,058 1,338 42,771 6,920 13,428

SBU sales clauses* -55,162

Open position -4,237 7,159 3,101 9,193 9,058 1,338 -12,391 6,920 13,428

(EUR thousand)

USD SEK NOK DKK PLN HUF RUB Other

Dec 31, 2009

Currency position -18,917 32,278 8,036 6,654 11,760 2,819 4,745 8,473

Impact of 10% weakening of currencies 1,720 -2,934 -731 -605 -1,069 -256 -431 -770

* The impact of currency clauses has been shown simplified so that it is estimated that they are executed fully, although this does not always happen or there might be time lags.

Transaction risk position is a sum of currency denominated items 
in the statement of financial position, 12-month estimated currency 
flow and counter value of these items expressed in functional cur-
rency of a subsidiary.

The impact of currency rate changes to profit before tax based 
on items in statement of financial position December 31, 2010:

(EUR thousand)

Impact of 10% weakening of euro 1,084

Impact of 10% strengthening of euro -1,325

Net investments made in foreign currencies
(EUR thousand) RUB SEK PLN Other

Dec 31, 2010

Equity 50,966 40,331 25,806 9,483

Impact of 10% strengthening of currencies on equity 5,663 4,481 2,867 1,054

Impact of 10% weakening of currencies on equity -4,633 -3,667 -2,346 -862

RUB SEK PLN Other

Dec 31, 2009

Equity 39,297 22,781 32,620 7,794

Impact of 10% weakening of currencies on equity -3,572 -2,071 -2,965 -709

Translation risk
In addition, to translation risk affecting income statements when 
the currency denominated income statements are converted into 
euros, Tikkurila’s equity is exposed to currency risk arising from net 

investments made to subsidiaries outside euro area. Tikkurila has 
not hedged translation risk December 31, 2010. Translation differ-
ences coming from converting subsidiaries’ equity are recognized 
in equity in translation differences. 
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Interest rate risk
Tikkurila Group has had following interest-bearing assets and liabili-
ties during 2009 and 2010: 
Interest-bearing assets:
•	Cash
•	  Time deposits
•	  Investments in short-term interest-bearing securities of 

banks and corporates
 Interest-bearing debt:          
•	  Leasing  and installment funding 
•	  Committed overdraft facilities
•	  Revolving credit facility
•	  Long-term loan from pension institution 
•	  Term loan
Tikkurila’s interest-bearing net debt is exposed to cash flow risk. The 
business cycle of Tikkurila follows in principle the overall economic 
development; therefore the business cash flow is stronger when the 
economic cycle and also interest rates are higher. On the other hand, 
when the economic cycle weakens and interest rates are lower, the 
cash flow is also weaker. Therefore, the duration of interest-bearing li-
abilities is kept short so that the cash flow and interest rate change fol-
low the same cycle. During 2010, Tikkurila has made interest rate swap 
agreements with nominal value of EUR 20 million in order to hedge 
loans which are linked to short interest rates from rising interests. Ac-
cording to principles approved by Tikkurila Oyj the duration of inter-
est-bearing liabilities has to be between 6 and 24 months. At the end 
of 2010, the equity weighted duration was approximately 12 months.

The share of fixed and floating rate assets and liabilities can be seen 
from the table below. The financial instrument has been defined as a 
fixed when the interest rate is fixed for whole duration of the instru-
ment regardless if the instrument is short- or long-term. The TyEL-loan, 
which is linked to 3 year rate, has been defined as a floating rate loan. 
The impact of interest rate derivatives has been taken into account 
when defining the fixed and floating rate assets and liabilities.

(EUR thousand) Dec 31, 2010 Dec 31, 2009

Fixed rate

Financial assets* 37,059 17,917

Financial liabilities -20,000 -39,286

Net 17,059 21,369

Floating rate

Financial assets - -

Financial liabilities -127,979 -114,796

Net -127,979 -114,796

* Cash is not included

Impact of change of interest rates
Based on EUR 79 million net debt position on December 31, 2010, 
the impact of 1%-point increase in interest rate to profit before tax 
is EUR -0.0 million (EUR -1.1 million). The sensitivity analysis is based 
on assumption that the interest rate change will happen at the be-
ginning of the year and that the change is parallel over the yield 
curve. In addition, it is assumed that the net debt position remains 
unchanged and the impact of currency rates is zero. Current loans 
are assumed to be renewed at due date. Regarding non-current 
loans with floating interest rates, the effect of the rate change is tak-
en into account from the date of rate fixing. Net debt includes cash 
and cash equivalents.  Because of the seasonality of the business, 
the year-end net debt level is not typical for entire year, so interest 
rate sensitivity changes during the year. 

Credit risk
Credit risk is a risk that occurs when counterparty fails to meet its 
obligations, i.e. counterparty risk. At Tikkurila, the most significant 
items that are exposed to credit risk are trade receivables, current 
placements and cash. 

The principles of managing credit risk of trade receivables are 
defined in the credit risk policy. The management of credit risk of 
trade receivables is decetralized to business units, but the parent 
company’s treasury unit monitors the risk. Tikkurila’s large and geo-
graphically divergent clientele reduces concentration of credit risk, 
although some big trade and retail paint chains have relatively big 
influence. Credit risk related to trade receivables is managed by cus-
tomer credit limits that take the prior sales history and creditwor-
thiness of a customer into account. New customers are credit-risk 
rated prior to selling. 

Tikkurila uses also advance payments and credit insurances to 
some extent to reduce credit risk. 

Advance payments are used in Russia where about 17% of rev-
enue in 2010 took place using advance payments. Credit insurance 
is used in Poland where about 85% of trade receivable as of Decem-
ber 31, 2010 was insured. According to terms of the insurance Tikku-
rila is entitled to get 90% of the nominal amount if the customer is 
not able to pay the invoice.

In Finland, Tikkurila reduced the credit risk by selling part of the 
receivables to a financing company on a non-recourse basis.

Credit risk related to current placements and cash is controlled 
by principles defined by the Board of Directors. Tikkurila manages 
this counterparty risk by investing surplus liquidity in short-term 
interest-bearing tradeable securities and in bank deposits. Invest-
ment-related credit risk is mainly centralized to Tikkurila Oyj as sub-
sidiaries deposit their surplus liquidity to the parent company. 

The carrying amounts of the financial assets correspond to their 
maximum credit risk.
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The maximum credit risk relating financial assets at the end of reporting period is presented below:   

(EUR thousand) Note 2010 2009

Available-for-sale financial assets 21 2,694 929

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 24,34,25 35,499 -

Loans and other receivables 22, 23, 24, 25 108,646 82,511

Total 146,839 83,440

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

EUR 38,693 16,634

SEK 22,279 16,379

RUB 14,539 13,368

PLN 11,851 20,513

DKK 3,967 3,152

EEK 3,592 2,620

UAH 4,306 2,457

Other 9,419 7,388

Total 108,646 82,511

Loans and other receivables by currency  
at December 31, 2010:

(EUR thousand)
Carrying 
amount

2010

Carrying 
amount

2010

Not past due 101,035 68,362

Past due 0–90 days 4,841 9,633

Past due 91–180 days 1,636 2,293

Past due 181–365 days 476 1,412

Past due over 365 days 658 811

Total 108,646 82,511

The ageing of loans and other receivables at December 31, 2010:

The Group recognizes impairment loss on receivables when there 
is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial as-
sets is impaired. The debtor’s significant financial difficulties, pay-
ment delays and neglect can be considered as such objective evi-
dence. Tikkurila recognized a credit loss of EUR 1.9 million on past 
due loans and other receivables during the financial year 2010 (EUR 
3.0 million). 

Liquidity risk
Tikkurila’s business is characterized by annual seasonality which 
varies somewhat in different geographical areas and which is the 
strongest in the Nordic countries due to outdoor painting season in 
summer. Need for working capital increases typically until the end 
of summer, when most of the cash flows related to outdoor paints 
are received. This creates challenges to liquidity management. 

Tikkurila manages liquidity risk mainly by loan arrangements and 
committed credit facilities and by selling part of the receivables to a 
financing company. The  surplus liquidity is kept on bank accounts 
or invested to highly liquid current placements. 

Tikkurila’s main funding source is a EUR 180 million loan agree-
ment which is divided to a EUR 100 million term loan and a EUR 80 
million revolving credit facility.  Three banks are participating with 
this loan arrangement. The loan has covenants which are linked 
to gearing and net debt to EBITDA- ratio. Gearing can be at maxi-
mum 1.20 until September 2011, and after that it has to be 1.00 and 
net debt to EBITDA ratio can be at maximum 2.75. When calculating 
these figures, the net debt is the average of the net debt from two 

preceding quarters, and EBITDA is the sum of the four preceding 
quarter EBITDA. If Tikkurila breaches these covenants, the loan will 
fall due immediately unless the lenders give a waiver. According to 
the arrangement, the consent from the borrowers is also needed 
for any significant investments and acquisitions.

In addition, as of December 31, 2010, Tikkurila has a EUR 40 mil-
lion bilateral loan from a pension insurance company and EUR 11 
million committed credit facilities. At the end of 2010, Tikkurila had 
unused a EUR 80 million revolving credit facility and EUR 8 million 
credit facilities. Bank accounts and current placements were EUR 69 
million.  

The Group uses rolling cash flow estimates to manage liquid-
ity risk. In addition, the funding is split into several different fund-
ing sources (equity, debt), different instruments, different maturities 
to reduce refunding risk, and if needed to several currencies and 
counterparties. 

The operative business uses different netting and pooling ar-
rangements in order to make sure funds are transferred efficiently 
and the Group has a good visibility over cash flows. This is not yet 
possible in all areas where the Group is operating, mainly in east.   
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Below is a table showing contractual maturities of liabilities December 31, 2010:   

(EUR thousand)

Dec 31, 2010 Carrying 
amount

Contractual   
cash flows 2011 2012 2013 2014 >2014

Loans from financial institutions 101,175 110,291 5,450 3,227 101,614 - -

Loans from pension institutions 40,000 46,436 1,660 6,660 11,409 11,024 15,683

Other interest-bearing liabilities 6,341 6,341 6,341 - - - -

Finance lease liabilities 419 445 293 128 22 2 0

Trade payables 38,445 38,445 38,445 - - - -

Bank overdrafts 44 44 44 - - - -

Guarantees 4,684 4,684 4,684 - - - -

Total 191,108 206,686 56,917 10,015 113,045 11,026 15,683

Maturity of derivative financial 
assets / liabilities

Currency forwards

     inflow 973 29,211 29,211 - - - -

     outflow -1,679 -29,917 -29,917 - - - -

Interest rate swaps 36 53 31 22 - - -

Total -670 -653 -675 22 - - -

(EUR thousand)

Dec 31, 2009 Carrying 
amount

Contractual  
cash flows 2010 2011 2012 2013 >2013

Loans from financial institutions 1,528 1,611 1,609 - 2 - -

Other interest-bearing liabilities 151,685 161,741 41,598 6,427 97,841 15,375 500

Finance lease liabilities 527 605 277 82 82 82 82

Trade payables 38,512 38,512 38,512 - - - -

Bank overdrafts 342 342 342 - - - -

Guarantees 4,608 4,608 4,608 - - - -

Total 197,202 207,419 86,946 6,509 97,925 15,457 582

The figures are undiscounted.

Price risk of long-term investments
Tikkurila Oyj has shares of Ekokem Oy in its possession which are 
valued at fair value in the financial statements of year 2010. These 
shares are classified as available-for-sale so their unrealized fair val-
ue change, net of tax, is booked to other comprehensive income. 

In addition to Ekokem shares, the Group holds a small number 
of unlisted shares that are measured at amortized cost. These shares 
are long-term investments related to personnel’s recreational activi-
ties, and Tikkurila is not intending to sell them. These shares have no 
quoted market price in an active market and their fair values cannot 
be measured reliably as the change range for reasonable measure-
ment is significant, and the probabilities of various measurements 
cannot be reasonably estimated.

Capital management
The aim of capital management is to secure that Tikkurila has ad-
equate capital for conducting its business both in the short-term 
and long-term, taking in the consideration the risk factors in the 
operational environment, e.g. risk related to availability and price of 
funding. In addition, the capital management is linked to growth 

targets, possible changes of new businesses and geographical split 
and maintaining the sensitivity to react to the changes in competi-
tive environment. When analyzing the need for and management 
of capital demands from external interest groups are taken into 
account, such as owners’ requirements for profit distribution and 
demands from authorities or restrictions related to equity ratio of 
Group companies. 

Tikkurila’s primary funding source is the cash flow generated 
from operations. If the cash flow from operations and existing loan 
facilities are not sufficient, the Group has various possibilities to ob-
tain funding: among others, debt capital from financial institutions 
or by issuing interest-bearing securities, equity funding from exist-
ing and / or new owners, working capital management and sale of 
assets.

At the end of 2009, the Board of Directors of Tikkurila Oyj has 
set up medium-term targets for the Group’s gearing and return for 
capital employed (ROCE-%):  the gearing target is to keep the ratio 
below 100% and accordingly return for capital employed should 
improve continuously. 

Some loan agreements of Tikkurila Oyj have covenants which 
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36. Operating leases
Group as lessee
Lease payments are of premises, facilities, land, advertising space 
and storage space. Lease payments for facilities and fixture include 
trucks, vehicles and equipment for transportation and lifting. Lease 
terms vary from one country to another and renewal options are 
possible.

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Within one year 10,314 7,692

After one year and not later than five years 23,573 24,560

Later than five years 7,017 10,658

Total 40,904 42,910

Group as lessor
Lease payments are received from re-leasing of own and rental 
premises. 

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are receivable as follows:

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Within one year 546 58

After one year and not later than five years 409 34

Later than five years 1,198 123

Total 2,153 215

37.  Contingent assets and liabilities  
and contractual commitments

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Mortgages given as collateral for liabilities in the statement of financial position

Loans from pension institutions 40,000 -

Mortgages given 53,000 -

are linked to capital structure. If these covenants are breached Tik-
kurila has to pay back the loans immediately unless the lenders give 
a waiver. These covenants are explained in more detail in paragraph 
“Liquidity risk”. 

When Tikkurila Group analyzes possible investment targets one 
key evaluation criteria is the net present value of discounted cash 
flows. The interest rate used in these calculations is based on the 
weighted average cost of capital (WACC), which is affected among 
other things by the capital structure. 

The Board of Directors of Tikkurila Oyj has given a guideline for 
dividend distribution at the end of 2009. The targeted dividend 
payout should be 40% of annual net profit excluding the impact 
of one-time items which sets up own demand for Group’s capital 
structure. The Board of Directors proposes to the annual general 
meeting, which will be held March 31, 2011, that Tikkurila pays EUR 
0.70 per share dividend, which is about 86% of Group’s 2010 net 
profit, excluding one-time items, net of tax.

Dec 31, 2010 Dec 31, 2009

Equity 190,038 143,863

Non-controlling interest - -

Total 190,038 143,863

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 139,282 115,085

Current interest-bearing liabilities 8,697 38,996

Cash and cash equivalents 69,372 24,543

Net debt 78,607 129,538

Gearing, % 41.4% 90.0%

Equity ratio, % 41.1% 35.7%

EBITDA 81,418 66,495

Net debt/EBITDA 0.97 1.95

Capital employed

Goodwill 68,386 68,261

Available-for-sale financial assets 668 774

Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 145,280 148,576

Net working capital 73,048 76,108

Total 287,382 293,719
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Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment:
Tikkurila Group had contractual commitments for purchase of property, plant and equipment total of EUR 0.8 million in 2010  
(EUR 0.0 million in 2009).

38. Related parties
Parties are considered as each other’s related parties if one party is able to control or has significant influence over financial and operat-
ing decision making of another party. Tikkurila Group has related party relationships with the parent company of the Group (Tikkurila Oyj), 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. In addition, Tikkurila’s former parent company Kemira Plc and other Kemira Group companies 
were considered as related parties until March 26, 2010. 

Related parties include members of Board of Directors and the Group’s Board of Management, including CEO.
The terms and conditions of related party transactions are determined on an arm’s length basis. Related party companies are disclosed 

in Note 39 Group’s ownership in shares and participations. 

Related party transactions are presented below:

(EUR thousand) Sales Purchases Receivables Liabilities

2010

Associates 1) 21,779 1,274 4,191 69

Joint ventures 2,049 - 111 15

Group companies of Kemira Plc 2) 74 1,603 - -

(EUR thousand) Sales Purchases Receivables Liabilities

2009

Associates 555 1,070 227 3

Joint ventures 1,870 - 143 16

Group companies of Kemira Plc 2) - 6,204 15,224 147,152

1) Due the changes in invoicing procedures during the year 2010, sales to associates increased compared to previous year.
2) Group companies of Kemira Plc include both subsidiaries and associates of Kemira Group.

The related party transactions relating to the financial items are presented in the notes that relate to the particular financial item. 

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Other loans - 100

Mortgages given 102 102

Total loans 40,000 100

Total mortgages given 53,102 102

Contingent liabilities 2010 2009

Assets pledged

On behalf of own commitments - 32

Guarantees

On behalf of own commitments 1,710 2,123

On behalf of others 2,974 2,485

Rent obligations 40,904 42,910

Total contingent liabilities 45,588 47,550
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2010 (EUR  
thousand)

CEO

Erkki Järvinen

Fixed salary (fringe benefits included) 450

Bonuses 120

Total 570

Supplementary pension payments 53

Board members **)

Harri Kerminen, Chairman of the Board (until February 8, 
2010) -

Jari Paasikivi, Chairman of the Board (from February 8, 2010) 
(Vice-chairman until February 8, 2010) 74

Petteri Walldén, Vice-chairman of the Board  
(from February 8, 2010) 49

Eeva Ahdekivi, member of the Board 45

Ove Mattsson, member of the Board 47

Pia Rudengren, member of the Board 51

Executive remuneration

39. Group’s ownership in shares and participations 

Subsidiaries City of domicile Country of domicile
Tikkurila Group’s 

ownership and 
voting shares %

Parent  
company’s  

ownership and 
voting shares %

2010

AS Tikkurila Tallinn Estonia 100 100

UAB Tikkurila Vilnius Lithuania 100 100

OOO Tikkurila St. Petersburg Russia 100 100

Tikkurila Kft Budapest Hungary 100 100 

SIA Tikkurila Riga Latvia 100 100

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Management employee benefits

Wages, salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,887 2,938

Post-employment benefits 85 326

Total 1,972 3,264

Loans, guarantees and other collaterals granted to related parties
No loans, guarantees or other collaterals have been granted to the management in 2010 nor 2009.

**) In year 2010 part of the annual fee of the Board members was paid in company’s 
shares. Total of EUR 72 thousand was paid in shares.
This is included in figures presented.

2009 (EUR  
thousand)

CEO

Erkki Järvinen

Fixed salary (fringe benefits included) 510

Bonuses -

Total 510

Supplementary pension payments 50

Board members

Harri Kerminen, Chairman of the Board -

Jari Paasikivi, Vice-chairman of the Board 40

Petteri Walldén, member of the Board 35

Eeva Ahdekivi, member of the Board 35

Ove Mattsson, member of the Board 41

Pia Rudengren, member of the Board 38

The CEO’s period of notice is 6 months. In the event the company would give notice to the CEO, he will receive an additional remuneration 
equaling 12 months’ salary. The CEO has the right to terminate his employment with 6 month’s period of notice.

The age of retirement for the CEO is 63 years. CEO has a supplementary pension insurance. The pension remuneration for the CEO is 65 
percent of the pension salary.

Tikkurila Group has a management’s incentive program according to which no payments have been made during the year 2010 nor 
2009. Vesting period is 2009–2010 and total of 13 persons are included in incentive program.

Share holdings of Tikkurila Board of Directors and Management Board are stated in page 130, Shares and shareholders.
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Subsidiaries City of domicile Country of domicile
Tikkurila Group’s 

ownership and 
voting shares %

Parent  
company’s  

ownership and 
voting shares %

Tikkurila Coatings Sp.z.o.o. Debica Poland 100 100

Tikkurila AB Stockholm Sweden 100 100

Tikkurila Coatings B.V. 1) Rozenburg The Netherlands 100 100

OOO Tikkurila Coatings St. Petersburg Russia 100 100

Tikkurila (Beijing) Paints Co. Ltd Peking Republic of China 100 100

Dickursby Holding AB Stockholm Sweden 100 100

OOO Gamma Industrial Coatings St. Petersburg Russia 100 -

OOO Tikkurila Powder Coatings 2) St. Petersburg Russia 100 -

IP Tikkurila Minsk Belarus 100 100

TOO Tikkurila Alma-Ata Kazakhstan 100 100

TOV Tikkurila Kiev Ukraine 100 100

Isanta LLC Kiev Ukraine 100 -

Tikkurila Polska S.A. Debica Poland 100 100

Tikkurila s.r.o. Prague Czech Republic 100 100

Tikkurila Slovakia s.r.o. Martin Slovakia 100 100

Alcro-Beckers AB Stockholm Sweden 100 100

Färgglädje Måleributiken i Alvik AB Bromma Sweden 100 -

Tikkurila Norge A/S Oslo Norway 100 -

Tikkurila Danmark A/S Brönby Denmark 100 -

Pigrol Farben GmbH Ansbach Germany 100 -

Tikkurila Romania s.r.l. Pantelimon City Rumania 100 100

Subsidiaries City of domicile Country of domicile
Tikkurila Group’s 

ownership and 
voting shares %

Parent  
company’s  

ownership and 
voting shares %

2009

AS Tikkurila Tallinn Estonia 100 100

UAB Tikkurila Vilnius Lithuania 100 100

OOO Tikkurila St. Petersburg Russia 100 100

Tikkurila Kft Budapest Hungary 100 100 

SIA Tikkurila Riga Latvia 100 100

Tikkurila Coatings Sp.z.o.o. Debica Poland 100 100

Tikkurila Coatings AB 3) Stockholm Sweden 100 100

Tikkurila Coatings B.V. Rozenburg The Netherlands 100 100

Tikkurila Coatings (Ireland) Ltd Cork Ireland 100 100

OOO Tikkurila Coatings St. Petersburg Russia 100 100

Tikkurila (Beijing) Paints Co. Ltd Peking Republic of China 100 100

Dickursby Holding AB Stockholm Sweden 100 100

OOO Gamma Industrial Coatings St. Petersburg Russia 100 -

OOO Tikkurila Powder Coatings St. Petersburg Russia 100 -

IP Tikkurila Minsk Belarus 100 100

TOO Tikkurila Alma-Ata Kazakhstan 100 100

TOV Tikkurila Kiev Ukraine 100 100

Isanta LLC Kiev Ukraine 100 -

Tikkurila Polska S.A. Debica Poland 100 100
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40. Changes in Group structure 
Changes in Group structure during 2010

Former name: New name:

Tikkurila Coatings AB Tikkurila AB

BNH Nya Hembutikerna AB Happy Homes i Sverige AB*)

*) Associate

Changes in company names:

Joint ventures City of domicile Country of domicile
Tikkurila Group’s 

ownership and 
voting shares %

Parent  
company’s  

ownership and 
voting shares %

2010

Alcro Parti AB Stockholm Sweden 50.0 -

2009

Alcro Parti AB Stockholm Sweden 50.0 -

Associates City of domicile Country of domicile
Tikkurila Group’s 

ownership and 
voting shares %

Parent  
company’s  

ownership and 
voting shares %

2010

Happy Homes i Sverige AB*) Stockholm Sweden 45.1 -

2009

BNH Nya Hembutikerna AB Stockholm Sweden 45.1 -

PPHU Polifarb sp.z.o.o. Gliwice Poland 20.4 -

Subsidiaries City of domicile Country of domicile
Tikkurila Group’s 

ownership and 
voting shares %

Parent  
company’s  

ownership and 
voting shares %

Tikkurila s.r.o. Prague Czech Republic 100 100

Tikkurila Slovakia s.r.o. Martin Slovakia 100 100

Alcro-Beckers AB Stockholm Sweden 100 100

Färgglädje Måleributiken i Alvik AB Bromma Sweden 100 -

Tikkurila Norge A/S Oslo Norway 100 -

Tikkurila Danmark A/S Brönby Denmark 100 -

Pigrol Farben GmbH Ansbach Germany 100 -

Tikkurila Romania s.r.l. Pantelimon City Rumania 100 100

1) Company is in liquidation process.
2) Assets and liabilities of the company are classified as held for sale.
3) During the year 2010, name was changed to Tikkurila AB.

*) Former BNH Nya Hembutikerna AB

No disposals or acquisitions of Group companies occured in 2010.
Tikkurila Coatings (Ireland) Ltd was dissolved in September 2010.
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Establisher / acquirer Established /  
acquired company

Domicile of 
established /  
acquired  
company

Date of 
establishment / 
acquisition

Tikkurila Group’s 
ownership and 
voting shares %  
after acquisition

Parent company’s 
ownership and 
voting shares % 
after acquisition

Tikkurila Oyj Acquired Tikkurila JUB s.r.l. Rumania September 2009 100 100

Tikkurila Oyj Acquired Dickursby Holding AB Sweden May 2009 100 100

Dickursby Holding AB Acquired OOO Tikkurila Powder Coatings Russia May 2009 100 -

Dickursby Holding AB Acquired OOO Gamma Industrial Coatings Russia May 2009 100 -

Changes in the Group structure during 2009

Acquisitions of Group companies and established new subsidiaries:

No disposals, liquidations or merging of Group companies occured in 2009.

Former name: New name:

AS Tikkurila-Vivacolor AS Tikkurila

UAB Tikkurila-Vivacolor UAB Tikkurila

SIA Tikkurila-Vivacolor SIA Tikkurila

Tikkurila JUB s.r.l. Tikkurila Romania s.r.l.

Changes in company names:

41. Events after the end of reporting period
Tikkurila Group sold all the shares in OOO Tikkurila Powder Coatings, 
a Russian subsidiary, to Teknos Group Oy in December 2010. Tikkuri-
la divested its industrial powder coatings business, because it is not 
a part of Tikkurila’s core business. After the transaction, Tikkurila has 
no powder coatings related operations. The revenue of OOO Tikku-
rila Powder Coatings was EUR 2.4 million in 2010, and the comp-

any employed some 50 people. The transaction was completed on 
January 26, 2011.

Tikkurila Oyj decided to make an additional prepayment of EUR 
20.0 million of its long-term pension loan (TyEL-loan). This decision 
was made in January 2011.
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Tikkurila Oyj Income statement (FAS)
(EUR thousand) Note Jan 1–Dec 31, 2010 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2009

Revenue 2 204,790 198,299

Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 4 -194 -3,584

Other operating income 3 102 7

Materials and services 4 -97,971 -88,645

Personnel expenses 5 -46,903 -44,736

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 7 -6,546 -6,343

Other operating expenses 4,6 -32,622 -33,917

Operating profit 20,656 21,081

Financial income and expenses 8 4,196 -1,376

Profit before extraordinary items 24,851 19,705

Profit before appropriations and taxes 24,851 19,705

Appropriations 7,9 1,057 -650

Income tax 10 -4,796 -3,589

Net profit for the period 21,112 15,466

(EUR thousand) Note Dec 31, 2010 Dec 31, 2009

Assets

Non-current assets 11

Intangible assets 5,426 6,838

Tangible assets 26,399 29,385

Investments

Holdings in Group companies 183,898 190,462

Other shares and holdings 642 642

Total investments 184,539 191,103

Total non-current assets 216,364 227,327

Current assets

Inventories 12 25,706 26,312

Non-current receivables 13 12,291 1,338

Current receivables 13 48,413 27,934

Tikkurila Oyj Balance sheet (FAS)
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(EUR thousand) Note Dec 31, 2010 Dec 31, 2009

Cash and cash equivalents 59,352 9

Total current assets 145,762 55,592

Total assets 362,126 282,919

Equity and liabilities

Equity 14

Share capital 35,000 35,000

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 40,000 40,000

Retained earnings 49,967 34,501

Net profit for the period 21,112 15,466

Total equity 146,079 124,967

Appropriations 15 9,675 10,732

Provisions 16 182 182

Liabilities 17

Non-current liabilities 140,000 105,240

Current liabilities 66,190 41,798

Total liabilities 206,190 147,038

Total equity and liabilities 362,126 282,919

Tikkurila Oyj Cash flow (FAS)
(EUR thousand) Jan 1–Dec 31, 2010 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2009

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before extraordinary items 24,851 19,705

Adjustments to operating result:

Unrealized exchange gains and losses 801 -51

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 6,546 6,343

Interest income and other financial income -3,358 -79

Interest expenses and other financial expenses 6,811 7,028

Dividend income -17,142 -5,524

Other adjustments 72 402

Write-down of non-current assets 8,000 -

Other financial items 692 2

Total funds from operating activities before change in net working capital 27,274 27,825

Change in net working capital

Change in inventories 606 5,335

Change in current receivables 3,091 2,929

Change in non-interest-bearing current liabilities 3,183 -2,242

Change in net working capital, total 6,880 6,023



118 tikkurila 2010  |  parent company financial statements

(EUR thousand) Jan 1–Dec 31, 2010 Jan 1–Dec 31, 2009

Interest and other financial expenses paid -5,335 -9,268

Interest and other financial income received 1,640 73

Income taxes paid -8,625 164

Dividends received 17,082 5,464

Total cash flow from operating activities 38,916 30,280

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of tangible and intangible assets -2,151 -2,070

Investments in Group companies -1,456 -5,611

Acquisition of other shares - -10

Proceeds from sales of other shares - 13

Change in non-current loan receivables increase (-), decrease (+) -31,190 -926

Proceeds from sales of tangible and intangible assets 4 31

Dividends received 60 60

Net cash used in investing activities -34,733 -8,513

Cash flow before financing 4,182 21,767

Cash flow from financing activities
Acquisition of own shares -72 -

Change in non-current loans increase (+), decrease (-) 34,760 -15,000

Change in current financing increase (+), decrease (-) 20,473 -1,173

Group contribution - -12,300

Net cash used in financing activities 55,161 -28,473

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 59,344 -6,706

Cash and cash equivalents at Dec 31 59,352 9

Cash and cash equivalents at Jan 1 9 6,715

Change in cash and cash equivalents 59,344 -6,706



119tikkurila 2010  |  notes to parent company financial statements

1. Summary of significant accounting policies - Tikkurila oyj

Tikkurila Oyj is a Finnish public limited company which share is listed 
on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki since March 26, 2010 when the company’s 
parent company at the time, Kemira Oyj distributed Tikkurila’s shares 
as dividend to Kemira Oyj’s shareholders. Tikkurila Oyj domiciled in 
Vantaa and the registered address is Kuninkaalantie 1, FI-01300 Vantaa, 
Finland. Tikkurila Oyj is the parent company of Tikkurila Group. 

Tikkurila Oyj’s financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the Finnish Accounting Act and Ordinance and the Finnish 
Limited Liability Companies’ Act.

Foreign currency transactions
In the day-to-day accounting, Tikkurila Oyj translates foreign cur-
rency transactions into its functional currency at the exchange rates 
quoted on the transaction date. In preparation of financial state-
ments monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cur-
rencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange 
rate at the end of the reporting period. 

Exchange differences arising from trade receivables are accounted 
for as adjustments to sales and those arising from trade payables to 
purchases. Exchange rate differences arising from financing transac-
tions are accounted for in financial income and expenses.

Financial assets, financial liabilities and derivatives
Financial assets and financial liabilities except derivatives are measured 
at amortized cost, less any impairment losses. Derivative agreements 
are recgonised at fair value.  Fair values changes are presented in fi-
nancing items.

The principles for accounting and valuing methods have been 
stated in consolidated accounting policies.

Commercial papers are measured at fair value.

Revenue recognition
Revenue includes the total invoicing value of products sold and ser-
vices rendered less, as adjusting items, sales tax, discounts, rebates 
and foreign exchange differences from trade receivable.

Income taxes
Tax expense in income statement comprises current tax of the 
company calculated on the taxable profit for the period deter-
mined in accordance with the local tax rules, final taxes from previ-
ous years and the change in deferred taxes. 

Non-current assets and  
depreciation and amortization
Non-current asset are recognized in the balance sheet at historical 
cost less cumulative depreciation, amortization and impairments.

Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-
line method based on the assets’ estimated useful lives of the origi-
nal cost.

Depreciation periods:
•	buildings and constructions 10–25 years
•	machinery and equipment  3–15 years
•	 intangible assets   5–10 years

Accumulated appropriations include accumulated depreciation 
difference between depreciations for tax purposes and deprecia-
tions according to plan. In balance sheet this is presented under ap-
propriations in equity and liabilities.

Inventories
Tikkurila Oyj’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realizable value. Inventory cost is determined using the first-in, 
first-out (FIFO) method or the weighted average cost method. The 
FIFO method is applied to company produced products and it is 
presented in the Notes under “Finished goods”. The cost of finished 
goods comprises direct costs, production costs and related appro-
priate production and supply overheads and production and sup-
ply related non-current assets’ depreciations and amortizations ac-
cording to plan and insurance expenses.

Research and development costs
Research and development costs have been expensed. Develop-
ment expenses have not been capitalized because they do not ful-
fill the activating requirements. The future economical benefits of 
new or improved products can be realized only so late stage that 
amount to be activated would be immaterial and therefore no acti-
vating has been done.

Lease
Leases have been accounted for rent expenses. Unpaid leasing pay-
ments have been stated in contingent liabilities in financial state-
ments.

2. Revenue
2010 2009

Revenue by geographical segment, % of total revenue % %

Finland 52 54

Other EU countries 23 23

Other Europe 23 21

Other countries 2 2

Revenue by geographical segment, total 100 100
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3. Other operating income
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Gains on sale of non-current assets 2 1

Other income from operations 100 6

Other operating income, total 102 7

4. Other operating expenses
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress -194 -3,584

Materials and services

Materials and supplies

Purchases during the financial year -96,593 -86,033

Change in inventories of materials and supplies -498 -1,751

External services -880 -860

Total materials and services -97,971 -88,645

Personnel expenses -46,903 -44,736

Rents -1,553 -1,649

Loss on sales of non-current assets -2 -220

Other expenses -31,067 -32,049

Total other operating expenses -177,690 -170,883

5. Personnel expenses and number of personnel
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Wages and salaries -37,074 -35,080

Pension expenses -7,674 -6,883

Other personnel expenses -2,155 -2,772

Total personnel expenses -46,903 -44,736

Management remunerations and emoluments

Members of the Board of Directors and CEO -837 -700

The CEO’s period of notice is 6 months. In the event the company would give notice to the CEO, he will receive an additional remuneration 
equaling 12 months’ salary. The CEO has the right to terminate his employment with 6 month’s period of notice.

The age of retirement for the CEO is 63 years.  CEO has a supplementary pension insurance. The pension remuneration for the CEO is 65 
percent of the pension salary.

Remuneration of CEO
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Fixed salary (fringe benefits included) -450 -510

Bonuses -120 -

Total -570 -510

Supplementary pension payments -53 -50
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Loans to related parties
No related parties held loans from the Company in 2010 or in 2009.

Number of personnel 2010 2009

Average number of staff 423 445

Average number of employees 377 394

Personnel (average) 800 839

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Jari Paasikivi -74 -40

Petteri Walldén -49 -35

Harri Kerminen, until February 8, 2010 - -

Pia Rundengren -51 -38

Eeva Ahdekivi -45 -35

Ove Mattsson -47 -41

Total -266 -190

6. Auditor’s fees
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

KPMG Oy Ab, Authorized Public Accountants

Audit fees -124 -63

Tax consultancy -2 -19

Other fees -308 -87

Auditing fees, total -434 -169

7. Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Depreciation and amortization according to plan

Intangible asset

Goodwill -1,133 -995

Other capitalized expenditure -975 -844

Tangible assets

Buildings and structures -1,765 -1,759

Machinery and equipment -2,648 -2,719

Other tangible assets -25 -25

Total depreciation and amortization -6,546 -6,343

Change in depreciation difference

Other capitalized expenditure 477 -445

Buildings and structures 813 827

Machinery and equipment -258 -1,057

Other tangible assets 25 25

Total 1,057 -650

There were no impairments included in depreciations in year 2010, neither in year 2009.

Remuneration of members of Board of Directors
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8. Financial income and expenses
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Financial income

Dividend income

Dividend income from Group companies 17,082 5,464

Dividend income from others 60 60

Total dividend income 17,142 5,524

Interest income

Interest income from non-current investments from others 8 10

Interest income from current investments from Group companies 2,514 66

Interest income from current investments from others 836 3

Total interest income 3,358 79

Other financial income

Other financial income from Group companies 80 -

Total other financial income 80 -

Exchange gains

Exchange gains from Group companies 2,207 49

Exchange gains from others 4,587 -

Total exchange gains 6,794 49

Total financial income 27,374 5,653

Write-down of non-current investments

From holdings in Group companies -8,000 -

Total write-down of non-current investments -8,000 -

Financial expenses

Interest expenses

Interest expenses to Group companies -795 -6,645

Interest expenses to others -6,017 -383

Total interest expenses -6,811 -7,028

Other financial expenses

 Other financial expenses to others -1,098 -1

Other financial expenses, total -1,098 -1

Exchange losses

Exchange losses to Group companies -1,738 -

Exchange losses to others -5,532 -

Total exchange loss -7,269 -

Total financial expenses -15,178 -7,029

Total financial income and expenses 4,196 -1,376

Exchange gains and losses

Realized 326 -2

Unrealized -801 51

Total exchange gains and losses -475 49
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9. Change in appropriations
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Change in depreciation difference 1,057 650

Change in appropriations, total 1,057 650

10. Income taxes
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Income tax for current year -4,538 -3,640

Income tax for previous year -250 11

Change in deferred taxes -8 40

Total income taxes -4,796 -3,589

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Goodwill

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 10,291 10,291

Acquisition cost at year end 10,291 10,291

Accumulated amortization at beginning of year -7,271 -6,276

Amortization during the financial year -1,133 -995

Accumulated amortization at year end -8,404 -7,271

Carrying amount at year end 1,887 3,020

Other capitalized expenditure

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 7,915 7,486

Increase 768 435

Decrease - -6

Acquisition cost at year end 8,683 7,915

Accumulated amortization at beginning of year -4,427 -3,584

Accumulated amortization related to decrease - 2

Amortization during the financial year -975 -844

Accumulated amortization at year end -5,401 -4,426

Carrying amount at year end 3,282 3,489

Advance payments and assets under construction

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 329 597

Change during the year -72 -268

Carrying amount at year end 257 329

Total intangible assets 5,426 6,838

11. Non-current assets
Intangible assets
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Advance payments and assets under construction

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 271 2,158

Change during the year -106 -1,886

Carrying amount at year end 165 271

Total tangible assets 26,399 29,385

Tangible assets

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Land and water

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 2,020 2,020

Acquisition cost at year end 2,020 2,020

Buildings and constructions

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 33,899 33,702

Increase 340 197

Decrease -15 -

Acquisition cost at year end 34,225 33,899

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year -23,189 -21,429

Accumulated depreciation related to decrease 11 -

Depreciation during the financial year -1,765 -1,759

Accumulated depreciation at year end -24,942 -23,188

Carrying amount at year end 9,282 10,711

Machinery and equipment

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 51,290 48,090

Increase 1,222 3,592

Decrease - -392

Acquisition cost at year end 52,511 51,290

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year -35,168 -32,595

Accumulated depreciation related to decrease - 146

Depreciation during the financial year -2,648 -2,719

Accumulated depreciation at year end -37,816 -35,168

Carrying amount at year end 14,695 16,122

Other tangible assets 2010 2009

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 1,094 1,094

Acquisition cost at year end 1,094 1,094

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year -833 -807

Depreciation during the financial year -25 -25

Accumulated depreciation at year end -858 -833

Carrying amount at year end 236 261

The carrying amount of production machinery and equipment was EUR 10,422 thousand (EUR 12,173 thousand). 
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(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Holdings in Group companies

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 190,462 184,664

Increase 1,456 5,611

Transfer from holdings in associates - 200

Decrease -8,020 -13

Carrying amount at year end 183,898 190,462

Holdings in associates

Acquisition cost at beginning of year - 200

Transfer to holdings in Group companies - -200

Carrying amount at year end - -

Other shares and holdings

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 642 632

Increase - 10

Carrying amount at year end 642 642

Total investments 184,539 191,103

Investments

12. Inventories
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Materials and supplies 9,653 10,151

Work in progress 607 364

Finished goods 15,360 15,797

Advance payments 86 -

Total inventories 25,706 26,312

13. Receivables

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Non-current receivables

Non-current interest-bearing receivables

Loan receivables from Group companies 10,558 -

Loan receivables from others 151 177

Total non-current interest-bearing receivables 10,709 177

Non-current interest-free receivables

Loan receivables from Group companies 1,511 1,082

Total non-current interest-free receivables 1,511 1,082

Deferred tax assets 71 79

Total non-current receivables 12,291 1,338
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(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Current receivables

Current interest-bearing receivables

Current interest-bearing receivables from others 1,217 1,596

Current interest-bearing receivables from Group companies 20,338 910

Total current interest-bearing receivables 21,555 2,506

Current interest-free receivables

Loan receivables from others 100 100

Other current receivables from others 12 13

Trade receivables

Trade receivables from Group companies 10,386 11,372

Trade receivables from others 10,355 12,314

Total trade receivables 20,741 23,686

Deferred expenses and accrued income

Deferred expenses and accrued income from Group companies 559 435

Deferred expenses from others 5,445 1,194

Total deferred expenses and accrued income 6,004 1,629

Total current interest-free receivables 26,858 25,428

Total current receivables 48,413 27,934

Total receivables 60,704 29,272

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Deferred expenses and accrued income

Interest income 182 8

Derivatives 1,544 -

Income taxes 816 -

Insurances 234 242

Others 3,229 1,379

Total deferred expenses and accrued income 6,004 1,629

14. Equity
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Share capital at January 1 35,000 35,000

Share capital at December 31 35,000 35,000

Total restricted equity 35,000 35,000

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity at January 1*) 40,000 -

Increase - 40,000

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity at December 31 40,000 40,000
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*) Reserve for invested unrestricted equity can be distributed as repayment of capital. It cannot be distributed as dividends.

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Retained earnings at January 1 49,967 34,501

Retained earnings at December 31 49,967 34,501

Net profit for the period 21,112 15,466

Retained earnings and net profit for the period at December 31 71,079 49,967

Total unrestricted equity 111,079 89,967

Total equity at December 31 146,079 124,967

Distributable funds at December 31

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 40,000 40,000

Retained earnings 49,967 34,501

Net profit  for the financial year 21,112 15,466

Distributable funds 111,079 89,967

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Depreciation difference

Accumulated depreciation difference per asset

Buildings and structures -1,041 -106

Machinery and equipment 8,328 7,947

Other tangible assets 119 144

Other capitalized expenditure 2,270 2,747

Total accumulated depreciation difference 9,675 10,732

Change in depreciation difference

Depreciation difference at January 1 10,732 10,082

Change in depreciation difference in income statement -1,057 650

Depreciation difference at December 31 9,675 10,732

15. Appropriations

16. Provisions
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Other provisions 182 182
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17.  Liabilities
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Non-current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 100,000 -

Loans from pension institutions 40,000 -

Other non-current liabilities to Group companies - 105,240

Total non-current liabilities 140,000 105,240

Maturity of non-current liabilities

Maturity

2012 (2011) 5,000 93,054

2013 (2012) 110,000 12,186

2014 (2013) 10,000 -

2015 (2014) 10,000 -

2016 (2015) 5,000 -

Total non-current liabilities 140,000 105,240

The company has no debentures or other bond loans.

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Current liabilities

Current interest-bearing liabilities

Other interest-bearing liabilities

Other interest-bearing liabilities to Group companies 21,223 1,126

Other interest-bearing liabilities to others 6,341 5,966

Total other interest-bearing liabilities 27,564 7,092

Total current interest-bearing liabilities 27,564 7,092

Current interest-free liabilities

Trade payables

Trade payables to Group companies 374 343

Trade payables to others 13,263 13,966

Total trade payables 13,637 14,309

Accrued expenses and deferred income

to Group companies 111 77

to others 23,679 18,856

Total accrued expenses and deferred income 23,789 18,933

Other interest-free liabilities to others 1,199 1,464

Total interest-free liabilities 38,625 34,706

Total current liabilities 66,190 41,798
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(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Accrued expenses and deferred income

Personnel expenses 9,163 7,637

Related to sales 6,498 5,111

Interest 1,593 34

Income taxes 262 3,282

Derivatives 2,213 -

Other 4,060 2,869

Total accrued expenses and deferred income 23,789 18,933

18. Contingent liabilities
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Lease liabilities

Maturity within one year 1,040 1,096

Maturity later than one year 1,240 996

Total lease liabilities 2,280 2,092

(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Loans secured with mortgages 

Loans from pension institutions 40,000 -

Mortgages given 53,000 -

Guarantees  

On behalf of Group companies 21,029 207,000 *)

*)  Year 2009, include guarantee given on behalf of Tikkurila Group companies to former parent company Kemira Oyj, total EUR 200 million.

19. Derivative instruments
(EUR thousand) 2010 2009

Fair value Nominal value Fair value Nominal value

Currency derivatives

Currency forwards 119,834 -706 - -

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 20,000 36 - -

In year 2009, Tikkurila Oyj was part of Kemira Group. Treasury functions were in former parent company Kemira Oyj.
Tikkurila Oyj had no derivative contracts in year 2009.
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Shares and shareholders 

Shares and share capital  
The former parent company of Tikkurila, Kemira Oyj, distributed 
shares in Tikkurila Oyj to its shareholders as dividend in March 2010, 
and trading of Tikkurila Oyj’s shares began on NASDAQ OMX Helsin-
ki Ltd on March 26, 2010. At the end of 2010, Tikkurila’s share capital 
was EUR 35.0 million, from a total of 44,108,252 registered shares. Tik-
kurila has one share series, and each share entitles its holder to one 
vote at the General Meeting and to an equal amount of dividend. 
Tikkurila’s shares are registered in the Finnish book-entry system. At 
the end of 2010, Tikkurila held no treasury shares.

Board authorizations  
Tikkurila’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) was held on February 8, 
2010, and Tikkurila Oyj’s Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) on 
March 4, 2010. The EGM authorized the Board to decide on the re-
purchase of a maximum of 4,410,825 treasury shares (“Repurchase 
authorization”). The repurchase authorization is valid until April 30, 
2011.

Shares will be repurchased by using unrestricted equity, either 
through a direct offer with equal terms to all shareholders at a price 
determined by the Board of Directors, or otherwise than in pro-
portion to the existing shareholdings of the company’s sharehold-
ers in public trading on the Helsinki Stock Exchange at the market 
price quoted at the time of the repurchase. Shares will be acquired 
and paid for in accordance with the Rules of the Helsinki Stock Ex-
change and Euroclear Finland Ltd. The price paid for the shares re-
purchased through a tender offer under the authorization shall be 
based on the market price of the company’s shares in public trad-
ing. The minimum price to be paid would be the lowest market 
price of the share quoted in public trading during the authorization 
period, and the maximum price would be the highest market price 
quoted during the authorization period. 

Shares may be repurchased to be used in implementing or fi-
nancing mergers and acquisitions, developing the company’s capi-
tal structure, improving the liquidity of the company’s shares or to 
be used for the payment of the annual fee payable to the members 
of the Board of Directors or implementing the Company’s share-
based incentive plans. In order to realize the aforementioned pur-
poses, the shares acquired may be retained, transferred further or 
cancelled by the company. 

The EGM authorized the Board to decide on the transfer of a 
maximum of 4,410,825 treasury shares (“Share issue authorization”). 
The share issue authorization is valid until April 30, 2011.

The company’s own shares held by the company may be trans-
ferred either for consideration or without consideration. 

The company’s own shares held by the company may be trans-
ferred to the company’s shareholders by not applying the share-
holders’ pre-emption right, through a directed share issue, if the 
company has a weighty financial reason to do so, such as financing 
or implementing mergers and acquisitions, developing the capital 
structure of the company, improving the liquidity of the company’s 
shares or if this is justified for the payment of the annual fee pay-
able to the members of the Board of Directors or implementing 
the company’s share-based incentive plans. The directed share is-
sue may be carried out without consideration only in connection 
with the payment of the annual fee payable to the members of 

the Board of Directors or implementation of the company’s share-
based incentive plan. The amount payable upon the transfer of 
treasury shares shall be recognized under reserve for invested unre-
stricted equity.

 Tikkurila’s Extraordinary General Meeting ("EGM"), held on March 
4, 2010, authorized the Tikkurila Board of Directors of to decide on 
the repurchase of a maximum of 4,410,825 treasury shares (“Re-
purchase authorization”). Based on this authorization, the Tikkurila 
Board of Directors decided on its meeting held on April 28, 2010, 
to acquire own shares and to grant those shares in order to effect 
the payment of Board members’ fees. The annual fee of the Board 
is paid as a combination of the Company’s shares and cash in such 
a manner that 40 percent of the annual fee is paid with the Com-
pany’s shares purchased from the market, and 60 percent is paid in 
cash. Based on these decisions, the Company purchased 4,639 of 
its own shares from the market on May 10, 2010. The average price 
of the purchased shares was EUR 15.52 per share, and the total cost 
was EUR 71,983.77. The shares were transferred to the members of 
the Board by May 19, 2010. 

On December 31, 2010, the amount of unused authorization was 
4,406,186 shares. 

 
Market capitalization and trading  
At the end of 2010, the closing price for the Tikkurila share was EUR 
16.51. The volume-weighted average share price for the review period 
(for the trading period Mar 26–Dec 31) was EUR 15.56, the highest price 
being EUR 16.95, and the lowest EUR 14.17. At the end of 2010, the mar-
ket value of Tikkurila’s shares, valued at the closing price, was EUR 728.2 
million. During January–December 2010 (Mar 26–Dec 31), a total of 
close to 23.6 million Tikkurila shares, which is about 53.5 percent of the 
registered amount of shares, were traded on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki 
Ltd, and the value of the traded volume was EUR 367.5 million.

Holdings of Tikkurila’s Board of Directors  
and Management Board  
Tikkurila Board members and their interest parties held altogeth-
er 44,406 shares on December 31, 2010, which is 0.1 percent of the 
share capital and votes in Tikkurila. Jari Paasikivi, the Chairman of 
the Tikkurila Board, acts as the President and CEO in Oras Invest Oy, 
which is the single largest shareholder in Tikkurila. 

The Tikkurila Management Board and their interest parties held 
altogether 4,899 shares on December 31, 2010, which is 0.01 percent 
of the share capital and votes. Up-to-date information concerning 
the holdings of Tikkurila public insiders is available on  
www.tikkurilagroup.com/fi/corporate_governance.

 
Dividend policy  
According to Tikkurila’s dividend policy, Tikkurila aims to distribute 
a dividend of at least 40 percent of its annual operative net income. 
Operative net income means net profit for the period excluding 
non-recurring items and adjusted for tax effects.

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting 
to be held on March 31, 2011 that a dividend of EUR 0.70 per share 
will be distributed for the year ended on December 31, 2010. The 
proposed dividend corresponds to about 84 percent of the Group’s 
2010 earnings per share. 
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Shareholders  
According to Euroclear Finland Oy’s register, Tikkurila had a total of 
25,806 shareholders on December 31, 2010, the largest single share-
holder being Oras Invest Oy with 18.1 percent. A list of the largest 
shareholders is updated regularly on Tikkurila’s website at  
www.tikkurilagroup.com. 

The most significant change in the ownership structure of Tikkurila 
took place in November 2010, when Solidium Oy sold its holding in 
Tikkurila (14.7% of the total amount of shares and votes in Tikkurila). 

Flagging notifications for Tikkurila’s shareholders in 2010  
Oras Invest Oy announced on November 25, 2010 that its holding 
in Tikkurila shares exceeded the 3/20 (15%) threshold due to trades 
made on November 25, 2010. The holding amounted to 7,383,404 
shares, which corresponded to 16.7 percent of the total amount of 
shares and votes in Tikkurila Oyj. 

Solidium Oy announced on November 25, 2010 that its holding 
in Tikkurila shares fell below 1/10 (10%) and 1/20 (5%) threshold. The 
holding amounted to 0 shares, corresponding 0.0 percent of the to-
tal amount of shares and votes in Tikkurila Oyj. 

Tikkurila’s largest shareholders on December 31, 2010 

Number of 
shares and 

votes

% of share  
capital and  

voting rights

1 Oras Invest Oy 7,969,552 18.1

2 Kemira Oyj 6,175,155 14.0

3 Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 4,160,823 9.4

4 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 3,796,459 8.6 

5 Mandatum Life Insurance Company Ltd. 1,373,675 3.1

6 Tapiola Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1,273,906 2.9

7 Nordea Nordic Small Cap Fund 744,032 1.7

8 Alfred Berg Mutual Fund 484,516 1.1

9 The State Pension Fund 445,778 1.0

10 Kaleva Mutual Insurance Company 400,584 0.9

10 largest registered shareholders total  26,824,480 60.8

Nominee registered shares 3,803,349 8.6

Other shares  13,480,423 30.6

Total 44,108,252 100.0

Breakdown of share ownership on December 31, 2010 

Number of shares Shareholders % of shareholders Total number of shares and votes % of share capital and voting rights

1–100 12,803 49.6 594,234 1.4

101–1,000 11,556 44.8 3,620,537 8.2

1,001–10,000 1,304 5.1 3,346,840 7.6

10,001–100,000 114 0.4 3,478,708 7.9

100,001–1,000,000 21 0.1 4,770,712 10.8

over 1,000,000 8 0.0 28,297,221 64.2

Total 25,806 100.0 44,108,252 100.0

Breakdown by shareholder category  
on December 31, 2010

Private companies 37.7%

Financial and insurance institutions 10.2%

Public sector organizations 24.2%

Households 14.9%

Non-profit organizations 3.4%

Foreigners and Nominee registered 9.5%
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Per share data 2010 2009 2008

Earnings per share, EUR 1) 0.83 0.63 0.83

Dividend per share, EUR 2) 0.70 - 0.45

Dividend  payout ratio, % 2) 84.5 - 54.4

Dividend yield,  % 2) 4.2 - -

Equity attributable to owners of the parent per share, EUR 1) 4.31 3.26 1.96

Weighted average number of shares (1000) 44,108 44,108 44,108

Number of shares at the end of period (1000) 44,108 44,108 44,108

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 190,038 143,863 86,593

Price per earnings per share (P/E) ratio 19.9

Share price, end of period, EUR 16.51

Share price, year high, EUR 16.95

Share price, year low, EUR 14.17

Share price, volume-weighted year average, EUR 15.56

Market capitalization at the end of period, EUR million 728.2

1) Due to comparability key ratios year 2009, 2008 are calculated as per the number of shares (44,108, 252) after the February 17, 2010 registered free share issue. 

2) The dividend 2010 is Board of Directors’ proposal to Annual General Meeting on March 31, 2011

Formulas for calculation of share-related key figures are on page 63.
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Board of Directors’ proposal for the distribution of profits

The distributable funds of Tikkurila Oyj, the parent of Tikkurila 
Group, are EUR 111,079,370.42  of which EUR 21,112,404.46 represents 
the net profit for the financial year. 

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meet-
ing that EUR 0.70 per share be distributed as dividend from the net 
profit for the year and from retained earnings. The total dividend 

Petteri Walldén
Vice Chairman of the Board

Eeva Ahdekivi
Member of the Board

Erkki Järvinen
CEO

Vantaa, February 10, 2011

Jari Paasikivi
Chairman of the Board

Ove Mattsson
Member of the Board

Pia Rudengren
Member of the Board

would amount to EUR 30,875,776.40. EUR 80,203,594.02 would be left 
in distributable funds.

The financial position of the company has not materially 
changed after the end of the financial year, and it is the Board of 
Directors’ opinion, that the proposed distribution of funds does 
not compromise the company’s liquidity.
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Auditors’ Report

To the Annual General Meeting of Tikkurila Oyj
We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, 
the report of the Board of Directors, and the administration of Tik-
kurila Oyj for the year ended December 31, 2010. The financial state-
ments comprise the consolidated statement of financial position, 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity, statement of cash flows and notes to the consolidated fi-
nancial statements, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, 
income statement, cash flow statement and notes to the financial 
statements.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors  
and the President and CEO
The Board of Directors and the President and CEO are responsible 
for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for the prepa-
ration of financial statements and the report of the Board of Direc-
tors that give a true and fair view in accordance with the laws and 
regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements 
and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The Board of Di-
rectors is responsible for the appropriate arrangement of the con-
trol of the company’s accounts and finances, and the President and 
CEO shall see to it that the accounts of the company are in compli-
ance with the law and that its financial affairs have been arranged 
in a reliable manner.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial state-
ments, on the consolidated financial statements and on the report 
of the Board of Directors based on our audit. The Auditing Act re-
quires that we comply with the requirements of professional ethics. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice 
in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors are 
free from material misstatement, and whether the members of the 
Board of Directors of the parent company and the President and 
CEO are guilty of an act or negligence which may result in liability in 
damages towards the company or have violated the Limited Liabil-
ity Companies Act or the articles of association of the company.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evi-
dence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments and the report of the Board of Directors. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers in-
ternal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial state-
ments and report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin-
ion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting poli-
cies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion on the consolidated financial statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and 
cash flows of the group in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

Opinion on the company’s financial statements  
and the report of the Board of Directors
In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board 
of Directors give a true and fair view of both the consolidated and the 
parent company’s financial performance and financial position in ac-
cordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation 
of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in 
Finland. The information in the report of the Board of Directors is con-
sistent with the information in the financial statements.

Vantaa, February 10, 2011 
KPMG OY AB
Pekka Pajamo
Authorized Public Accountant
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